
A NEXT-GEN 
ECOSYSTEM 
PROMISING 
HIGH FUTURE 
POTENTIAL
With a history dating back to 1998, we are a 
pioneering value investor taking firm steps 
towards a brighter future with our sustainability 
strategy driven by technology and innovation.

We focus on fintech companies throughout 
the world that develop innovative products and 
services with a competitive edge. Accordingly, 
we have built a broad ecosystem, growing it on 
a daily basis and bringing a fresh perspective 
into the world of finance and investment. 

Our investments in this ecosystem start to 
reap high returns. To pursue ambitious visions 
and goals, we transform the ecosystem 
into a scalable structure, create value for all 
stakeholders, and refine it with our extensive 
know-how. 
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Vision
Our pioneering philosophy is to 
create value.
As a company that adopts 
the pioneering philosophy 
of creating value and brings 
the same perspective to its 
investments, our top priority is to 
establish companies that can be 
scaled abroad and successfully 
move forward through the 
value creation chain up to 
public offering, and to invest 
in companies which already 
demonstrate this potential. 

Through our investments and the 
value we add to the companies 
we invest in, we are relentlessly 
moving toward our vision of 
achieving $1.5 billion in market 
value by 2026.
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Implementation 
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Next Generation 
Marketing and 
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Brand and 
Corporate 

Collaboration 
Planning and 
Organization

Support for 
Accessing New 
Connections, 

Networks
Total number of 

companies in the 
ecosystem

COMPANIES
132

Total number of 
employees in the 

ecosystem

EMPLOYEES
1,542  

Inveo’s direct 
investments

COMPANIES
17

Inveo’s total market 
value

BILLION (TL)
7.4   

Boğaziçi 
Ventures

Finfree

Yancep 

BiStock

Fintech 
GYSF

Our Value 
Creation Chain

Mission
Our mission is to 
create value for 
our stakeholders 
by developing a 
sustainable ecosystem 
that is competitive in 
both domestic and 
international markets 
and representing 
Türkiye abroad through 
our investments.

hiVC

Key Financial and Operational Indicators
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CONSISTENT 
VALUE GROWTH IN 
OUR INVESTMENT 

PORTFOLIO
With more than 30 years of experience 

in capital markets, we invest in promising 
companies with strong potential, while 
adding value to businesses through our 

knowledge and capital. In parallel, we are 
consistently expanding the value of our 

portfolio and taking firm 
steps into the future.



PROOF OF OUR 
CONFIDENCE IN 

CAPITAL MARKETS:  
GEDİK YATIRIM

We increased the percentage of shares we 
hold in Gedik Yatırım, which ranks first in 

the number of branches and second in the 
number of employees across the sector. In 
line with our confidence in capital markets, 
we raised the percentage of our shares in 

Gedik Yatırım to 84.87% from 43.04%.



THE INNOVATIVE 
FACE OF INVESTMENT 

BANKING: MİSYON
We completed the preparations and submitted 
an application to the Banking Regulation and 
Supervision Agency (BRSA) for an operating 
license for Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş., which 

was established in 2021 with a capital of TL 300 
million. Following the application’s approval, 

Misyon Yatırım Bankası obtained its operating 
license and began operations to add  

value to our national economy. 



A NOVEL APPROACH  
TO THE VENTURE 

CAPITAL ECOSYSTEM:  
INVEO VENTURES

We provide guidance and funding to 
promising ventures to enable them to achieve 
key goals. Accordingly, we established Inveo 
Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. with capital of TL 65 million to invest in 
companies that offer the potential to create 

synergies with Inveo Yatırım  
Holding’s subsidiaries and affiliates.
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As a company 
that adopts 
the pioneering 
philosophy of 
creating value and 
brings the same 
perspective to its 
investments, Inveo 
is flexible enough to 
invest in companies 
at any stage across 
a wide range of 
sectors.

Inveo is a next generation value investor whose main 
strategy is to invest in the right value at the right time.

INVESTMENT IN THE 
RIGHT VALUE AT THE 
RIGHT TIME

A Brief 
Overview of 
Inveo Yatırım 
Holding

Inveo Yatırım Holding (Inveo) had started 
its operations originally under the name of 
Gedik Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. in March 1998, 
and then received the status of investment 
holding in 2014. As per the decision taken at 
the General Assembly held on 10.09.2020, 
the title of the Company has been changed 
to “Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş.” Having been 
traded at Borsa Istanbul under the symbol 
code GYHOL up until September 30, 2020, 
Inveo is currently traded under the symbol 
code INVEO.

Inveo is a next generation value investor 
whose main strategy is to invest in the right 
value at the right time. Its main goals in-
clude establishing new companies in areas 
with development potential or partnering 
with companies operating in such areas, 
and maximizing the value of these com-
panies by making financial and intellectual 
capital available for use.

Shareholding structure of Inveo is as follows:

 Share Percentage (%) Share Amount (TL)

Erhan Topaç (Group A)(*) 0.10 240,000

Erhan Topaç (Group B) 81.42 195,417,602

Other Shareholders 18.48 44,342,398

Total 100.00 240,000,000

(*) Each of the Group A shares has 15 (fifteen) votes in the election of the Members of the Board of Directors.

Inveo, with its diversified fields of activity 
and 30+ years of experience in these fields, 
is reshaping the future by adhering to its tra-
ditions. Its investment strategy is based on, 
regardless of the sector, taking right invest-
ment decision at the right time and exiting 
the investment at the right time in growing 
markets and other potential growth mar-
kets.

As a company that adopts the pioneering 
philosophy of creating value and brings 
the same perspective to its investments, In-
veo’s top priority is to establish companies 
that can be scaled abroad and successfully 
move forward through the value creation 
chain up to public offering, and to invest 
in companies which already demonstrate 
this potential. It has the flexibility to make 
investments in companies from different 
sectors, at various investment stages and 
milestones.

SUMMARY

Direct Investment

17

CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

Share in Capital 
(%)

Erhan Topaç 
(Group B)

81.42%

Erhan Topaç 
(Group A)
0.10%

Other 
Shareholders
18.48%81.52% of the shares 

of Inveo belongs to 
Erhan Topaç.

Share Price Increase 
(2021)

Share Price Increase
(2020)

91%475%

Share Price Increase 
(2022)

180%

2022 Year-End 
Market Value

TL BILLION
7.4

INVEO SHARE PERFORMANCE & COMPARISON WITH KEY INDICES
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HISTORY

1998
Foundation

1999
IPO of 
Gedik 
Yatırım 
Ortaklığı 
A.Ş.

2014
Transformation 
to Gedik 
Yatırım Holding

2015
Became a 
Shareholder 
in Gedik 
Yatırım Menkul 
Değerler 
A.Ş., and 
Gedik Girişim 
Sermayesi 
Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. Was 
Established

2020 
Next Generation Value 
Investor
Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. 
 
New Initiatives in the Field of 
Venture Capital 
Boğaziçi Ventures 
hiVC 
 
Entry into International 
Capital Markets 
Finveo UK 
Finveo MN 
 
Publishing
Novel Scala

2021
Entry into the Banking Sector: 
Misyon Yatırım Bankası 
Establishment Permission
 
Capital Markets 
Inveo Portföy 
 
Technology
Detaysoft 
 
Shared Mobility
HOP 
 
Media Technologies
Aposto

2022 
Banking:   
Operating Permit for 
Misyon Yatırım Bankası

Ongoing Investments in 
Capital Markets  
Percentage of Shares Held 
in Gedik Yatırım: 84.87% 
 
Structural Transformation in 
the Field of Venture Capital  
Inveo Ventures 
 
Initial Investment in the 
Field of Crypto Assets and 
Decentralized Finance  
Ichain Yatırım Holding

2018
Creation of 
StartersHub

2019
StartersHub 
Exit in Line 
with the 
Right Time 
Right Value 
Policy

PREPARATION AND TRANSFORMATION
Innovation and Technology Vision in the Story Beginning 
with Capital Markets...

We made investments and also performed successful exits in diversified sectors 
such as renewable energy, agriculture and food, financial services, and capital 
markets.

A critical step was taken by establishing the “StartersHub” organization, 
which is focused on providing consulting services, and investing in, 
startups operating in the field of innovation and technology, as well 
as financial and capital markets.

DEVELOPMENT
Outstanding and Continuously Improving Outcomes  
in 3 Years Following the Birth of Inveo...

In 2020, the INVEO brand emerged as a next generation value investor 
with extensive experience in growth and successful exits in StartersHub, 
and a strong desire for profitable growth in all areas of operation, 
by making best use of the developments in technology and 
startup ecosystems around the world.

INVESTMENTS, 
NEW COMPANIES 

AND ONWARDS 
STRONG 

GROWTH WILL 
CONTINUE...

Inveo has continued to grow with the right investments and 
the right strategies since the day it was founded.

SUCCESSFUL RESULTS 
FROM PAST TO PRESENT

A Brief 
Overview of 
Inveo Yatırım 
Holding
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Inveo focuses on sustainable value creation and builds its investment strategy on the prin-
ciples of “right time,” “right value” and “right exit.” Based on this understanding, we prioritize 
investments that have the potential to improve and expand the ecosystem.

Inveo is a next generation value investor with the flexibility to invest across sectors and at 
different investment stages and milestones. We support promising founders and compa-
nies by investing knowledge and capital in future-oriented startups and organizations, with 
a focus on fast-growing, scalable and innovative startups. We also combine innovation with 
greater collaboration, synergy, adaptive financial strategies and entrepreneurship.

ECOSYSTEM

We grow by sharing
Inveo builds structures that enable its stakeholders to gain value at decision-making stages 
and aims to grow by sharing success with its stakeholders. Experience and knowledge shar-
ing at Inveo plays a crucial role in the development of its ecosystem. For this reason, Inveo 
prioritizes investing in those startups and companies that aim to compete at a global level 
and operate in areas which could help create synergies with other subsidiaries of Inveo. 

We create synergies
Inveo attaches great importance to the synergies created with all stakeholders in its eco-
system, which is structured to enable all parts of the ecosystem to directly add value to one 
another. Inveo aims to make even greater contribution to the Turkish economy by creating 
an ecosystem that is self-sufficient with the investments, partners in investments and all 
other companies established by its business partners. It continuously expands its ecosystem 
with diversified investments and pioneering initiatives, and keeps on creating value through 
its synergetic operation management and performance tracking culture for a sustainable 
future.

INVEO also aims to 
create a value chain 
in the ecosystem it 
has built.

Long-term Financial 
Investments

TL BILLION
3.9

Indirect Investment

115

Inveo aims to grow by 
sharing success with 
its stakeholders.

Inveo focuses on fast-growing, scalable and innovative startups, 
and supports promising founders and businesses, thus investing 
knowledge and capital in forward-thinking startups and 
organizations.

NEXT GENERATION 
VALUE INVESTOR

OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Inveo develops 
its ecosystem by 
establishing new 

companies in areas 
with development 

potential or by 
discovering and 

investing in existing 
initiatives in such 

areas.

Inveo shares its 
analyses and 

experience with 
national and 

international venture 
capital and technology 

companies that 
create high value, 

makes investments 
together with them, 

and becomes a 
shareholder in them.

Inveo works with 
leading institutions 
and organizations 
in their respective 

fields, creating 
synergies and value.

Our Investments Our Investment 
Partners

Our Business 
Partners

CORE VALUES OF INVEO ECOSYSTEM

Inveo has adopted 
sound core values 
which enable it to 
focus its capital, 

knowledge, 
and experience 
on a common 

strategic goal in 
its investment 

decisions.

Inveo’s ecosystem 
offers operational 

efficiency thanks to 
synergies created by 

the culture of working 
together.

Inveo embraces a 
collaborative work 

culture that is aimed 
at achieving growth 
and development 
through quick and 
dynamic response 

mechanisms.

Companies that are 
capable of triggering a 
transformation in their 
respective sector with 
their scalable business 
models and using and/
or developing state-of-

the-art technologies 
get on the investment 

radar of Inveo.

Inveo’s goal is to 
ensure sustainable 

and scalable growth 
by increasing 

its support and 
commitment to 
its stakeholders 
included in the 

ecosystem through 
investments made 
at the right time.

With its strong 
collaborations and 
extensive network, 

Inveo aims to ensure 
that all stakeholders 
in its ecosystem can 
reach their potential, 

and sustain the 
synergies created 

through sharing and 
growth.

Strategy

Operational 
Efficiency

Work Culture

Innovation and 
Transformation

Sustainable and 
Scalable Growth

Growth through 
Sharing and Synergies

A Brief 
Overview of 
Inveo Yatırım 
Holding
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INVEOFEST 
2022

An integrative and unifying gathering with the 
ecosystem  
Inveo and the companies comprising its ecosystem met 
against the splendid backdrop of Beykoz Kundura on 
September 3, 2022 to share the transformation of INVEO, a 
next generation value investor with 30 years of experience 
in capital markets, and to celebrate the Group’s success 
and experience this pride together. INVEO’s most 
important asset is, of course, its companies and the teams 
that make up its ecosystem…

To mark our success, we held the first-ever INVEOFEST 
this year, which we intend to set as an annual event, and 
gathered to celebrate our achievements together. On this 
meaningful day, our entire team enjoyed an unforgettable 
time with surprises and exciting competitions, while 
Deeprise and Cabbar turned the night into a musical feast.

Participants: Inveo Yatırım Holding, Gedik Yatırım, Misyon 
Yatırım Bankası, Inveo Ventures, Inveo Portföy, Marbaş 
Menkul Değerler, HOP Teknoloji, Finfree, Boğaziçi Ventures, 
Finveo UK, Finveo MN, Scala Yayıncılık, Detaysoft, BiStock-
Finar, Yancep, Appcent, Aposto

Location: Beykoz Kundura, İstanbul

Date: September 3, 2022

Inveo Annual Report 2022

Introduction

16
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2022 Targets & Realizations

Realization
Proudly representing Türkiye and Inveo in foreign mar-
kets, Finveo expanded its activities in Montenegro in 
2022 and took significant steps to launch activities in the 
UK. Montenegro-based Finveo MN serves investors from 
more than 50 countries. UK-based Finveo UK is finalizing 
the process to obtain a brokerage house license with an 
extensive scope.

Target
Finveo World Brand 
to Operate in New 
Markets

Realization
The number of funds being managed has reached 41, inc-
luding 12 hedge funds, three mutual funds, and six ventu-
re capital investment funds that were established in 2022. 
Also in 2022, the Company launched its first Pension Fund 
in cooperation with Fiba Emeklilik, which it established for 
the benefit of Inveo group employees. As part of the co-
operation with the Yancep startup, thematic funds were 
issued for the first time. The Company also issued arbit-
rage funds and obtained permission to establish the first 
real estate investment fund for the Nefes Assos Project.

Target
New Fund Options 
To Be Offered at 
Inveo Portföy

Realization
In 2022, hiVC made seven new investments, while hiBoost 
made four new investments. Since its establishment, hiVC 
has provided TL 25 million worth of funds to 21 investments 
in total. The preparation process continues for the public 
offering of hiVC, which must take place within three years 
in accordance with the legislation.

Target
Investments in hiVC 
Will Be Continued, 
and Preparations for 
a Public Offering Will 
Begin

Realization
Inveo Ventures was established in 2022 to concentrate 
on startups in Türkiye that develop sound, innovative, and 
state-of-the-art technologies. It made its first-ever invest-
ment by providing TL 35 million in financing to the shared 
mobility startup HOP in the bridge round. Thanks to this 
support, HOP has increased the number of vehicles in its 
portfolio fivefold and began to offer services in Monte-
negro. HOP is also continuing preparations to expand its 
services to other countries.

Target
Investment 
in Innovative 
Companies with 
Inveo Ventures

Realization
Inveo continues to invest in venture capital, with 17 direct 
investments and 115 indirect investments. The company 
has invested in 21 startups through his hiVC and hiBoost, 
which focus on early-stage investments, as well as 21 
startups through BV Growth and 4 startups through Fin-
tech Fund. Inveo has made capital-raising investments 
in Misyon Yatırım Bankası and Gedik Yatırım; and has es-
tablished Ichain Yatırım Holding, a parent company that 
invests in crypto assets and decentralized finance.

Target
The Inveo 
Ecosystem Will 
Continue to 
Grow with New 
Companies

Realization
Misyon Yatırım Bankası, continuing its activities in accor-
dance with the strategy of becoming a pioneering bank 
via a business model focused on the new economy and 
highly sought after in Türkiye, filed an application to the 
BRSA on June 9, 2022 for an operating permit. Misyon Ya-
tırım Bankası, with a paid-in capital of TL 500 million, rece-
ived its operating permit on December 16, 2022.

Target
Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası Will Begin 
Operations

Realization
As a reflection of its confidence in the capital markets, In-
veo Yatırım Holding increased its share in Gedik Yatırım. 
As a result of the acquisition of the Gedik Yatırım shares 
owned by Hakkı Gedik and Erhan Topaç by Inveo Yatırım 
Holding, Inveo Yatırım Holding’s percentage of shares in 
Gedik Yatırım rose to 84.87% from 43.04%.

Target
Our Share in 
Gedik Yatırım Will 
Increase

Realization
Ichain Yatırım Holding was established with a starting ca-
pital of TL 10 million to produce technologies, enter into 
collaborations, make investments, and establish teams 
and companies in the field of crypto assets and decent-
ralized finance.

Target
Entry into the 
Crypto World
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Dear Stakeholders, 

The world welcomed 2022 with hopes 
of healing the wounds caused by near-
ly two years of pandemic conditions. The 
first quarter of the year, however, marked 
the start of the Russia-Ukraine war and its 
subsequent humanitarian and economic 
impacts. In addition, the high inflationary 
environment stemming from elevated en-
ergy and commodity prices brought further 
uncertainty to the global economy. As many 
countries experienced the highest inflation 
levels in their history, investment and risk 
appetite shrank, economic activity visibly 
slowed, and hard landing expectations for 
the future rose, as the central banks of de-
veloped countries accelerated monetary 
tightening to ensure price stability. 

High inflation continues to stand out as 
the most important problem in Türkiye, as 
in the rest of the world. Unlike developed 
countries, we see that Türkiye is not follow-
ing the solution of the policy rate hikes and 
monetary tightening, and that policymakers 
have actively intervened in the free market 
economy in an attempt to limit the adverse 

We believe, and have confidence, in the 
future of capital markets
We believe that the capital markets will be 
among the top growth drivers in the future 
of our country. The markets gained much 
attention and interest due to the extraor-
dinary developments in global and local 
economic markets. The number of inves-
tors – the majority of whom are young in-
vestors – in the stock exchange expanded 
rapidly; the stock exchange appeared to be 
the only viable option for investors seeking 
a respectable return on their savings, due to 
various factors such as the depreciation of 
the local currency amid high inflation, a lack 
of movement in foreign exchange rates, a 
slowdown in the precious metals and cryp-
to asset markets, and low deposit interest 
rates. With this rising demand, the Borsa Is-
tanbul soared, breaking record after record. 
Moreover, these record-breaking develop-
ments in the Borsa Istanbul took place at a 
time when the share of foreign investors in 
the stock markets had fallen below 30% – 
the lowest levels in its history. 

As Inveo Yatırım Holding, we anticipate that 
the capital markets will maintain their rapid 
growth in the upcoming period. According-
ly, in 2022, we expanded the percentage of 
our share in Gedik Yatırım, the leading bro-
kerage firm in the Turkish capital markets, 
to 84.87%. During the year, we participated 
in the paid-up capital increase performed 
by the Company for the purpose of further 
strengthening its equity. As per its vision 
of leadership in the sector, Gedik Yatırım 
will continue to invest in technology and 
human resources, and to contribute to the 

country’s economy and capital markets 
with its growing investor base.

We continue to extend our activities at an 
international level. With Finveo, we carried 
our knowledge and experience in the field 
of capital markets and portfolio manage-
ment abroad. Our companies incorporated 
in the United Kingdom and Montenegro 
continued to amplify the international in-
fluence of our brand in 2022 through their 
excellent service delivery capabilities. In the 
next period, we will accelerate efforts to ex-
pand the geography where we operate in 
order to engage with a larger investor base, 
offering experience and services that make 
a difference.

Making the breakthroughs that will 
carry us into the future, one by one
In 2022, reinforced by the innovative and 
entrepreneurial spirit embedded in our com-
pany’s DNA, we took significant steps in our 
corporate journey in order to contribute to 
financing the investments needed by our 
country. Operating permit for Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası has been approved by the BRSA. We 
believe that we will be game-changers in the 
field of financial services in Türkiye, guided 
by technology as well as the unique and pi-
oneering business model that we built from 
the perspective of an ecosystem bank.

Recognizing the transformative power of 
crypto-assets, decentralized finance and 
blockchain technology in the global market, 
we took the first step and established Ichain 
Yatırım Holding to invest and establish a 
company in this field.

effects of inflation. Aiming for growth along 
a different model, as expressed by the 
country’s economy managers, the Turkish 
economy focused on production, employ-
ment and exports, and continued growing 
throughout 2022. However, in addition to 
slowing domestic and foreign demand in 
accordance with global economic condi-
tions, the deterioration in the current ac-
count balance began to negatively affect 
growth dynamics from the second half of 
the year onwards. 

As Inveo Yatırım Holding, we continued in-
vesting in our areas of operation in 2022, 
despite highly intense and adverse develop-
ments in global and local economic activity 
during the year. We took critical financial 
and administrative steps to ensure effective 
management, and reviewed merger possi-
bilities. We achieve sustainable economic, 
social and environmental outcomes that 
contributed to the national economy via the 
increasing revenues and added value gen-
erated by the companies in our ecosystem. 
As a proactively managed global company 
that channels its gains back into the Turkish 
economy, we are taking firm steps towards 
the future. 

We continue to 
invest and create 
added value across 
all our areas of 
operation. Just as we 
believe in the future 
of capital markets, 
we also believe that 
opportunities in new 
fields of activity will 
shape our future.

Total Investments

USD MILLION
114.9

As Inveo Yatırım 
Holding, our 
purpose is to 
achieve sustainable 
economic, social 
and environmental 
outcomes in Türkiye 
by amplifying the 
added value that our 
investments create 
for the national 
economy.

Assessment 
from the Chair  
of the Board

WE CREATE ADDED VALUE 
AND SHAPE THE FUTURE
In 2022, reinforced by the innovative and entrepreneurial 
spirit embedded in our DNA, we took significant steps in our 
corporate journey 
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Total Assets

TL BILLION
4.3

The value that we create within the 
entrepreneurship ecosystem will 
continue to rise.
Despite increasing capital costs, the Turk-
ish entrepreneurship ecosystem continues 
to make a remarkable impression in the 
global economic landscape each day. Our 
achievements, attained despite negative 
global and local macroeconomic outlooks 
and a cautious investment environment, 
demonstrate that, as a country, we have es-
tablished a solid footing and vision on the 
venture capital side.

As Inveo, as we do in our other fields of op-
eration, we consistently nurture the entre-
preneurial ecosystem through deploying 
our financial and intellectual capital, armed 
with our philosophy of “creating next gener-
ation value”. Each passing day, we see syn-
ergies produced via the ideas, labor and val-
ue created by each of our subsidiaries yield 
successful results in the Inveo ecosystem. 
With this understanding, we focus on in-
vesting in companies that have a high com-
petitive potential, the ability to create and 
develop next generation technologies, and 
that support sustainable living. While estab-
lishing Inveo Ventures during the reporting 
period, we aimed to help the startups and 
companies that we expect to shape the fu-
ture grow their value propositions. As Inveo, 
we will continue our investments, commit-
ted to transforming obstacles into opportu-
nities. 

We will continue to amplify awareness 
of the Inveo brand
As Inveo, the main pillar supporting our 
strategies includes creating common value 
for all stakeholders within our large sphere 
of influence. In light of this vision, and of the 
values that have united us since our estab-
lishment and that differentiate us from our 
competitors, we will continue to advance at 
full pace supported by our innovative ideas 
and investments. 

In 2023, as we celebrate the 100th anniver-
sary of our Republic, we will continue, as 
Inveo Yatırım Holding, to work with great 
enthusiasm and provide value by effectively 
deploying all our resources to contribute to 
the goal of bringing our country to the lev-
el of modern civilization via the path envi-
sioned by the Great Leader, Mustafa Kemal 
Atatürk. 

I would like to express my gratitude to all 
our esteemed stakeholders, shareholders, 
business partners, Board Members, manag-
ers and employees who have accompanied 
and continue to accompany us on this long 
and fruitful journey.

Best regards,

ERHAN TOPAÇ
Chair of the Board of Directors

As Inveo, as we do 
in our other fields 
of operation, we 
consistently nurture 
the entrepreneurial 
ecosystem through 
deploying our 
financial and 
intellectual capital, 
armed with our 
philosophy of 
“creating next-
generation value”. 

Assessment 
from the Chair 
of the Board

In parallel with the new economic order and with globalization at 
the forefront, we will adhere to our investment strategy, focusing 
on investing in startups and ventures based on next generation 
technologies and innovation, as well as those ventures with potential to 
make a difference in these areas.

WE ARE BUILDING AN 
ECOSYSTEM THAT WILL MAKE 
AN INTERNATIONAL IMPACT
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Erhan TOPAÇ
Chair of the Board 

Born in 1953, Erhan Topaç completed his master’s degree at Boğaziçi University 
Department of Mechanical Engineering and doctorate studies in Mathematical 
Modeling at the Department of Industrial Engineering of the same university. 
Having held various positions in Eczacıbaşı Holding between the years of 1979-
1989, Topaç served as Marketing Director at Pepsi Cola between the years of 
1989-1990. Erhan Topaç served as Vice Chair of the Turkish Capital Markets 
Association from 2001 to 2003, Chair of the Board at HUB Girişim Sermayesi 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. from 2006 to 2015, and the Chair of the Board at Gedik 
Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. from 2008 to 2015. He fulfilled the following roles and 
functions: Board Member at Borsa Istanbul A.Ş. and Chair of the Turkish Capital 
Markets Association from 2018 to 2019; Deputy Chair of the Turkish Capital 
Markets Association from 2019 to 2021; Member of the Board of Trustees at Ge-
dik University from 2010 to 2021; Chair of the Board at Marbaş Menkul Değerler 
A.Ş. from 2004 to 2022, and Chair of the Board at Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değer-
ler A.Ş. from 1991 to 2022. 

Erhan Topaç has been the Chair of the Board at Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. since 
its establishment in 1998, and he is also the Chair of the Board at Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası A.Ş.

Demet ÖZDEMİR
Board Member 

Born in Ankara in 1969, Demet Özdemir completed her undergraduate educa-
tion at Middle East Technical University Business Administration after Ankara 
Atatürk Anatolian High School and completed her master’s degree in Interna-
tional Finance at the London School of Economics in 1993. Özdemir, who spent 
the last 15 years of her 30-year career starting with Arthur Andersen Audit De-
partment and continuing with EY (Ernst&Young) Corporate Finance, provided 
merger, acquisition, public offering, restructuring and financial consultancy 
services to nearly one thousand domestic and international companies during 
this period. Demet Özdemir is actively working on gender equality and empow-
erment of women in business life and has served as an Advisory Board Member 
at EY Global Women in Business, as a Management Committee Member of EY 
Women Fast Forward and Women3 Forum, and also as the EMEIA Leader who 
implemented the EY Entrepreneurial Winning Women (EWW) Program. 

Demet Özdemir, who resigned from her role at EY at the beginning of 2021, 
is currently serving as a Board Member at Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş., Osmanlı 
Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., Sun Tekstil A.Ş., and the British Turkish Chamber 
of Commerce, and as an Independent Board Member at Gelecek Varlık Yöneti-
mi A.Ş., Çelebi Hava Servisi A.Ş. ve Akenerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş.

Onur TOPAÇ
Vice Chair of the Board and General Manager

Born in Istanbul in 1990, Onur Topaç graduated from the Austrian High School, was 
awarded a Bachelor of Engineering degree in the Department of Industrial Engineer-
ing at Koç University in 2013, and then completed his master’s degree in the Depart-
ment of Financial Engineering at Özyeğin University. Beginning his finance career 
at Gedik Yatırım in 2008, Onur Topaç took part in the establishment of the Banking 
Department in 2013. Topaç, the pioneer of technological transformation, served as 
the General Manager and Chair of the Board, respectively, at HUB Girişim Sermayesi 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. from 2015 to 2020, and he was also Deputy Chair of the Board 
at Marbaş Menkul Değerler A.Ş. from 2015 to 2019. 

Serving as the Deputy Chair of the Board and General Manager at Inveo Yatırım 
Holding A.Ş., Mr. Topaç is also the Chair of the Board and CEO of Gedik Yatırım 
Menkul Değerler A.Ş., Vice Chair of the Board at Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş., Chair 
of the Board at hiVC Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., Board Member at Inveo 
Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., Chair of the Board at Ichain Yatırım 
Holding A.Ş., Chair of the Board at Inveo Araç Kiralama Hizmetleri A.Ş., and a Board 
Member Acting on Behalf of Juridicial Person at BV Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışman-
lık ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri A.Ş.

Bora ORUÇ
Board Member 

He graduated from Middle East Technical University, Department of Econom-
ics in 1999. Bora Oruç, who started to work at the Capital Markets Board in 
the same year, served as the Vice President of Capital Markets Board between 
April 2014 and November 2020, responsible for the development, regulation, 
supervision, issue and registration processes and activities of publicly traded 
companies, capital market instrument issuances, investment institutions, in-
stitutional investors and financial infrastructure institutions, and relations with 
international financial institutions. Bora Oruç, who served as a member of the 
G20 Financial Stability Board Regulatory Cooperation Standing Committee be-
tween October 2017 and November 2020, earned his MBA degree from the 
Cambridge University Judge Business School in 2009.

Bora Oruç currently serves as a Managing Partner at OMG Danışmanlık A.Ş., 
Partner and Deputy Chair of the Board at Gri Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş., Partner at 
İnova Deri ve Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş., and as an Independent Board Member at Elip-
tik Yazılım ve Ticaret A.Ş. and İş Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Board of Directors
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Rüya ESER
Independent Board Member 

After graduating from Istanbul University, Faculty of Economics, Rüya Eser received 
her post graduate degree by completing the Social Sciences Institute Business Fi-
nance Program at the same university, and also completed the post graduate pro-
gram on Money Banking and Finance at the University of Birmingham in the UK. Then 
she received her PhD from Yıldız Technical University, Institute of Social Sciences, De-
partment of Economics. Eser started her career at T. Vakıflar Bankası as an assistant 
financial analyst in 1985, then worked in the Capital Markets Board as a specialist and 
chief expert in research and audit departments from 1987 to 2013.

She worked as Quality Control and Corporate Governance Director at an independent 
audit company from 2013 to 2017. She also served as an independent member of the 
Board of Directors at the Turkish Capital Markets Association between 2016 and 2018. 
She has articles published in peer-reviewed journals and book chapters on capital 
markets, independent auditing, and complexity economics, as well as papers pre-
sented and published at national and international scientific meetings. Currently, she 
gives lectures on capital markets and risk analysis in the undergraduate program as 
a part-time lecturer at Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University, Department of Statistics and 
the Money and Capital Markets graduate program at Kültür University. Additionally, 
she holds a SMMM license, independent auditor certificate, and other various licenses 
issued by the Capital Markets Licensing and Training Company, and is also a member 
of the Independent Audit Companies Association and the Turkish Economic Associ-
ation. Rüya Eser is currently an Independent Board Member at Inveo Yatırım Holding 
A.Ş., Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., and Kartonsan Karton Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.

Ülkü Feyyaz TAKTAK
Independent Board Member 

Ülkü Feyyaz Taktak, born in 1952, graduated from Şişli Terakki High School and 
completed his undergraduate education at Boğaziçi University in 1975 and 
post-graduate education at the Department of Mechanical Engineering in the 
same university in 1979. He worked as a Project Engineer at Tekfen İnşaat İmalat 
ve Mühendislik in 1979; Project Engineer at Türkiye Şişecam Fabrikaları between 
1983-1985, Wage Management Director and Manpower Planning Director at İk-
tisat Bank between 1985-1987, Personnel Manager at Anadolu Bank and Per-
sonnel Manager and Human Resources Planning Manager and Consultant to 
the General Manager at Emlak Bank between 1987-1989, Personnel Manager at 
Marmara Management Financial Services between 1989-1990, Administrative 
Affairs Coordinator at Veb Holding between 1990-1991, and Human Resources 
Department Director and Human Resources Assistant General Manager re-
spectively at Yapı Kredi between 1991-2014.

Ülkü Feyyaz Taktak served as the Human Resources Director, Coordinator and 
Group President at Eczacıbaşı Holding between 2004 and 2017, and retired 
from this position in 2017. He has been an Independent Board Member at Ge-
dik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. since 2018. Ülkü Feyyaz Taktak also serves as 
a Board Member at MESS Education Foundation and Marbaş Menkul Değerler 
A.Ş., and is an Independent Board Member at Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş.

Board of Directors
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Equity

Net Profit

Equity Growth

TL BILLION

TL BILLION

3.2

1.97

175%
Esteemed Stakeholders, 

At the end of 2022, we left behind a remark-
ably difficult year. It was a year of elevated 
risks and uncertainties at both the national 
and global levels. As you may recall, during 
the pandemic period, we observed unusually 
high prices on a general level due to a com-
bination of direct government assistance 
provided to individuals and companies, loose 
monetary policies across the globe, and in-
creased liquidity and supply problems. The 
Russia-Ukraine war, which commenced in 
early 2022, emerged as a serious threat to a 
global economy still reeling from stagnation. 
The war drove deepening problems in glob-
al supply chains and caused historical price 
peaks, particularly in food and energy prices. 
While the inflationary economic environment 
had a profound impact on developed global 
economies, Türkiye was also exposed to high 
inflation rates of up to 80% after nearly two 
decades of relatively low inflation resulting 
from growth-oriented economic policies and 
a low interest-oriented monetary policy. 

Yatırım Bankası will continue to operate, in-
vest, and develop sustainable collaborations 
in line with its founding purpose of expand-
ing financial inclusion and contributing to our 
country’s development through innovative fi-
nancing.

Gedik Yatırım continues to provide value 
to our country across every field through 
its innovative perspective
2022 was also the year that strengthened 
our belief in the future of capital markets. A 
clear indication was that our investment was 
on the right track. Interest in capital market 
instruments has increased dramatically as 
savings become more important due to the 
highly inflationary environment, and the lim-
ited ways to earn a decent return on savings. 
In Borsa Istanbul, the number of investors ap-
proached 4 million with 1.5 million new inves-
tors joining the stock exchange. As Inveo, we 
are very pleased to strengthen our position 
as a major shareholder of Gedik Yatırım, in-
creasing our stake to 84.87% in 2022. Further-
more, we reaffirmed our confidence in Gedik 
Yatırım and the future of the capital markets 
by participating in the company’s paid capital 
increase this year.

Backed by the positive developments in the 
sector, Gedik Yatırım continued its growth 
journey with the vision of gaining leadership 
across every field in which it operates. Gedik 
Yatırım, which manages over TL 42 billion in 
financial assets for more than 188 thousand 
investors, opened three new branches as part 
of its personalized service model, “Private”, 
which was developed for upper segment 
investors, and extended the total number of 
service points to 47. Making a difference with 

Annual Net Profit 
Increase

503%

Despite the developments that made 2022 
a challenging year in Türkiye and worldwide, 
Inveo maintained its healthy and sustainable 
growth journey, thanks to the Company’s 
long-term vision, robust strategies, and agile 
business models.

Our results support our sustainable 
growth
In 2022, from a financial and administrative 
perspective, we have made organizational 
changes to better and more efficiently man-
age our successful subsidiaries and affiliates 
in various fields of activity. In shaping our new 
organizational structure, we focused on max-
imizing the value we create for our stakehold-
ers within the Inveo ecosystem by enhancing 
synergy opportunities between companies. 
Accordingly, we closed the year with results 
that moved our potential into performance.

In 2022, we raised Inveo’s total assets to TL 

4.3 billion and its equity to TL 3.2 billion. By 
combining healthy growth with profitability, 
we achieved a net profit of TL 1.97 billion at 
the end of the period, representing a 503% 
increase compared to the previous year. At 
the end of the year, the number of compa-
nies within our ecosystem in which we have 
direct or indirect investments reached 132, 
and the amount of our long-term financial in-
vestments rose to 3.89 billion TL – an increase 
of 229% compared to the previous year. It is 
extremely promising that we achieved these 
successful results following 2021, a year de-
scribed as the Company’s formation year. As 
well, our stellar performance in 2022 moti-
vates us even further towards achieving our 
future objectives. 
 
Improving our value creation capability 
through collaborations
Last year, we rolled up our sleeves and es-
tablished Misyon Yatırım Bankası, which fo-
cuses on the “new economy”, in order to 
add investment banking to the key roles we 
have assumed in line with our value creation 
mission. As a group, investment banking 
had been part of our vision for many years. 
In 2022, in addition to submitting an appli-
cation to the BRSA for operating permit, we 
further strengthened our capital structure by 
raising the Company’s capital to TL 500 mil-
lion. Our efforts throughout the year to instill 
our understanding of the ecosystem within 
the shareholder structure of Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası also yielded results, and we shook 
hands with Papara, one of the leading elec-
tronic money and payment organizations in 
Türkiye. With this agreement, Papara became 
a minority shareholder holding less than 10% 
of the shares. In the following years, Misyon 

We aim to grow in 
the capital markets 
and to continue 
our banking 
and technology 
investments at full 
speed.

Assessment 
from the CEO AN INCLUSIVE AND VALUE 

CREATING ECOSYSTEM
In 2022, we implemented organizational changes to manage 
our subsidiaries and affiliates more efficiently from a financial 
and administrative perspective.
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nanced HOP, a shared mobility venture in-
cluded within Inveo Ventures, during the in-
terim financing round in 2022. The Company 
accelerated its growth journey by using the 
funds to expand its portfolio of vehicles, and 
took its first step abroad by starting to offer 
services in Montenegro, a market familiar to 
the Inveo ecosystem. Continuing its domes-
tic activities in 18 provinces across Türkiye, 
and international activities in cities in two dif-
ferent countries, HOP reached a total of one 
million registered users. 

Our subsidiary hiVC, which focuses on ear-
ly-stage startups, invested in 11 companies in 
2022 and provided TL 25 million in financing 
to these companies. In addition, investments 
conducted through the BV Growth fund es-
tablished by Boğaziçi Ventures – one of our 
venture capital subsidiaries – continued, 
while a total of 27 companies were included 
in the Inveo ecosystem. 

We aim to contribute to innovative financial 
technology ideas during their journeys via 
Fintech GSYF, in which Inveo Ventures is the 
main investor. In 2022, Fintech GSYF also pro-
vided financing support to the leading start-
ups in the sector as part of the open investing 
areas such as Finfree and BiStock, in which 
the Company invested for the first time in 
2021. In 2022, Fintech GSYF also invested in 
Yancep, a financial technology venture in the 
field of micro investment and micro savings. 
With integration projects planned for all the 
startups in our ecosystem, we aim to improve 
our value creation and transformation capa-
bilities by optimizing the power of innovation 
and digitalization.

Blockchain, crypto assets and decentralized 
finance are areas in which we have long 
followed developments and the markets at 
global and national levels. In 2022, we took 
the first step – one which we believe will 
strengthen the Inveo ecosystem and create 
synergies in this field – and we established 
Ichain Yatırım Holding to form collabora-
tions and investments in this high-potential 
space. Ichain is preparing to make its first 
investments in 2023.

The Inveo ecosystem continues to grow, 

Total Number of 
Employees in the 
Ecosystem

1,542

digital solutions developed in alignment with 
the needs of its investors, Gedik Yatırım has 
made it easier for investors to access capital 
markets, providing all investors with the op-
portunity to open an account from anywhere 
and at any time, without having to deal with 
paperwork or physically go to a branch. 

Although the number of public offerings on 
the Borsa Istanbul was lower compared to 
previous years, Gedik Yatırım led four out 
of 40 public offerings. While intermediating 
the public offering of Panelsan and Sanica 
Isı shares as the consortium leader, Suw-
en shares as the consortium co-leader, and 
Özsu shares as the IPO leader, the Compa-
ny reached an initial public offering sales 
amount of TL 1.6 billion, a significant success.

Gedik Yatırım becomes the main sponsor 
of Volleyball National Teams
In 2022, Gedik Yatırım again pioneered nu-
merous initiatives for the benefit of the pub-
lic. Under the agreement we signed with the 
Turkish Volleyball Federation, we are the main 
sponsor of the women’s and men’s Nation-
al Volleyball Teams for the next three years, 
with the aim of developing and spreading a 
culture of sports throughout our country, in-
creasing engagement with sport activities, 
and establishing a link between sports and 
the capital markets. We also organized inves-
tor seminars in many cities countrywide to 
improve financial literacy and awareness.

Driven by its aspiration to become the lead-

ing portfolio management firm, Inveo Portföy 
increased the total size of the funds man-
aged to TL 5.8 billion, an increase of 384% 
compared to the previous year. In addition to 
thematic funds added to its product portfolio 
for the first time in 2022, Inveo Portföy also 
diversified its product offerings with private 
hedge funds and venture capital investment 
funds established for qualified investors. The 
Company manages 41 funds in total.

We continue to onboard global investors by 
introducing them to our excellence in ser-
vice and experience in capital markets. In this 
context, we added countries in Latin Ameri-
ca, Southeast Asia and Africa to the geogra-
phies we aim to reach with the Finveo brand. 
Finveo UK, for which we applied for an FCA 
license in August, is expected to start its op-
erations in 2023 after receiving the license. 

We built an ecosystem that grows in its 
entirety
As the global new economic order is being 
built on next generation technologies and 
innovation, we embraced a unique organiza-
tional structure in order to reach distinguish-
ing initiatives on scale we couldn’t cover be-
fore. During that period, we established Inveo 
Ventures, which will serve as the brand face 
of our venture capital business line. We have 
positioned Inveo Ventures as the first point 
of contact in our investment processes for 
those startups that we believe can shape the 
future. 

Following our investments in 2021, we refi-

celebrating the 100th anniversary of our 
Republic
We anticipate an exciting year for the Com-
pany, in which we expect to reap the fruits of 
our investments. I would like to briefly discuss 
our plans: 
•	 By completing the work on its technologi-

cal infrastructure, Gedik Yatırım will be in 
a position to appeal to a wider spectrum 
of investors, with the capacity to provide 
faster and better customer-oriented, per-
sonalized services via all its service delivery 
channels,

•	 Finveo UK will commence operations, whi-
le the Finveo World global center installati-
on preparations will begin,

•	 Inveo Portföy will be active in new product 
development areas on the fund side and 
carry out new generation marketing activi-
ties; as well, by increasing the amount of 
funds under its management, Inveo Port-
föy will take firm steps towards its goal of 
ranking among the top 10 organizations by 
market share in the next three years,

•	 The IPO process will start for hiVC and De-
taysoft,

•	 Inveo Ventures will make new investments,
•	 Fintech companies’ applications will ex-

pand globally,
•	 Our synergetic integration projects will 

gain momentum as our companies coo-
perate with the leading institutions of the 
financial and capital markets.

The year 2023 has a special meaning for us, 
as it represents the 100th anniversary of the 
Republic of Türkiye. As Inveo Yatırım Holding, 
we will continue to work with great determi-
nation and perseverance to create value for 
our country in all our operating areas, guided 
by science and reason, the two most impor-
tant legacies left to our country by Mustafa 
Kemal Atatürk. 

I would like to thank all our stakeholders, who 
have always stood with us and share our con-
victions, and I wish them a healthy and happy 
year.

Best regards, 

ONUR TOPAÇ
Vice Chair of the Board and General 
Manager

Assessment 
from the CEO ONGOING GROWTH 

JOURNEY WITH 
LEADERSHIP VISION
In 2022, our confidence in the future of capital markets was 
reinforced and strong signals revealed that our investments in 
this direction were on the right track.

We are expanding 
our ecosystem with 
effective information 
and engagement 
flows.

The year 2023 
will be an exciting 
period for our 
Company – a year in 
which we expect to 
reap the fruits of our 
investments.

In the coming 
period as well, 
our synergetic 
integration projects 
will gain momentum 
as our companies 
cooperate with the 
leading institutions 
of the financial and 
capital markets.
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CAPITAL 
MARKETS

Our companies in the capital markets continued their 
uninterrupted growth throughout 2022 as well. 

GROWTH 
IN CAPITAL 
MARKETS 
PROCEEDS AT 
FULL PACE
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Vision of leadership in every area it 
operates in 
Since it was founded in 1991, Gedik Yatırım, 
which is the flagship of Inveo Yatırım Holding 
A.Ş., has been providing uninterrupted and 
high quality service to its large base of in-
vestors in domestic and international capital 
markets with its technological infrastructure, 
experienced and competent human resourc-
es, and extensive branch network, which is 
getting stronger with investments and col-
laborations. The shares of Gedik Yatırım, the 
most deeply-rooted investment organization 
in the Turkish capital markets aiming to be the 
leader in every area it operates, are traded at 
Borsa Istanbul with “GEDIK” symbol.

Gedik Yatırım, an organization that constant-
ly improves itself to provide its investors with 
the best investment experience, together 
with its highly-qualified human resources, in-
vestor-oriented range of products and servic-
es, and the power it derives from investments 
in innovation and technology, continues its 
activities with a leadership vision in every area 
in which it operates.

Gedik Yatırım continued its journey in line 
with its sustainable growth target during 2022 
which was a challenging operating period. At 
the end of the year, it reached an asset size 
of TL 9.4 billion and equity levels of TL 1,158 
million. The company achieved a 30.2% re-
turn on equity by reaching a consolidated net 
profit of TL 350 million TL, an increase of 46% 
compared to the same period of the previous 
year. Thanks to the unique and diversified 

2022 Performance 
Indicators

products and services it offers, as well as the 
trust and superior service quality it provides 
to investors, Gedik Yatırım manages more 
than TL 42 billion in financial assets of more 
than 188 thousand investors as of the end of 
the period.

Investment organization with the 
largest network of branches and human 
resources
Gedik Yatırım provides support to its investors 
when needed, and is the investment organ-
ization with the largest network of branches 
and human resources in the Turkish capital 
markets. The company put its İzmit, Gaziant-
ep and Yesilyurt Private branches into service 
in 2022, restructured its Bodrum and Bağdat 
branches as Private, and provides personal-
ized services through physical contact chan-
nels that it has deployed to 47 branches in 30 
provinces. Gedik Yatırım will continue to ex-
pand its network of branches under the brand 
of Gedik Yatırım Private, which represents the 
new service model that it launched last year 
for upper segment investors.

Gedik Yatırım, which has increased its num-
ber of employees by 27 people compared to 
the previous year, and reached 459 employ-
ees in total by the end of 2022, improves its 
competence and service capabilities on a 
daily basis with its young and dynamic human 
resources supported by continuous training. 
Standing out with its strong corporate cul-
ture and happy employees, Gedik Yatırım was 
included in the “Best Employers” list of the 
Great Place to Work Institute for the second 

459
Number of Employees

47
Branches

350 TL MILLION

Net Profit

Driven with its leadership vision in all areas of the capital markets, Gedik Yatırım 
strives to provide investors with the best investment experience with the most 

competent human resources and the best technological infrastructure in the sector. 
In 2022, a year when 1.5 million new investors flooded to the capital markets, the 

Company provided services to all investor segments through its innovative projects, 
collaborations and multi-channel strategy.

Total Investors

188 THOUSAND+

Shareholders’ Equity

1.2 TL BILLION

Market Value

3.7 TL BILLION

Public Offering Sales 
Amount

1.6 TL BILLION

Investor Assets

42 TL BILLION

Fields of Activity and Companies / Capital Markets

GEDİK YATIRIM GROWS 
WITH CONFIDENCE IN 
CAPITAL MARKETS
Gedik Yatırım provides support to its investors when needed, and is 
the investment organization with the largest network of branches and 
human resources in the Turkish capital markets.
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time after 2021. The company ranked among 
the top 5 in “250-499 Employee Category” in 
the list which contained 33 local and global 
companies.

Qualified product and service portfolio
Investment instruments have been contin-
uously diversified for 31 years with a wide 
range of products offered to domestic and 
foreign individual and institutional investors 
within the scope of traditional trading inter-
mediation services that include futures, fixed 
income securities and leverage trading, es-
pecially stock exchange transactions. Gedik 
Yatırım is also a market maker in leverage 
trading transactions.

Gedik Yatırım also provides investment con-
sultancy and portfolio management, corpo-
rate finance, intermediary services for portfo-
lios, asset management, corporate sales, and 
research services. Investors are provided with 
the opportunity to access and trade a wide 
variety of products in domestic and interna-
tional markets. With one of the most qualified 
teams in the industry in the field of interna-
tional markets, the company provides quali-
fied guidance and intermediation to investors 
for Forex Transactions, LME (London Metal 
Exchange), and foreign exchanges, as well as 
Eurobond products. 

Preferred company for public offerings 
Gedik Yatırım assumed the duties of leader in 
25 public offerings and joint leader in 3 pub-
lic offerings at an approximate value of TL 2.3 
billion since 2011 and took part in more than 
130 public offerings as a consortium mem-
ber. In 2022, Gedik Yatırım also intermediated 
initial public offering of Panelsan and Sanica 
Isı shares as the consortium leader, Suwen 
shares as the consortium co-leader, and Özsu 
shares as the IPO leader. 

#ShareThisFeeling: Volleyball National 
Teams Main Sponsor
Gedik Yatırım became the main sponsor of 
the Turkish Women’s and Men’s National Vol-
leyball Teams within the scope of the 3-year 
sponsorship agreement signed with the Turk-
ish Volleyball Federation (TVF). The company 

will continue to support initiatives and projects 
undertaken to ensure that we create a unique 
sport culture and raise athletes and young gen-
erations who like sports and engage in sport ac-
tivities, and will continue to allocate significant 
resources for this purpose.

Pioneering organization sector in 
digitalization and innovation
With investments in technology, Gedik Yatırım 
constantly updates the platforms and channels 
such as Gedik Yatırım Online Branch, Investment 
Center, Gedik Trader, UP Trader created for inves-
tors to receive multi-channel and continuous ser-
vice in the capital markets in line with their needs 
and continues its innovation and integration pro-
jects for diversification.

Gedik Yatırım, which started to offer investors the 
opportunity to open an account via video call with 
the “Hızlı Hesap” (Quick Account) application, has 
become one of the leading organizations in the 
sector.

Other Activities in 2022 
Misyon Yatırım Bankası (formerly Inveo Yatırım 
Bankası), with a capital of TL 500 million, of which 
Gedik Yatırım is one of the founding partners, 
received an operating license from the BRSA in 
December 2022. Gedik Yatırım participated with 
a total capital of 115 million TL in the capital in-
crease realized in two different phases in 2022.

Gedik Yatırım took its place among the found-
ing partners of Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., which was established in 
2022. 

As of 2022, the company moved its fintech in-
vestments to the Inveo Portföy First Fintech Ven-
ture Capital Investment Fund (Fintech GSYF), of 
which it is the leading investor, and thus, benefit-
ed from legal incentives and increased the oppor-
tunity for companies to find funding in continued 
investment rounds.

As a reflection of its confidence in capital mar-
kets, Inveo Yatırım Holding has increased its share 
in Gedik Yatırım. As a result of the acquisition of 
Gedik Yatırım shares owned by Hakkı Gedik and 
Erhan Topaç by Inveo Yatırım Holding, Inveo 
Yatırım Holding’s percentage of shares in Gedik 
Yatırım increased from 43.04% to 84.87%.

 

Total Assets

TL BILLION
9.4

Gedik Yatırım

Gedik Yatırım 
maintains its 
pioneering vision 
with its focus 
on innovation, 
technology, and 
leadership in terms 
of the products and 
services it offers.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Capital Markets
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Competitive, sustainable returns in 
portfolio management
Inveo Portföy continues to work towards its 
goal of being a pioneer and leader in the sec-
tor with its knowledge, experience and exper-
tise in mutual fund management since 1991 
and in portfolio management since 2008.

As of the end of 2022, the number of funds 
being managed by Inveo Portföy was 41, while 
the total amount of assets managed exceed-
ed TL 5.8 billion. Increasing the number of 
its investors to 35 thousand, the Company 
achieved a net profit of TL 23.9 million. Estab-
lishing the first real estate and participation 
umbrella fund during the reporting period, In-

Amount of Total Assets

TL BILLION
5.8

veo Portföy worked on 3 new thematic funds 
as well as e-transformation of its technology 
infrastructure. Continuing to grow with strate-
gic collaborations, Inveo Portföy has reached 
15 thousand investors across digital channels.

384% growth in total assets
Inveo Portföy, which closed 2021 with a port-
folio size of TL 1.2 billion, increased it by more 
than 384% in the 2022 reporting period and 
reached a size of TL 5.8 billion. While the num-
ber of funds that were issued at the end of 
2021 was 20, it increased the number of mutu-
al funds to 41 with 1 variable, 6 venture capital, 
12 hedge and 2 fund basket funds, with the di-
versification strategy in the fund portfolio.

While portfolio management commission in-
come was realized as TL 22.1 million in 2022, its 
equity was TL 36 million. Nefes Ege Real Estate 
Investment Fund issuance certificate was ob-
tained following the mutual fund umbrella es-
tablishment permissions, with the Company’s 
attempt to take an active role in the private 
pension, real estate and participation mutual 
fund markets for the first time in 2022. It en-
tered the market as the portfolio manager of 
Fiba Emeklilik ve Hayat A.Ş. Inveo Portföy Fund 
Basket Pension Investment Fund (FFZ), as a re-
sult of the cooperation with Fiba Emeklilik ve 
Hayat A.Ş., and quickly took its first place in its 
category.

Breakthroughs in the thematic fund 
market
Continuing to expand its diversified mutual 
fund family with its innovative perspective, In-
veo Portföy maintains its ambitious claims in 
the thematic fund market as well. Entering the 
thematic fund market with the “Inveo Portföy 
Technology Variable Fund (IRT)”, which pio-
neered technological changes in the world in 
early 2022 and provided the opportunity to in-
vest in companies traded in international mar-
kets, the Company focused on next genera-
tion technology investments during the year. 
With the Transformative Technologies Fund 
Basket Fund (IUH) and the Inveo Portföy ESG 
Sustainability Fund Basket Fund (IUT), which 
is managed with an investment philosophy 
for a cleaner and greener world, Inveo Portföy 
aims to increase the diversity of mutual funds 
in thematic areas where it sees opportunities 
in 2023.

Growth with digital transformation
Inveo Portföy continues to enhance its op-
erational infrastructure with investments in 
technology. By conducting research on asset 
management reporting, accounting, e-ledger 
and data analytics, it strives to provide end-to-
end digital portfolio management services. It 
also carries out e-transformation projects in 
the field of sales by focusing on digital com-
munication channels.

Continuing to provide a complete and accu-
rate information flow through active use of 
all social media communication channels in 
2022, Inveo Portföy contributes to the devel-
opment of investors with its leading expert 

broadcasts and contents in the field of portfo-
lio management and mutual funds, especially 
through its YouTube channel. In addition, as 
a result of cooperation with Scala Yayıncılık, 
it made the Annie Duke’s book titled “How to 
Decide”, which contains important informa-
tion about investors’ feeling of uncertainty 
and decision making under risk, available to 
the Turkish readers.

Success with strategic collaborations
Developing business models in both asset 
management and mutual funds, Inveo Port-
föy offers individual and corporate alterna-
tives. Being a part of the value chain with the 
strength of the synergies it creates with the 
group companies, Inveo Portföy contributes 
to common goals with solutions suited to cor-
porate needs, in addition to its classic prod-
ucts. It continues to increase its market share 
rapidly, with 554% growth in hedge funds and 
310% in venture capital investment funds, 
through collaborations with non-group com-
panies.

Artificial intelligence support in mutual 
funds
With an innovative perspective, Inveo Portföy 
has incorporated artificial intelligence and 
machine learning in its investment decision 
mechanisms. After testing multiple artificial 
intelligence-based digital solution platforms, 
Inveo Portföy began to manage the Inveo 
Portföy Robo Analysis (First) Fund Basket Fund 
(GJB) together with the expertise of its port-
folio managers and artificial intelligence tech-
nology, and moved the return on fund to the 
top among its competitors in 2022.

Stronger with dynamic human resources 
and investor trust
Inveo Portföy, which makes continuous im-
provements in order for its investors to reach 
their financial goals with the most well-
equipped and dynamic workforce in its field, 
has achieved a growth well above the sector 
average by increasing the number of investors 
by 125% in the last year. 

Inveo Portföy, which gains the trust of more 
and more investors with its ethical service ap-
proach and outstanding return performance, 
ranks within the top three among non-bank 
asset management companies with 35 thou-
sand investors, and is successfully moving 
towards its vision of leadership in the sector.

By reflecting 
its knowledge, 
experience and 
expertise to its 
activities in 2022, 
Inveo has moved 
even closer to its 
goals of being a 
pioneer and leader 
in the sector, 
and develops its 
strategies with a 
focus on dynamic 
workforce and 
digital solutions.

Number of 
Investors

THOUSAND
35

Inveo Portföy views technology as a part of its business at all levels, keeping 
competitive and sustainable returns at the forefront. The company helps its 

investors to achieve their financial goals with creative and innovative solutions, 
and creates value for all of its stakeholders.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Capital Markets
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Finveo MN
Established in August 2020 to fulfill the mis-
sion of providing its investors with the tools 
and information they need to achieve long-
term financial prosperity, Finveo MN offers 
trading of capital market products, portfolio 
management, investment advisory, and for-
eign exchange trading services.

It aims to provide its investors with a transpar-
ent and reliable investment experience, inte-
grated with internal management processes 
which comply with the Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive (MiFID) of the European 
Union. 

Finveo MN, which provides multi-asset bro-
kerage services with the opportunity to trade 
in the worldwide markets 5 days a week, 24 
hours a day, is the leader in Montenegro, be-
ing the fastest growing investment company 
and the largest brokerage house with its 37 

Finveo UK
In 2020, the Company obtained its limit-
ed-scope license from the UK Securities and 
Exchange Commission (FCA) to operate as 
an investment firm in the United Kingdom. 
Finveo UK, which is registered with the FCA 
with reference number 916641, completed 
the first phase of the required process as 
per the legislation, and the application was 
filed to the FCA to expand the scope of the 
license.

Capital increase in 2 different rounds
Based on the Board Decision dated Sep-
tember 22, 2021, a capital advance of TL 
5,600,000 was paid to Inveo Alfa Uluslarar-
ası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. This 
capital advance was used in the capital in-
crease of Finveo UK and registered on Sep-
tember 24, 2021. The other capital increase 
of TL 9,200,000 was registered on January 
31, 2022, based on the decision of the board 
of directors taken on January 26, 2022.

employees in its local office and a team that 
speaks more than 15 different languages.

Investors from more than 50 countries 
Finveo MN, which participated in sectoral fairs 
around the world in 2022, attracted investors 
from more than 50 countries. Having started 
to offer its investors the opportunity to invest 
in segmented stocks from the second quarter 
of 2022 onwards, the Company launched the 
Eurobond product as part of its efforts to im-
prove its product diversity.

As of June 2022, the Company signed a three-
year sponsorship agreement with the Monte-
negro Basketball Federation, joining among 
the Main Sponsors of the Montenegro Wom-
en’s and Men’s National Basketball Teams. It 
has begun to develop innovative projects in 
cooperation with the Federation in order to 
digitalize sports and improve relations with 
fan communities.

Finveo MA
Aiming to increase the added value it cre-
ates for all its investors in its countries of op-
eration, Finveo World continues its journey 
that originally started in the Inveo ecosys-
tem in a manner which aligned to its goal 
of creating long-term value and its global 
growth vision. Accordingly, the license ap-
plication in the Republic of Mauritius was 
filed on August 29, 2022.

Increasing inclusion in the international 
arena
Finveo MA will increase the regional inclu-
siveness of international capital market bro-
kerage services through Finveo World.

Countries of 
Operation:
MONTENEGRO

Finveo is working 
on adding new 
geographies to its 
international service 
network. Finveo, 
which continued 
its activities in 
Montenegro in 2022, 
is currently working 
on incorporation 
issues to start 
operating in England.

New Countries:
ENGLAND & 
REPUBLIC OF 
MAURITIUS

The goal of carrying success to new 
geographies
With their subsidiaries and affiliates, Inveo 
Yatırım Holding aims to carry their leading role 
in the Turkish capital markets, which it has suc-
cessfully carried out for 30 years, to all around 
the world through Finveo World. The main vi-
sion is to elevate Finveo World to the position 
of a leading investment institution in global 
competition in all countries of operation.

At the core of its business model and strat-
egies, Finveo concentrates on offering a 
smooth and simple investor experience with 
the most competent human resources and 
the most advanced technological solutions 

Finveo continues its activities, which it initially started in 2021 in order to 
successfully represent our country and Company in international markets, by 

offering services and products to its investors across 6 continents and  
54 different countries as of the end of 2022.

available in the sector. Offering innovative 
experience and services in Montenegro as of 
the end of 2022, the company is working on 
adding new geographies to its international 
service network.

Finveo, completed the application process for 
license in the UK, and aims to start its oper-
ations soon. It is also planning to file license 
applications in Europe and South America in 
2023.

Finveo MA (Republic of Mauritius) has applied 
for a license to the FSC in August 2022 for its 
incorporation. We expect to obtain a license 
in this country within the first quarter of 2023.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Capital Markets
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Our companies in the field of venture capital continued their 
activities in 2022 by building upon their effectiveness and 
inclusiveness.

BREAKTHROUGHS IN 
THE FIELD OF VENTURE 
CAPITAL

VENTURE 
CAPITAL
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Inveo Ventures brings together the knowledge and experience of the Inveo 
ecosystem with startups that has technology-based, innovative and scalable 

business models, and guides these startups to turn them into successful 
companies of the future. Inveo Ventures was incorporated for the purpose of 

investing in technology startups that have proven their development with data 
and are ready to scale their operations in global markets, regardless of sector.

Capital

TL MILLION
65

HIGH DEVELOPMENT 
AND GLOBAL GROWTH 
POTENTIAL

A holistic approach to venture capital
According to Startups Watch’s report which of-
fers a review of the Turkish and global entrepre-
neurship and investment ecosystem in 2022, it 
has been shown that Türkiye-based startups 
are in the 2nd group after the ecosystem leader 
countries such as England, France, and Ger-
many. Inveo Yatırım Holding and its subsidiar-
ies continue to act as a pioneer in the Turkish 
entrepreneurship and investment ecosystem 
and to nurture the ecosystem. Inveo Ventures 
stands out with its great contribution to Türki-
ye’s goal of producing and exporting high-tech 
products as well as the value that it produces 
for sustainable development.

Value bridge at the center of the 
ecosystem  
Within the framework of this vision, Inveo 
Yatırım Holding established Inveo Ventures 
in 2022 to invest in startups that develop ad-
vanced technology-based products and ser-
vices with high development and global growth 
potential. Established with a capital of TL 65 
million, the Company acts as a bridge of value 
by strengthening the links between the venture 
and investment ecosystem and existing port-
folio initiatives, holding and group companies. 
The experienced team of Inveo Ventures con-
tinuously monitors the industry developments 
and trends in different business areas and takes 
the right investment decisions quickly. In addi-
tion to investment decisions, it also supports 
the business lines of the holding in new devel-
opment areas by carrying out multi-faceted 
work, such as cooperation opportunity detec-
tion, in-depth financial and technical analyses, 
due diligence and evaluation studies. With the 
experience, corporate knowledge, economic 

Inveo Ventures acts as a value bridge by strengthening the links 
between the venture & investment ecosystem, portfolio initiatives which 
already received investment, and the holding and group companies.

and strategic knowledge, and experience sup-
port of the holding and group companies, it is 
aimed to make investments in companies whose 
market values will reach billions of dollars within 
GSYO. While making investment decisions, the 
most important criterion is the global growth of 
the startups and their potential to be considered 
as attractive and investment opportunities by 
foreign investors.

More than a mutual fund
Unlike the venture capital structures in the ven-
ture and investment ecosystem in Türkiye, In-
veo Ventures has the competence to evaluate 
and utilize the secondary market transaction 
opportunities that it may encounter. Along with 
secondary market transactions, Inveo Ventures 
will also contribute to the efforts of providing 
liquidity into the entrepreneurship ecosystem 
in Türkiye. For this purpose, it aims to solve the 
investment continuity problem in the ecosystem 
by allowing investors and partners to sell their 
shares at fair prices. Inveo Ventures, together 
with the portfolio management company of the 
group, also plays a leading role in bringing the 
venture capital investment funds (VCIF) which 
are planned to be established by other institu-
tional investors with the right ventures. In 2022, 
it provided two different holdings with guidance 
on sector-oriented initiatives as well as process 
management support in joint investment pro-
cesses. Inveo Ventures also aims to prepare the 
startups to be included its portfolio for exit by 
adding them value at every point as needed dur-
ing financial, legal, business development, legal 
and strategic matters. In all these processes, it 
will provide the opportunity to present the com-
pany to the investors in Borsa Istanbul with valua-
tion based on a correct and transparent data set. 
Inveo Ventures is planned to sell qualified shares 
in 2025.

Inveo Ventures 
will invest in 
startups with 
strong competitive 
advantages, 
scalable business 
models, and the 
potential to disrupt 
global markets 
with technology-
based products and 
services, regardless 
of industry.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Venture Capital



4746 Inveo Annual Report 2022

hiVC brings together early-stage technology startups with winning 
business models and leads them to achieve global success. Since its 

establishment, the company has invested up to TL 25 million in  
21 startups as of the end of 2022.

hiVC is a Venture Capital Investment Trust 
(VCIT) company established with the aim 
of developing sustainable business models 
and increasing the global success of start-
ups. Founded towards the end of 2020, hiVC 
GSYO completed its first operation period in 
2021. The company’s goal is to invest in tech-
nology-based startups that have rapid growth 
potential, develop products or services that 
will serve both nationally and internationally in 
their sector, and have a competent and deter-
mined founding team. 

Alongside the startups throughout entire 
entrepreneurial journey
hiVC discovers the needs of startups, creates 
solutions and teams for these needs, and of-
fers entrepreneurs an ecosystem, fast and 
effective investment, highly effective men-
toring, guidance, comprehensive business 
network, and investment support opportuni-
ties. Accordingly, it has directly invested in 17 
companies to date in order to help grow the 
early-stage startups in the Turkish entrepre-
neurship ecosystem and to improve them up 
to a level where they can compete globally. 
With the investment made in 4 companies by 
hiBoost -the acceleration program executive 
company whose 100% shares belong to hiVC- 
investment was made in a total of 21 compa-
nies, and funds worth TL 25 million was trans-
ferred to these companies. 

About USD 700 thousand of new 
investment in 2022
In 2022, 11 new investments were made, with 
a fund transfer of nearly USD 700 thousand. 
The Company’s portfolio includes startups 
working in different sectors such as analytics, 
marketing, artificial intelligence, new media, in-

vestment services, educational technologies, 
health technologies, mobility and RPA. 

Rising investment trend for early-stage 
startups 
Early-stage startups will be evaluated based on 
the data obtained from the research and stud-
ies on sectors and investment trends as car-
ried out continuously by the hiVC team. The 
Company will continue to make various invest-
ments, such as seed capital, startup financing 
and early growth financing, in promising start-
ups at different stages of their lifecycle. With a 
growth of 98% compared to the previous year, 
a total of 273 million dollars investment was 
made in seed-stage startups in 2022. This is a 
good indicator that the potential of early-stage 
investments continues, despite the increased 
reluctance of new investors to invest in start-
ups due to the global crisis.

hiVC’s IPO plans 
At hiVC, the most important item of agenda 
will be the initial public offering in 2023. The 
controlling partner Inveo Ventures will assume 
an active role in the management in line with 
its strategy of working closely with the start-
ups in its portfolio and doing value-driven busi-
ness. Since its incorporation, Inveo Ventures 
has been acting as a value bridge between 
investors, the entrepreneurship ecosystem, In-
veo Group and startups by supporting existing 
startups in the portfolio, finding and guiding 
the right startups, analyzing, making invest-
ment decisions, negotiating decisions, and 
making the investment after a positive deci-
sion. Inveo Ventures, which plans to make new 
investments with the excitement of the first 
day under the roof of hiVC in 2023, will also 
successfully manage the initial public offering 
process.

SUPPORT FOR THE 
SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 
OF STARTUPS
hiVC make investments in early-stage startups to help them grow 
and develop to a sufficient level so that they can compete globally.

We invested a total 
of TL 25 million in 
7 startups through 
hiVC which focuses 
on the growth 
of early-stage 
startups that can 
potentially compete 
at a global level, 
and in 4 startups 
through hiBoost, 
which is a 100% 
hiVC subsidiary 
and an early-stage 
startup acceleration 
program.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Venture Capital
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Enlarging its 
vehicle fleet in 
Türkiye with the 
investments it 
received, HOP 
increased the 
number of vehicles 
it served by 5 times 
and expanded its 
operations to more 
than 20 regions in 
3 countries.

The fund’s 
investment 
strategy is 
mainly focused 
on financial 
technologies, 
gaming, retail 
technologies, 
digital health, 
education, and 
human resources 
technologies.

Serving as an environmentally friendly alternative to 
urban transportation, HOP is constantly moving forward 

to expand its overseas operations, which it started in 
Montenegro and Greece, to new regions.

Acting with the goal of bringing traditional capital to 
the technology ecosystem, Boğaziçi Ventures facilitates 

long-term relationships by acting as a bridge.

A startup with a focus on the environment 
and people
Founded in Ankara in 2019, HOP offers a supe-
rior experience to its users by carrying out en-
vironmentally friendly, sustainable and efficient 
operations with a fleet of vehicles equipped 
with innovative technical systems. HOP is po-
sitioned as a respectable and innovative micro 
mobility startup which provides a cost-effective 
service, has a high competitive edge, and real-
izes strategic country and regional expansions 
with a focus on the ‘environment and people’.

HOP aims to add other light electric vehicles 
such as electric bicycles and electric mopeds 
to its fleet of electric scooters which is integrat-
ed into the existing transportation network of 
cities in the future. HOP will continue to expand 
in different strategic countries and regions in 
the new period, and also carry out preparations 
and negotiations for the Series A investment 
round. 

Value in technology
Boğaziçi Ventures is a venture capital com-
pany founded by respected and successful 
entrepreneurs in the Turkish entrepreneur-
ship ecosystem. It establishes and manag-
es funds of varying size and focus, from the 
pre-seed stage to the publicly listed stages. 

BV Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş., which was found-
ed by the company in 2022, became a port-
folio management company with the per-
mission from the CMB. It set out to establish 
and manage venture capital mutual funds 
and funds that invest in the stocks of pub-
licly traded technology companies.

BV Growth GSYF, which was established 
by Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. to be used 
in line with the company’s different invest-
ment strategies, has made a large number 
of investments especially in gaming start-

Accelerating overseas operations
Under the leadership of Inveo Yatırım Hold-
ing, the company was successful in receiving 
investment from hiVC, Koray Bahar, Ahmet 
Bilgen and İzzet Halyo at the first investment 
round in 2021. It received a new investment 
from Inveo Ventures at its second interim in-
vestment round in 2022. At this interim round, 
Inveo Yatırım Holding transferred its shares to 
its subsidiary Inveo Ventures. HOP, which has 
grown its vehicle fleet in Türkiye with the invest-
ments it has received, has also accelerated its 
efforts towards its goal of becoming a global 
micro mobility startup by expanding its oper-
ations to more than 20 regions in 3 countries. 
In this context, the startup began its overseas 
operations in Montenegro and Greece and is 
moving forward with quick and firm steps in 
line with its environmental, sustainable and effi-
cient growth targets. 

ups throughout the year and has made a 
name for itself in the ecosystem. With the 
BV Growth fund, a total of TL 459 million 
has been created together with various 
qualified investors, which is ready for use in 
investments.

With the BV Crypto organization created 
within the company, digital asset custody 
and allocation management services have 
been provided to individual and institutional 
investors since 2019.

TL 100 million investment in 21 startups 
with strong competitive advantage 
potential 
Within the scope of the fund, TL 100 million 
was invested in 21 startups in total. There 
are active new investment options worth TL 
100 million, whose investment processes 
are still in progress and which are in the in-
vestment decision evaluation phase.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Venture Capital
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Misyon Yatırım Bankası will take the Group’s 30 years of 
experience in capital markets to the next level.

MİSYON YATIRIM 
BANKASI STARTS ITS 
ACTIVITIES WITH THE 
MOTTO OF “ADVANCED 
BANKING”

BANKING
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Misyon Yatırım Bankası, which started its es-
tablishment process with the vision of taking 
Inveo’s 30 years of experience in the capital 
markets to the next level, contributing to the fi-
nancing of investments needed by our country, 
and becoming the leading bank of the new 
economy, received the establishment permit 
with the decision published in the Official Ga-
zette on September 25, 2021 as a result of the 
application to the Banking Regulation and Su-
pervision Agency (BRSA) on July 2, 2021. Upon 
this permission, Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. was 
established on December 14, 2021. On June 9, 
2022, the preparations for the operating permit 
was completed, and an application was filed 
to the BRSA to get the operating permission. 
The operating permission was granted with the 
decision of the Banking Regulation and Super-
vision Agency dated 15/12/2022 and numbered 
10437, which was published in the Official Ga-
zette dated 16/12/2022 and numbered 32045.

It was decided that the investment bank, which 
continued its incorporation process under the 
name of the Holding, would continue its acti-
vities under the title of Misyon Yatırım Bankası.

Misyon Yatırım Bankası was established by In-
veo Yatırım Holding A.Ş., Gedik Yatırım Men-
kul Değerler A.Ş., Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş., 
Erhan Topaç ve Onur Topaç, and in order to 
strengthen the equity structure of the Bank, the 
Company capital was increased from TL 300 
million to TL 500 million before the banking ac-
tivities began.

Unique position in the sector with the 
ecosystem banking model  
Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş., in line with its goal 
of becoming “Türkiye’s first neobank”, views 
working with leading companies in their res-
pective fields as a means to greater diversity. 
In this context, Misyon Yatırım Bankası aims to 
provide sustainable collaborations by opening 
its partnership structure to the ecosystem, as 
is customary in neobanks around the world. To 

this end, the principles of sustainability, cus-
tomer orientation, value creation and rational 
solutions will be adopted when formulating all 
policies, practices, and products. Misyon Yatı-
rım Bankası will form one of the main pillars of 
Inveo Yatırım Holding’s future strategy.

Partnership with the leading fintech Papara 
An agreement was reached in the partnership 
meetings held between Papara, one of the lea-
ding payment institutions and e-money com-
panies that triggered the transformation in 
the sector, and the current partners of Misyon 
Yatırım Bankası. Within the framework of the 
share participation agreement signed with the 
company, it is aimed that Papara will become 
a shareholder of Misyon Yatırım Bankası with a 
partnership share of less than 10%. Pursuant to 
this agreement, shares with a nominal value of 
TL 55,493,834 to be issued by Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası A.Ş. will be acquired by Papara through 
participation in the capital increase for a price 
of TL 166,677,000 including emission premium, 
and as a result of this transaction, Papara’s sha-
re in Misyon Yatırım Bankası will be 9.99%. Alt-
hough it will be finalized with the completion of 
the capital increase process, the value of Mis-
yon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. will reach approxima-
tely TL 1.67 billion as a result of this transaction. 

When the necessary approvals for the said 
share issuance are obtained and the capital 
increase process is completed, the paid-in ca-
pital of Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. will reach TL 
555,493,834, and the Company’s capital share 
will be 69.31% directly and 86.88% indirectly. 

Based on the size of the cooperation between 
Papara, the leader in its field with more than 
14 million individual users, and Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası, which will be a pioneering actor in 
the new economy, and the collective value to 
be created with the aim of “facilitating access 
to financial services”, changes may be made 
in the shareholder structure of Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası A.Ş.

Misyon Yatırım Bankası started its activities with the vision of becoming 
the “Pioneering Bank of the New Economy”. The bank has set out to create 

value for all its stakeholders by growing with the sustainability-focused 
ecosystems it builds and the rational solutions it is developing. It aims to be 

the preferred investment bank in Türkiye with its unique business model, 
corporate culture, and qualified staff.

Fields of Activity and Companies / Banking

CREATING VALUE THROUGH 
SMART SOLUTIONS AND 
ECOSYSTEM APPROACH

Capital

TL MILLION
500

Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası, which 
was established 
with the vision of 
being the leading 
bank of the new 
economy, aims to 
operate by focusing 
on the banking of 
the future with the 
motto of ‘Advanced 
Banking’.
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Ichain Yatırım Holding 

Fields of Activity and Companies / Crypto & De-Fi

With Ichain, the Company aims to establish a dynamic and 
versatile ecosystem in the existing areas of crypto assets 
and decentralized finance as well as in innovative areas.

ICHAIN INTRODUCES 
A NOVEL APPROACH 
TO THE WORLD OF 
CRYPTO ASSETS AND 
DECENTRALIZED 
FINANCE

CRYPTO & DE-FI

Inveo implemented the Ichain Yatırım Holding structure 
in 2022 in order to make use of the opportunities that 
may arise in the near future in related sectors, where 
capital will be heavily concentrated in the future and 
which can trigger the transformation in the markets.

Ichain Yatırım Holding (Inveo Delta)
As a new generation value investor, Inveo 
implemented the Ichain Yatırım Holding 
structure in 2022 in order to make use of 
the opportunities that may arise in the near 
future in related sectors, where capital will 
be heavily concentrated in the future and 
which can trigger the transformation in 
the markets, and to develop technologies, 
make collaborations and investments, and 
establish teams and companies.

A fresh perspective into the world of 
crypto assets and decentralized finance
With Ichain, it is aimed to establish a dynam-
ic and versatile ecosystem in the existing 
areas of Blockchain, Crypto Assets and De-
centralized Finance (De-Fi) as well as in new 
innovative areas waiting to be discovered.

Short-term plans at Ichain include establish-
ing a technology company within a techno-
park campus to develop products and ser-
vices by applying advanced technologies 
and R&D, and investing capital in an active 
and domestic cryptocurrency exchange, 
which is currently in negotiations. It is antic-
ipated that the company will go through its 
first commercially active year in 2023.

Within Ichain, 
it is planned 
to establish 
a technology 
company located 
in a technopark 
campus to 
develop products 
and services by 
applying advanced 
technologies and 
R&D.
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We make strategic investments in sectors with high potential.

INVEO ECOSYSTEM 
GROWS WITH STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENTS

STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENTS
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Fields of Activity and Companies / Strategic Investments

The solution partner that brings 
technology together with corporate 
business goals
The largest SAP solution partner backed 
with 100% Turkish capital, Detaysoft has 
been bringing its customers’ business pro-
cesses to international standards with its 
vision of continuous innovation since its es-
tablishment in 1999, and provides solutions 
to businesses that aim to grow through dig-
ital transformation.

Being one of SAP’s top-tier Platinum | Global 
business partners, Detaysoft offers end-to-
end SAP solutions through its expert con-
sultants in all SAP modules that address the 

End-to-end publishing solutions with 
digital media service
Developing new generation media tech-
nologies and end-to-end publishing solu-
tions, Aposto is positioned as a roof for new 
generation newspapers and magazines. It 
serves as a digital media service that hosts 
news, interviews, recommendations, anal-
yses, and the most authentic written con-
tents in Türkiye.

Having completed the seed investment 
round in June 2020, Aposto also closed the 
core investment round in June 2021. Inveo 
Yatırım Holding has participated in Aposto 
at this investment round held in June.

Technology solutions with financial 
software development expertise
Devexperts has been working on providing 
technology solutions in the capital markets 
and finance industry for more than 20 years. 
The company develops trading platforms 
and brokerage automation software and 
creates market data products for individu-
al and corporate brokerage houses, wealth 
management companies, mutual funds, 
stock markets and insurance companies. 

The pioneering Angel Investment 
project in the field of biotechnology
Albila, which set out with the vision of be-
ing a pioneer and leader in antiserum, bio-
technological product development and 
R&D activities in Türkiye, was established in 
2017 with an “Angel Investment” project. Its 
shareholder structure consists of 40 people 
from Türkiye’s leading businesswomen and 
businessmen. It is the first pharmaceutical 
production facility in Eskişehir that plans to 
develop antidotes derived from horses for 
use against animal bites without causing 
environmental impact.

needs of its customers, in addition to the 
innovative solutions developed in its R&D 
Center. 

Detaysoft carries out projects that increase 
the business efficiency of institutions and 
pioneers digital transformation across all 
sectors. With a team of 600 people em-
ployed in the Istanbul headquarters and Si-
vas office, Detaysoft serves more than 350 
customers and is included among the com-
panies that provide consultancy in the field 
of informatics under the Turquality support 
program.

The company’s public offering is planned to 
take place in 2023 or 2024.

In 2022, Aposto aims to expand into the 
global market with its publications in Eng-
lish, as well as continuing to generate rev-
enue through subscriptions and sponsored 
content. Continuing the company incor-
poration process in the USA, the Compa-
ny launched the Aposto Premium which is 
available for a monthly subscription fee. As 
the Company is approaching its third year, 
it has become a platform that has delivered 
more than 200 publications to 500 thou-
sand users.

A comprehensive Series A investment 
round is planned to be held in 2023, which 
global investors will be participating.

Devexperts continues its operations with 
the mission to help companies grow and 
gain competitive advantage by providing 
customized data distribution solutions and 
fintech expertise to companies in the finan-
cial sector.

Albila Headquarters is located in Istanbul, 
and the company has a manufacturing plant 
at GMP standards in Eskişehir Organized 
Industrial Zone; a scorpion venom produc-
tion unit in Osmangazi University, and horse 
care and immunization unit in Mahmudiye.

The company carries out R&D studies in 
Eskişehir Osmangazi University within the 
scope of university-industry cooperation, 
and thus, receives academic support from 
international universities. The plant, which 
consists of 1,600 m2 of R&D, P&D and clean 
room areas, is staffed with a young and dy-
namic team, including chemists, molecular 
biologists, and pharmacists.

The largest SAP 
solution partner 
backed with 
100% Turkish 
capital, Detaysoft 
provides 
solutions to 
businesses that 
aim to grow 
through digital 
transformation.

As Aposto is 
approaching 
its third year, it 
has become a 
platform that 
has delivered 
more than 200 
publications to 
500 thousand 
users.

Devexperts has 
been working 
on providing 
technology 
solutions in the 
capital markets 
and finance 
industry.

Albila is the first 
pharmaceutical 
production 
facility in 
Eskişehir that 
plans to develop 
antidotes derived 
from horses 
for use against 
animal bites 
without causing 
environmental 
impact.
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Financial Investments

Summary Table 
of Financial 
Investments

Inveo Yatırım Holding does not have a reciprocal shareholding relationship that brings with it a dominance relationship.

The long-term financial investments of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

December 31, 
2022

December 31, 
2021

Actual difference in value, long-term financial assets reflected in 
profit/loss

Rate (%) Amount Rate (%) Amount

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. 84.87% 3,154,301,747 43.04% 867,767,452

Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (formerly Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş.) 76.999% 413,240,158 74.999% 224,997,000

Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 85.00% 146,020,661 - -

Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. 100.00% 37,883,372 100.00% 17,160,705

Inveo Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. 100.00% 34,278,572 100.00% 21,848,997

Bv Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri A.Ş. 20.50% 28,652,409 20.00% 6,000,000

Detay Danışmanlık Bilgisayar Hizmetleri Sanayi Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 5.50% 28,635,898 5.50% 11,792,631

Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. 100.00% 18,998,065 100.00% 6,865,404

ICHAIN Yatırım Holding A.Ş. 100.00% 10,000,000 - -

Hivc Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 9.80% 6,539,341 9.80% 3,870,278

Novel Scala Basılı Yayın ve Tanıtım Ticaret Sanayi A.Ş. 55.00% 3,721,492 55.00% 3,865,877

Hub Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 0.45% 2,214,467 0.45% 1,227,150

Aposto Teknoloji ve Medya A.Ş. 4.59% 1,888,154 4.59% 897,400

Devexperts Teknoloji Yazılım Geliştirme A.Ş. 9.99% 841,295 9.99% 6,194,498

Albila Serum Biyolojik Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 1.21% 818,741 1.94% 818,741

Devexperts Bilgi Dağıtım Hizmetleri A.Ş. 9.99% 267,455 9.99% 1,999,568

Bodrum Girişimcilik A.Ş. 10.00% 200,000 10.00% 200,000

Hop Teknoloji A.Ş. - - 15.50% 7,367,746

Inveo Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. - - 100.00% 94,442

3,888,501,827 1,182,967,889

The movements of long-term financial investments as of January 1 - December 31, 2022 are as follows:

Long-term financial investments  January 1, 
2022

 Receipt of 
financial 

investment 

 Financial 
investment 

capital 
advance/
increase 

 Financial 
investment 

sale 

 Financial 
investment 

value increase 

 Financial 
investment 

depreciation 

 December 31, 
2022 

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. 867,767,452 460,465,344 - - 1,826,068,951 - 3,154,301,747

Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (formerly 
Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş.)

224,997,000 - 165,000,000 (5,000,000) 28,243,158 - 413,240,158

Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

- 55,250,000 - - 90,770,661 146,020,661

Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. 17,160,705 - - - 20,722,667 - 37,883,372

Inveo Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.

21,848,997 - - - 12,429,575 - 34,278,572

Bv Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık 
ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri A.Ş.

6,000,000 575,000 10,807,336 - 11,270,073 - 28,652,409

Detay Danışmanlık Bilgisayar 
Hizmetleri Sanayi Dış Ticaret A,Ş

11,792,631 - - - 16,843,267 - 28,635,898

Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.

6,865,404 - - - 12,132,661 - 18,998,065

ICHAIN Yatırım Holding A.Ş. - 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000

Hivc Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş.

3,870,278 - - - 2,669,063 - 6,539,341

Novel Scala Basılı Yayın ve Tanıtım 
Ticaret Sanayi A.Ş.

3,865,877 - - - - (144,385) 3,721,492

Hub Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş.

1,227,150 180,001 - - 807,316 - 2,214,467

Aposto Teknoloji ve Medya A.Ş. 897,400 - - - 990,754 - 1,888,154

Devexperts Teknoloji Yazılım 
Geliştirme A.Ş.

6,194,498 - - - - (5,353,203) 841,295

Albila Serum Biyolojik Ürünler San. ve 
Tic. A.Ş.

818,741 - - - - - 818,741

Devexperts Bilgi Dağıtım 1.999.568 - - - - (1.732.113) 267.455

Hizmetleri A.Ş. 1,999,568 - - - - (1,732,113) 267,455

Bodrum Girişimcilik A.Ş. 200,000 - - - - - 200,000

Hop Teknoloji A.Ş. 7,367,746 - - (7,367,746) - - -

Inveo Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.

94,442 - - (94,442) - - -

1,182,967,889 526,470,345 175,807,336 (12,462,188) 2,022,948,146 (7,229,701) 3,888,501,827
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Summary Table 
of Financial 
Investments

The movements of long-term financial investments as of January 1 - December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Long-term financial investments  January 1, 
2021

 Receipt of 
financial 

investment 

 Financial 
investment 

capital 
advance 

 Financial 
investment 

sale 

 Financial 
investment 

value 
increase 

 Financial 
investment 

depreciation 

 December 31, 
2021 

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. 718,865,590 - - (67,986,000) 216,887,862 - 867,767,452

Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (Previously 
named as Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş.)

- 224,997,000 - - - - 224,997,000

Inveo Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.

874,070 - 5,670,700 - 15,304,227 - 21,848,997

Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. 8,977,268 175,344 - - 8,008,093 - 17,160,705

Detay Danışmanlık Bilgisayar 
Hizmetleri Sanayi Dış Ticaret A.Ş.

- 10,200,774 - - 1,591,857 - 11,792,631

Hop Teknoloji A.Ş. - 2,490,480 - - 4,877,266 - 7,367,746

Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.

5,147,966 - 5,600,000 - - (3,882,562) 6,865,404

Devexperts Teknoloji Yazılım  
Geliştirme A.Ş.

304,787 - - - 5,889,711 - 6,194,498

Bv Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık 
ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri A.Ş.

6,000,000 - - - - - 6,000,000

Hivc Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş.

3,712,500 - - - 157,778 - 3,870,278

Novel Scala Basılı Yayın ve Tanıtım 
Ticaret Sanayi A.Ş.

500,000 - - - 3,365,877 - 3,865,877

Devexperts Bilgi Dağıtım Hizmetleri 
A.Ş.

39,356 - - - 1,960,212 - 1,999,568

Hub Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş.

2,457,000 - - - - (1,229,850) 1,227,150

Aposto Teknoloji ve Medya A.Ş. - 868,555 - - 28,845 - 897,400

Albila Serum Biyolojik Ürünler San. ve 
Tic. A.Ş.

818,741 - - - - - 818,741

Bodrum Girişimcilik A.Ş. - 200,000 - - - - 200,000

Inveo Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.

94,442 - - - - - 94,442

747,791,720 238,932,153 11,270,700 (67,986,000) 258,071,728 (5,112,412) 1,182,967,889

Financial Investments
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hiVC Prepares for Going 
Public

hiVC continues to prepare for public 
offerings, as proper preparation 
is the key to successful public 

offerings. An IPO is planned within 
the next two years. The company 

will continue to invest without 
slowing down.

Misyon Yatırım Bankası to 
Start Its Operations

In December 2021, Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası, which obtained the 

establishment permit, completed 
the legalization, infrastructure 

development, and human resources 
preparations for the operation 

permit, and obtained the operation 
permit from BRSA in December 

2022. Operating in line with its vision 
of becoming Türkiye’s investment 

bank of choice, Misyon Yatırım 
Bankası will launch all its activities 

with business models and services 
that add value to the country’s 

economy.

New Investment 
Opportunities Will Be 

Reviewed

As per our philosophy of creating 
value, our top priority will be to 

invest in companies and areas with 
high potential for new investment.

Gedik Yatırım Will Grow 
with Confident Steps 
Towards Leadership

While diversifying its services and 
products, Gedik Yatırım will continue 
to develop different service channels 

for investors in line with its multi-
channel strategy. It will increase 

the number of investors (individual, 
private and corporate) it serves.

Inveo Portföy Will 
Continue to Grow in 

Mutual Funds

Inveo Portföy, which views 
technology and digitalization an 
integral part of its business, will 
expand the range of its funds 

in 2023 by providing full digital 
services in mutual funds and 

portfolio management, and will 
continue to increase its market share 
in venture capital and hedge funds.

Inveo Ventures 
to Continue with 

Investments in Innovative 
Startups

Founded in 2022, Inveo Ventures 
aims to invest in startups that 

develop advanced technology-
based products and services and 

have high development and global 
growth potential, and will continue 
to invest at full speed throughout 

2023.

2023 
Targets

Misyon Yatırım Bankası, as per its vision of becoming the preferred 
investment bank in Türkiye, will start all its activities with a 
business model and services that will add value to the country’s 
economy.

ADDED VALUE FOR THE 
COUNTRY’S ECONOMY

Financial Investments
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Board of 
Directors, 
Committees, and 
Evaluation of the 
Board

Full Name

Position – 
Executive/

Non-Executive/
Independent 

Member
Commencement 

Date
Duties Outside of the Partnership as of 

Late 

Erhan Topaç Chair of the Board – 
Non-Executive 14.04.1998 Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. Chair of the 

Board

Onur Topaç Deputy Chair of the 
Board - Executive 15.04.2015

Chair of the Board and CEO of Gedik 
Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., Vice Chair 

of the Board at Misyon Yatırım Bankası 
A.Ş., Chair of the Board at hiVC Girişim 
Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., Chair 
of the Board at Inveo Ventures Girişim 
Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., Chair 
of the Board at Ichain Yatırım Holding 

A.Ş., Chair of the Board at Inveo 
Araç Kiralama Hizmetleri A.Ş., Board 

Member Acting on Behalf of Legal 
Entity at BV Teknoloji İş Geliştirme 

Danışmanlık ve Organizasyon 
Hizmetleri A.Ş.

Bora Oruç Board Member –  
Non-Executive 07.12.2020

Deputy Chair of the Board at Gri 
Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. (*), Independent 

Board Member at Eliptik Yazılım ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. (*), Independent Board 

Member at İş Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (*) 

Demet Özdemir Board Member –  
Non-Executive 19.03.2021

Board Member at Osmanlı Yatırım 
Menkul Değerler A.Ş. (*), Board 

Member at Sun Tekstil A.Ş. (*), Board 
Member at British Turkish Chamber 

of Commerce (*), Independent Board 
Member at Gelecek Varlık Yönetimi 

A.Ş. (*), Independent Board Member 
at Çelebi Hava Servisi A.Ş. (*), and 

Independent Board Member at 
Akenerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. (*)

Ülkü Feyyaz 
Taktak

Board Member - 
Independent 24.04.2018

Independent Board Member at 
Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., 
Board Member at MESS Education 

Foundation (*), Board Member at 
Marbaş Menkul Değerler A.Ş.

Rüya Eser Board Member - 
Independent 25.03.2022

Independent Board Member at Gedik 
Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., part-time 

lecturer at MSGSU (*), Independent 
Board Member at Kartonsan Karton 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (*)

(*) Duties in companies outside the group.

The Company’s Board Members were elect-
ed at the Ordinary General Assembly held 
on March 25, 2022 to serve for a period of 
one year and in any case, until their suc-
cessors are elected. The Board of Directors 
convened 42 times in 2022 and a total of 
61 decisions were taken at these meetings. 
Most of the members participated in the 
meetings.

The annual budget is created in accord-
ance with the targets set by the Company’s 
Board of Directors, and the compatibility 
of the operating results with the budget is 
monitored. The decisions taken at the Ordi-
nary General Assembly regarding the activ-
ities of 2021, which was held in March 2022, 
were implemented by the Company.

The Company’s Board of Directors manag-
es and represents the Company by keeping 
the risk and return balance of the Company 
at the most appropriate level and taking into 
account its long-term interests. The Board 
of Directors defines the strategic goals of 
the Company, determines the required hu-

man and financial resources, and monitors 
the performance of the board of directors 
and management.

Although there is no provision in the Com-
pany’s Articles of Association that the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors do not trans-
act with the Company and do not violate 
the prohibition of competition, at the Or-
dinary General Assembly for the year 2021 
held on March 25, 2022, it was decided to 
allow them to carry out the works within the 
scope of articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code.

Audit Committee, Early Detection of Risk 
Committee and Corporate Governance 
Committee have been established for the 
Board of Directors to fulfill its tasks and re-
sponsibilities in a healthy manner. Areas 
of responsibilities, working principles and 
members of the committees are deter-
mined by the board of directors and an-
nounced on the Public Disclosure Platform.

Names of the 
Board of Directors 
Committees

Percentage of the 
Managers without 

Executive Duties

Percentage of 
Independent 

Members on the 
Committee

Number of Physical 
Meetings held by the 

Committee

Number of 
Reports on the 

Activities of 
the Committee 

Issued to 
the Board of 

Directors

Audit Committee 100% 100% 7 8

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 67% 67% 5 6

Early Detection of 
Risk Committee 100% 100% 7 7

Board of 
Directors, 
Committees, 
and Evaluation 
of the Board
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Audit Committee
Audit Committee is responsible for the op-
eration of the Holding’s accounting and 
reporting system within the framework of 
relevant laws and regulations, auditing and 
public disclosure of financial information, 
and overseeing the operation and effective-
ness of the independent audit and internal 
control system. The Committee meets for 
a minimum of four times a year on a quar-
terly basis and its meetings are recorded 
with minutes. During the period, the Audit 
Committee elected the independent audit 
firm, prepared the capital increase fund us-
age report, followed the independent audit 
process, and observed the functioning and 
effectiveness of the accounting and inter-
nal control system and independent audit-
ing. In addition, it evaluated the annual and 
interim financial statements disclosed to 
the public regarding their compliance with 
accounting principles, reality and accuracy 
and shared them with the Board of Direc-
tors. There are 8 reports prepared for the 
year 2022.

Audit Committee Members
Ülkü Feyyaz Taktak (Chair)
Rüya Eser (Member)

Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee 
determines whether the corporate gov-
ernance principles are implemented at the 
Company; assesses the rationale for incom-
pliance, if any, and the conflicts of interest 
caused by such incompliance; makes sug-
gestions to the Board of Directors in order 
to improve the implementation of corpo-
rate governance; and oversees the activities 
of the Investor Relations Department. 

The committee meets twice a year at least, 

and its meetings are recorded with min-
utes. During the period, the Corporate 
Governance Committee continued to work 
within the framework of the Nomination 
Committee function and the Remunera-
tion Committee function, in addition to the 
preparation of the Corporate Governance 
Compliance Report and the supervision of 
the activities of the Investor Relations De-
partment within the framework of the CMB 
legislation regulations and Duties and Work-
ing Principles. There are 6 reports prepared 
for the year 2022.

Corporate Governance Committee 
Members
Ülkü Feyyaz Taktak (Chair)
Rüya Eser (Member)
Deniz Özer (Member)

Early Detection of Risk Committee
It monitors corporate risks that may prevent 
the Holding from achieving its sustainabili-
ty and strategic goals. It gives recommen-
dations and advices to the Board of Direc-
tors on the following issues: identification 
and classification of strategic, operational, 
financial, regulatory and compliance, rep-
utation, fraud and all kinds of internal and 
external risks, calculating their probability 
of occurrence and possible effects, manag-
ing and reporting these risks in accordance 
with Inveo’s corporate risk taking profile, 
implementing the necessary measures re-
garding the identified risks, taking them into 
account in decision mechanisms, and es-
tablishing and integrating effective internal 
control systems in this direction. 

The Committee meets for a minimum of six 
times a year on a bi-monthly basis and its 
meetings are recorded with minutes. During 
the period, the Early Detection of Risk Com-
mittee continued to work within the frame-
work of the CMB legislation and its Duties 
and Working Principles. There are 7 reports 
prepared for the year 2022.

Members of Early Detection of Risk 
Committee
Rüya Eser (Chair)
Ülkü Feyyaz Taktak (Member)

Board of 
Directors, 
Committees, 
and Evaluation 
of the Board

01.01.2022-
31.12.2022

01.01.2021-
31.12.2021

Financial Rights Granted to Senior Managers

3,808,518 4,379,601 

3,808,518 4,379,601 

At the Ordinary General Assembly held on March 25, 2022, it was decided to pay a net 
amount of TL 5,500 per month to each of the Independent Board Members, effective from 
the beginning of the month following the date of the General Assembly, and not to pay any 
wages to the other Board Members.

Financial Rights 
Granted to 
the Members 
of the Board 
of Directors 
and Senior 
Managers
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I hereby accept and declare that; 
•	 Within the last five years, no executive employment relation that would give important 

duties and responsibilities has been established between myself, my spouse, my second 
degree relatives by blood or by marriage and Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. (Company) or the 
Company’s subsidiaries, shareholders who control the management of the Company or 
who have significant influence at the Company, or legal entities controlled by these sha-
reholders, and also neither myself, my spouse, my second degree relatives by blood or by 
marriage possess more than 5% of any and all capital or voting rights or privileged shares 
in any of the entities listed above or have significant commercial relations with any of the 
entities listed above,

•	 Within the last five years, I did not work as an executive manager who would have impor-
tant duties and responsibilities, or was not a member of the Board or a shareholder (5% 
and higher) in any of the companies from/to which the Company bought/sold a significant 
amount of products or services under any agreement signed between them, including 
particularly those companies providing auditing, rating and consulting services (including 
tax audit, legal audit, internal audit) for the Company, during the periods when such pro-
curement of services and products took place,

•	 I do have the professional training, knowledge, and experience that will help me properly 
carry out the tasks and duties I shall assume as a result of my independent Membership 
on the Board,

•	 I was not, as of the date of my nomination, and will not be, in case I am elected as a mem-
ber, under full time employment in any public institution or organization (except as an 
academician at a university as per applicable legislation), 

•	 I am considered a resident in Türkiye according to Income Tax Law dated 31/12/1960 and 
numbered 193,

•	 I can positively contribute to the activities of Company, remain neutral in conflicts of in-
terests between Company shareholders, take decisions freely by taking the rights of the 
stakeholders into consideration, and have strong ethical standards, professional standing, 
and experience, 

•	 I will spare sufficient time for the business of the Company to an extent that will help me 
pursue the activities of the Company and fulfill the requirements of my tasks and duties, 

•	 I have not acted as an Independent Board Member for more than six years within the last 
ten years in the Board of Directors of the Company, 

•	 I have not been an independent board member in more than three of the companies 
controlled by the Company or by the shareholders who control the management of the 
Company and in more than five of the publicly traded companies in total,

•	 I have not been registered and announced on behalf of the juridical person elected as 
board member,

•	 I will immediately notify the Company’s Board of Directors and resign if any situation arises 
which negates my impartiality.

Rüya ESER
01.03.2022

Declarations of 
Independence

I hereby accept and declare that; 
•	 Within the last five years, no executive employment relation that would give important duties 

and responsibilities has been established between myself, my spouse, my second degree 
relatives by blood or by marriage and Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. (Company) or the Compan-
y’s subsidiaries, shareholders who control the management of the Company or who have 
significant influence at the Company, or legal entities controlled by these shareholders, and 
also neither myself, my spouse, my second degree relatives by blood or by marriage possess 
more than 5% of any and all capital or voting rights or privileged shares in any of the entities 
listed above or have significant commercial relations with any of the entities listed above,

•	 Within the last five years, I did not work as an executive manager who would have important 
duties and responsibilities, or was not a member of the Board or a shareholder (5% and hig-
her) in any of the companies from/to which the Company bought/sold a significant amount 
of products or services under any agreement signed between them, including particularly 
those companies providing auditing, rating and consulting services (including tax audit, le-
gal audit, internal audit) for the Company, during the periods when such procurement of 
services and products took place,

•	 I do have the professional training, knowledge, and experience that will help me properly 
carry out the tasks and duties I shall assume as a result of my independent Membership on 
the Board,

•	 I was not, as of the date of my nomination, and will not be, in case I am elected as a member, 
under full time employment in any public institution or organization (except as an academi-
cian at a university as per applicable legislation), 

•	 I am considered a resident in Türkiye according to Income Tax Law dated 31/12/1960 and 
numbered 193,

•	 I can positively contribute to the activities of Company, remain neutral in conflicts of inte-
rests between Company shareholders, take decisions freely by taking the rights of the sta-
keholders into consideration, and have strong ethical standards, professional standing, and 
experience, 

•	 I will spare sufficient time for the business of the Company to an extent that will help me 
pursue the activities of the Company and fulfill the requirements of my tasks and duties, 

•	 I have not acted as an Independent Board Member for more than six years within the last ten 
years in the Board of Directors of the Company, 

•	 I have not been an independent board member in more than three of the companies cont-
rolled by the Company or by the shareholders who control the management of the Com-
pany and in more than five of the publicly traded companies in total,

•	 I have not been registered and announced on behalf of the juridical person elected as board 
member,

•	 I will immediately notify the Company’s Board of Directors and resign if any situation arises 
which negates my impartiality.

Ülkü Feyyaz TAKTAK
01.03.2022

Declarations of 
Independence
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With the Capital Markets Board’s (CMB) de-
cision dated 10.01.2019 and numbered 2/49 
and within the scope of the Corporate Gov-
ernance Communiqué No. II-17.1 of the CMB, 
the format to be taken as basis by the com-
panies responsible for preparing the Cor-
porate Governance Compliance Report has 
been redefined, and our Company’s Corpo-
rate Governance Compliance Report for the 
period 01.01.2022 – 31.12.2022 is prepared 
as ‘Corporate Governance Compliance Re-
port (CGCR)’ and ‘Corporate Governance 
Information Form (CGIF)’ and published on 
the Public Disclosure Platform. 

These statements can be accessed from 
the following links:

Corporate Governance Compliance Report 
(CGCR): 
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/1118510
Corporate Governance Information Form 
(CGIF): 
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/1118514

Our company has complied with the man-
datory principles of the CMB Corporate 
Governance Principles, the utmost care has 
been taken to comply with the non-obliga-
tory principles, and efforts for compliance 
are continuing. Among the Corporate Gov-
ernance Principles, which are not obligato-
ry in accordance with the regulation, the 
main principles that have not yet been fully 
complied with are listed below. The princi-
ples that have not been implemented yet 
have not resulted in any conflict of interest 
among the stakeholders.

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 1.3.10, 
the donation and aid policy will be subje-
ct to a resolution of the Board of Directors 
from 22.02.2023 onwards and will be sub-
mitted to the first General Assembly to be 
held for approval.

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 1.5.2, 
minority rights are not recognized by the 
articles of association to those who have 
less than one twentieth of the capital, and 
the provisions of the Turkish Commercial 
Code are essential.

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 4.2.8, 
as of the end of 2022, there is no executive 
liability insurance for the damages that the 
members of the Board of Directors may 
cause in the company due to their faults 
during their duties. 

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 4.3.9, a 
target rate and time of not less than 25% 
for the rate of female members to be inc-
luded in the Board of Directors and a po-
licy to reach these targets has not been 
determined yet. However, the structure of 
the board of directors is reviewed annually, 
and this point is taken into account during 
the nomination process. Currently, there 
are two female members on the Board of 
Directors of the Company, and the rate of 
female members is approximately 33%.

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 4.4.5, 
the manner in which the meetings of the 
Board of Directors will be held has been 
determined in the Company’s articles of 
association, and it has not been put into 
writing with an internal regulation.

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 4.4.7, 
due to the significant contribution of the 
sectoral experience of the members of the 
board of directors to our Company, they 
are not limited in terms of taking other du-
ties outside the company.

•	 Regarding the principle numbered 4.5.5, 
some of our board members are assigned 
to more than one committee as a result of 
the requirement that the chairmen of the 
committees be independent members, 
the obligation of all members of the audit 
committee to be independent members, 
the inability of the chief executive officer/
general manager to take part in the com-
mittees, and the knowledge and experien-
ce of our board members. 

•	 Regarding principle 4.6.5, salaries paid and 
all other benefits provided to the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors and senior 
executives are disclosed to the public via 
the annual report. The payments made are 
disclosed to the public as a whole in line 
with the general practice.

Statement of 
Compliance 
with Corporate 
Governance 
Principles

The company follows good practices in the field of sustainability, including those specified in the 
Capital Markets Board (CMB) Sustainability Compliance Framework. In this context, the Company 
has initiated a Sustainability Project in order to evaluate the social, economic and environmental 
impacts of its activities and to present the activities of the Company in line with the United Na-
tions Sustainable Development Goals in a holistic manner in the upcoming periods. 

Our Company’s Sustainability Principles Compliance Framework for the period 01.01.2022 - 
31.12.2022, which was prepared in accordance with the CMB’s “Communiqué (II-17.1.a) on the 
Amendment of the Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1)” as published in the Official Ga-
zette on 02.10.2020, and the Board Resolution no. 34/977 dated 23.06.2022, has been published 
on the Public Disclosure Platform and can be accessed from the link below.

Sustainability Principles Compliance Framework: https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/1118516

Remarks on Corporate Governance

Shareholder Relations - Investor Relations Department Activities
Our Company’s Investor Relations Department submitted to the Board of Directors the report on 
its activities during the first 6 months of 2022 on 25.07.2022, while it submitted the report cover-
ing the end of 2022 on 31.01.2023. 

Investor Relations 
Department Title License Type

Deniz Özer Investor Relations Executive
Capital Market Activities Level 3 License 
- Corporate Governance Rating License - 
Derivative Instruments License

Melek 
Melis Taşkanal Investor Relations Executive Capital Market Activities Level 3 License - 

Corporate Governance Rating License

Beyzanur Gök Investor Relations Assistant 
Specialist

Özlem Göç Investor Relations Department 
Officer Capital Market Activities Level 2 License

Statement of 
Compliance 
with 
Sustainability 
Principles

The Investors Relations Department’s main 
objective is presenting accurate, timely and 
coherent information to existing and po-
tential investors, increasing the recognition 
and credibility of the Company, lowering the 
Company’s cost of capital by implementing 
the Corporate Governance Principles, and es-
tablishing communication between the Board 
of Directors and capital markets participants. 
The Department promptly answers the ques-
tions and information requests of the share-
holders, with the exception of confidential 
and trade secret information, and by working 
in coordination with the relevant units within 
the company. In this context, 114 questions 
were received from individual investors via 
e-mail and 130 questions via phone in 2022, 
and these questions were answered in verbal-
ly and in writing, taking into account the ‘prin-
ciple of equality in information’. 

The Company has observed the principles of 
treating all capital market participants equally 
regarding the exercise of their right to obtain 
and review information, and to make disclo-
sures simultaneously and with the same con-
tent. The company immediately makes public 
disclosures on the Public Disclosure Platform 
on developments that may affect the exercise 
of shareholders’ rights, and shares information 

within the scope of the publicly disclosed con-
tent. Information and notifications are updated 
on the Company website for the information of 
investors.

Investor Relations Department Contact 
Information
Phone		  : +90 216 453 00 33
E-mail		  : ir@inveo.com.tr

General Assembly Meetings Held During the 
Period
During the period, the call for the 2021 Ordinary 
General Assembly Meeting was made within 
the legal time limit as it was announced in the 
Turkish Trade Registry Gazette dated 03.03.2022 
and numbered 10529, and also on MKK’s Elec-
tronic General Assembly System (EGKS), KAP, 
and the Company’s website www.inveo.com.tr 
on 02.03.2022 along with details such as date, 
place and agenda of the meeting. The Ordinary 
General Assembly was held on 25.03.2022 at the 
address of Altayçeşme Mahallesi Çamlı Sokak 
Ofis Park Maltepe No:21 Kat:11 Maltepe/Istanbul 
in accordance with the applicable legislation, ar-
ticles of association, and other internal compa-
ny regulations. Only physical participation took 
place in the General Assembly, no participation 
via EGKS took place. The General Assembly was 
held with a meeting quorum of 81.53%.
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Other Remarks
•	 There are no lawsuits filed against our Company that could affect the financial situation 

and activities of our Company, including environmental, social and corporate governance 
issues. 

•	 There are no issues to result in conflict of interests between the institutions that the Compa-
ny is getting services on investment consultancy and rating.

•	 Regarding the 2022 accounting period, there was no request for the appointment of a pri-
vate auditor or a private public audit, except for internal audit, independent audit and Group 
functions.

•	 There are no judicial sanctions or significant administrative sanctions imposed on the Com-
pany and the members of the management body due to practices contrary to the provi-
sions of the legislation.

•	 In 2022, our Company made donations and aids of TL 500.
•	 Necessary explanations about the transactions that the company has made with related 

parties are included in the footnote 20 of the financial report.

Issued Capital Market Instruments
Pursuant to the resolution of our Company’s Board of Directors dated 27.04.2022, it has 
been decided to increase the issued capital of the Company, within the registered capital 
ceiling of TL 500,000,000, from TL 96,000,000 to TL 240,000,000, with an increase of TL 
144,000,000, of which TL 122,755,970.04 to be covered by the proceeds from sale of par-
ticipation shares and TL 21,244,029.96 to be covered by emission premiums. In line with the 
aforementioned decision, the application submitted to the Capital Markets Board (CMB) was 
approved on 21.06.2022 by the CMB, and the starting date for the right to receive unpaid 
shares was determined as 27.06.2022. The new version of Article 7 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association, which was amended to reflect the increase of issued capital of our company 
from TL 96,000,000 to TL 240,000,000.00, was registered by the Istanbul Trade Registry on 
28.06.2022.

Within the scope of the TL 300 million issuance ceiling approved by the Capital Markets 
Board’s decision dated 28.01.2021 and numbered 5/128, a total of TL 178,500,000 worth of 
debt instruments were issued on 10.01.2022 and 26.01.2022. Within the scope of the TL 500 
million issuance ceiling approved by the Capital Markets Board’s decision dated 03.02.2022 
and numbered 6/140, a total of TL 470 million worth of debt instruments were issued on 
20.07.2022, 14.09.2022, 30.09.2022, and 16.11.2022.

Legal Remarks Changes in the Legislation in 2022
•	 Presidential Decree dated July 21, 2022 with number 5801 was published. 
•	 The Law No. 7417 Amending the Civil Servants Law as well as Certain Laws, and the Law 

Amending the Decree No. 375 were published on July 5, 2022.
•	 The Personal Data Protection Authority published the Guide on the Use of Cookies on June 

20, 2022. The guide includes recommendations for the harmonization of the relevant prac-
tices of data controllers using cookie technologies with the Personal Data Protection Law.

•	 “The Law no. 7394 on Utilization of Immovable Properties Owned by the Treasury, Amend-
ment to the Value Added Tax Law, and Amendments to Some Laws and Decrees” was pub-
lished in the Official Gazette dated 15.04.2022 and numbered 31810. 

•	 The Communiqué Amending the Communiqué No. 2008-32/34 on the Decision No. 32 con-
cerning Protection of the Value of Turkish Currency was published in the Official Gazette 
dated 19.04.2022 and numbered 31814. 

•	 The Regulation on the Amendment of Measures Regarding Prevention of Laundering Proce-
eds of Crime and Financing of Terrorism, which was published in the Official Gazette dated 
June 16, 2022 and numbered 31868, entered into force. 

•	 The Communiqué (Serial No.: 20) Amending the General Communiqué (Serial No.: 19) on Fi-
nancial Crimes Investigation Board was published in the Official Gazette dated May 18, 2022 
and numbered 31839. Addition was made to Article 5 of the Communiqué No. 19.

•	 The Communiqué on the Procedures and Principles Regarding Issuance of Capital Market 
Instruments with Security (II-31/B.1) was published in the Official Gazette dated January 26, 
2022 and numbered 31731. The purpose of the Communiqué is to set forth the procedures 
and principles to be applied regarding the security to be provided, security management 
contracts, and security manager in issuance of capital market instruments with security wit-
hin the scope of this Communiqué.

•	 The Communiqué Amending the Communiqué on the Documentation and Registration 
Order Regarding Investment Services and Activities and Ancillary Services (III-45.1.b), and 
the Communique on Remote Identification Methods to Be Used by Intermediary Firms and 
Portfolio Management Companies and Establishment of a Contractual Relationship in the 
Electronic Environment (III-42.1) was published in the Official Gazette dated February 8, 2022 
and numbered 31744.

•	 On September 20, 2022, in accordance with the Capital Market Law no. 6362, the Capital 
Markets Board published the “Draft Communiqué on Principles Regarding Companies Who-
se Shares Will Be Traded on the Venture Capital Market” upon completion of the secondary 
regulation work, which was carried out by the Board in order to set out principles and pro-
cedures regarding issuance of the shares of non-public without public offering so that they 
could be traded in a new market to be created under the Borsa Istanbul A.Ş. Equity Market 
as well as the obligations and exemptions of the said companies.

•	 The Communiqué Amending the Communiqué on Principles Regarding Investment Ser-
vices and Activities and Ancillary Services (III-37.1.c) was published in the Official Gazette 
dated April 7, 2022 and numbered 31802.

•	 Pursuant to the decision of the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency published in the 
Official Gazette dated 15 December, and as a result of the evaluation made within the scope 
of the Article 10 of the Banking Law No. 5411 and Article 7 of the Regulation on Transactions 
Subject to Permission and Indirect Shareholding of Banks, it has been decided to grant an 
operating license to Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. with the Board’s decision dated 23.09.2021 
with number 9814.

Legal Remarks
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Financial Status and Risk Management

Inveo Internal Control Department maintains its activities as a component of the Internal 
Audit System established to monitor and control the risks that Holding may encounter. 

The Unit is set up with such a quality, competency and effectiveness that is capable of re-
sponding to changing conditions that are compliant with the scope of and structure of the 
activities realized within the Holding. The activities under the foregoing scope are managed 
by the Board of Directors, employees of all positions in the corporation and employees re-
sponsible for internal control. The activities of the Internal Control are sustained as a part of 
the daily flow of work so as to allow monitoring the risks determined. 

Internal Control, including other companies within the holding, continues its operations for 
the purposes of managing all of its actions and transactions in line with management strate-
gy and policies in an efficient and effective manner within the framework of the current leg-
islation and regulations; assuring entirety and reliability of the arrangement of accounts and 
records; ensuring that the information in the data system are obtained in time and correctly; 
preventing and determining errors, frauds and irregularities.

Inveo Internal Control System is consisted of five integrated components in order to support 
the efforts aimed at realizing the targets and objectives of the organization. These compo-
nents are classified as control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information 
and communication and monitoring activities.

Information on Risk Management Practices
Risk management activities of Inveo and Group companies are carried out under the responsi-
bility and supervision of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible 
for determining the risks that may arise in the transactions carried out or to be performed 
within the scope of the Group’s activities, avoiding risks by taking preventive measures against 
the related risks, carrying out studies to prevent the recurrence of risks, and ensuring that all 
activities comply with the legislation and internal regulations.

The Board of Directors fulfills its oversight responsibility through various committees such as 
the Audit Committee, the Early Detection of Risk Committee, and the Corporate Governance 
Committee.

Internal Control 
and Risk 
Management 
Activities

JCR-Eurasia Rating assessed Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. in the low risk category during its 
review of its credit rating, and kept its Long Term National Rating at AA-(Tr), its Short Term 
National Rating at J1+ (Tr) and preserved its outlook as ‘Stable’. In addition, it awarded ‘BB’ 
rating, which is the ceiling for Türkiye, for the Long Term International Foreign and Local 
Currency Ratings, and preserved their outlook as ‘Stable’.

 2022 2021

 Long Short Long Short

International

Foreign 
Currency BB J3 BB+ B

Local Currency BB J3 BB+ B

Outlook Stable Stable Negative Negative 

National

National Rating AA-(tr) J1+(tr) AA-(Trk) A-1+(Trk) 

Outlook Stable Stable Stable Stable

Issue Rating AA-(tr) J1+(tr) AA-(Trk)  A-1+(Trk) 

Rating Notes
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Financial 
Statements 
Statement of 
Responsibility

INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG A.Ş.
REGARDING THE APPROVAL OF THE REPORTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
DATE OF RESOLUTION	 : 14/02/2023
RESOLUTION NO 	 : 661
 
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY ACCORDING TO ARTICLE 9 OF THE CAPITAL 
MARKETS BOARD’S “COMMUNIQUE ON PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING IN 
CAPITAL MARKETS” STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

We hereby declare that, the financial statements prepared by our company’s management for 
the period 01.01.2022 - 31.12.2022 and independently audited by RSM Türkiye Arkan Ergin Ulus-
lararası Bağımsız Denetim A.Ş. in accordance with the Capital Markets Board’s (CMB) Principles 
of Financial Reporting in the Capital Markets Communiqué (II-14.1), and in line with the financial 
statements prepared within the framework of Turkish Accounting Standards / Turkish Financial 
Reporting Standards (TMS / TFRS) and in accordance with the formats issued by the CMB;

a)	 Have been reviewed by us, and
b)	 Based on the information we possess within the scope of our duties and responsibilities 

in the Company, the financial statements do not contain any incorrect statement or any 
omission of material facts that may result in misleading conclusion as of the date of issu-
ance,

c)	 Based on the information we possess within the scope of our duties and responsibilities in 
the Company, the financial statements prepared in accordance with the financial reporting 
standards in force as of the relevant period honestly reflect the truth about the assets, lia-
bilities, financial condition and profit and loss of the enterprise.

Regards, 

Audit Committee 
Member

Dr. Rüya ESER

Audit Committee Chair
Ülkü Feyyaz TAKTAK

General Manager
Onur TOPAÇ

INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG A.Ş.
REGARDING THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE ANNUAL REPORT, BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S
DATE OF RESOLUTION	 : 01/03/2023
RESOLUTION NO 	 : 664 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY ACCORDING TO ARTICLE 9 OF THE CAPITAL 
MARKETS BOARD’S “COMMUNIQUE ON PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING IN 
CAPITAL MARKETS” STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

We hereby declare that; our annual report for the period 01.01.2022 - 31.12.2022, prepared by 
our company’s management and independently audited by RSM Türkiye Arkan Ergin Uluslara-
rası Bağımsız Denetim A.Ş., including the links to Corporate Governance Compliance Report 
(CGCR), Corporate Governance Information Form (CGIF) and Sustainability Principles Compli-
ance Framework prepared in compliance with Turkish Commercial Code and Capital Markets 
Board’s (CMB) Communiqué on Financial Reporting Principles in the Capital Markets (II-14.1), 
Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1) and CMB’s related policy decisions, in accordan-
ce with the CMB regulations;

a)	 Has been reviewed by us, and
b)	 Based on the information we possess within the scope of our duties and responsibilities in 

the Company, the annual report, CGIF, CGCR and Sustainability Principles Harmonization 
Framework do not contain any incorrect statement or any omission of material facts that 
may result in misleading conclusion as of the date of issuance, and

c)	 Based on the information we possess within the scope of our duties and responsibilities 
in the Company, the annual report honestly reflects the development and performance of 
the business and the financial situation of the enterprise, together with the significant risks 
and uncertainties it faces.

Regards, 

Audit Committee 
Member

Dr. Rüya ESER

Audit Committee Chair
Ülkü Feyyaz TAKTAK

General Manager
Onur TOPAÇ

Annual Report 
Statement of 
Responsibility
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Independent 
Audit 
Company’s 
Opinion on the 
Compliance 
of the Annual 
Report

Independent 
Audit Company’s 
Opinion on the 
Compliance 
of the Annual 
Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

To the General Assembly of Inveo Yatırım Holding Anonim Şirketi

 1) Opinion 
We have audited the annual report of Inveo Yatırım Holding Anonim Şirketi (“Company”) for the 
accounting period of 01.01.2022-31.12.2022. 

In our opinion, the financial information provided in the annual report of the Board of Direc-
tors and the discussions made by the Board of Directors on the situation of the Company are 
presented fairly and consistent, in all material respects, with the audited full set financial state-
ments and the information we obtained during the audit.

2) Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our independent audit in accordance with Independent Auditing Standards 
(InAS) which are part of the Turkish Auditing Standards as issued by the Public Oversight, Ac-
counting and Auditing Standards Authority of Türkiye (POA). Our responsibilities under those 
Standards are further described in the “Independent Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Inde-
pendent Audit of the Annual Report” section of our report. We hereby declare that we are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent Auditors 
(“Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements which are set out in the legislation concerning 
independent auditing. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Ethical Rules and the legislation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

3) Our Auditor’s Opinion on the Full Set Financial Statements 
We have expressed an unqualified opinion in our auditor’s report dated 14.02.2023 on the full 
set financial statements of the Company for the accounting period of 01.01.2022-31.12.2022. 

4) The Responsibility of the Board of Directors on the Annual Report
The Company’s Management is responsible for the following in accordance with Articles 514 
and 516 of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”) and the Capital Markets Board’s 
“Communiqué on Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” with no. II.14.1 (“Com-
muniqué”): 
 

4) The Responsibility of the Board of Directors on the Annual Report (Continued)
a) Preparation of the annual report within the first three months following the balance sheet 
date and submission of the annual report to the general assembly. 
b) Preparation and fair presentation of the annual report; reflecting the operations of the Com-
pany for the year, along with its financial position in a correct, complete, straightforward, true 
and honest manner. In this report financial position is assessed in accordance with the finan-
cial statements. The Company’s development and the risks that the Company may probably 
face are also pointed out in this report. The assessments of the Board of Directors in regards 
to these matters are also included in the report. 
c) The annual report also includes the matters below: 

- the significant events that occurred at the Company following the end of the fiscal year, 
- the Company’s research and development activities, 
- financial benefits such as salaries, bonuses, premiums and allowances, travel, accom-
modation and representation expenses, benefits in cash and in kind, insurance and similar 
guarantees paid to members of the Board of Directors and senior management. 

When preparing the annual report, the board of directors takes into account the secondary 
legislative arrangements published by the Ministry of Customs and Trade and related institu-
tions. 

5) Independent Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Independent Audit of the Annual 
Report 
Our aim is to express an opinion and prepare a report including our opinion, in accordance 
with provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code, on whether the financial information provid-
ed in this annual report and the discussions of the Board of Directors are presented fairly and 
consistent with the Company’s audited financial statements and the information we obtained 
during the independent audit. 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the TSAs. These standards require compliance 
with ethical provisions and the independent audit to be planned and conducted to obtain 
reasonable assurance on whether the financial information provided in the annual report and 
the evaluations of the Board of Directors are free from material misstatement and consistent 
with the financial statements and findings obtained during the audit. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Nihat 
Yıldırım.
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Summary 
Financial 
Information for 
the Five-Year 
Period

31.12.2018 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2022

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

7,247 30,125 23,675 22,294 1,096,928

Financial Investments 118,559,029 202,948,915 768,553,427 1,189,565,987 3,964,648,227

Total Assets 118,635,237 205,641,679 771,160,344 1,224,340,260 4,310,084,911

  

Borrowings 25,413,531 20,195,002 32,002,979 17,551,741 660,925,057

Shareholders' Equity 63,949,350 167,278,668 705,153,213 1,165,381,614 3,209,471,459

Net Profit for the Period 25,235,230 83,763,532 537,876,334 327,130,472 1,971,460,542

Total Liabilities and Equity 118,635,237 205,641,679 771,160,344 1,224,340,260 4,310,084,911

  

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 32,373,381 102,218,856 565,633,024 343,491,230 2,071,249,968

Tax (Expense)/Income -7,138,151 -18,455,324 -27,756,690 -16,360,758 -99,789,426

Net Profit/(Loss) for the 
Period

25,235,230 83,763,532 537,876,334 327,130,472 1,971,460,542

At the Company’s General Assembly meeting held on March 25, 2022, it has been unani-
mously decided that, from the net period profit of TL 327,130,472.00 as calculated according 
to the CMB for the accounting period ending on 31 December 2021, TL 4,000,000.00 will be 
reserved as venture capital fund in accordance with VUK Article 325/A, and the remaining 
amount will be TL 323,130,472.00. Of this amount TL 4,000,000.00 will be reserved as venture 
capital fund in accordance with VUK Article 325/A and the remaining TL 296,689,735.37 will 
be reserved as extraordinary reserves, and the final remaining amount of TL 292,689,735.37, 
which reflects the net period profit as registered in legal records, will be reserved as extraor-
dinary reserves, and that no dividends will be distributed.

Use of 2021 Net 
Profit

Changes Made 
in the Articles 
of Association 
During the 
Period

Buyback 
Program Led 
During the 
Period

Approval to increase the registered capital ceiling of the company from TL 250,000,000 
to TL 500,000,000 was granted at the 2021 Ordinary General Assembly meeting held on 
25.03.2022 after obtaining the necessary permissions from the CMB and the TR Ministry of 
Commerce regarding amendment of Article 7 of the Company’s articles of association titled 
“Capital and Shares”. This Articles of Association amendment was registered on 01.04.2022 
and published in TTRG.

The Company’s capital had been increased to TL 96,000,000 pursuant to the resolution of 
our Company’s Board of Directors dated 27.04.2022, and it has been decided to increase 
the issued capital of the Company to 240,000,000 TL, with an increase of 144,000,000 TL, 
of which 122,755,970.04 TL to be covered by the proceeds from sale of participation shares 
and 21,244,029.96 TL to be covered by emission premiums. The final version of article 7 on 
capital of the Company’s Articles of Association, which was amended after the required 
permissions for the capital increase in question had been obtained, was registered by the 
Istanbul Trade Registry Office on 28.06.2022 and announced in TTRG.

The maximum number of shares that can be bought back under the buyback program, 
which was initiated by our company pursuant to the decision taken at the Board of Directors 
meeting dated February 4, 2022, has been determined as 1,650,000 and the fund to be 
allocated for the buyback is TL 50 million. Within the scope of this buyback program, com-
pany shares were bought back by using a fund of TL 44,042,011 with a nominal value of TL 
1,618,979 between February 4, 2022 and August 18, 2022. Our company has sold all of the 
shares it bought under the program, and a profit of TL 72,634,464.12 has been obtained from 
this sale transaction. Pursuant to the decision taken on December 30, 2022, our company 
canceled 31,021 shares and TL 5,957,989 TL of funds which were not used within the buy-
back limit set for the buyback program.

The profit distribution policy of the company is determined within the framework of the 
Capital Markets Legislation, provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code and Main Articles 
of Association; a balanced and consistent policy is adopted between the shareholders and 
company interests in accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles. To the extent 
allowed by applicable regulations and financial circumstances, the net distributable peri-
od profit calculated according to the Capital Markets Regulations will be distributed to our 
shareholders as cash dividends and/or stock dividends by taking into account our long-term 
company strategy, investment and financing policies, profitability and cash flows. Within the 
scope of the Capital Markets Board regulations, taking into account the development and 
growth targets of the Company, our dividend policy as a publicly traded partnership is re-
viewed annually by our Board of Directors and submitted to the General Assembly for ap-
proval. The Company’s profit distribution is carried out in accordance with the Turkish Com-
mercial Code and the CMB and within the legal deadlines. No privileges are stipulated in the 
Main Articles of Association concerning the profit sharing. According to the Company’s Arti-
cles of Association, the Board of Directors may distribute advance dividends, provided that 
it is authorized by the General Assembly and complies with the Capital Markets Regulations.

Dividend 
Distribution 
Policy
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Changes 
Occurring from 
the Period-End 
to the Issuance 
of the Report

At the Board of Directors meeting held on January 9, 2023, it has been decided that a corpo-
rate leasing service company wholly owned by Company will be established with a capital of 
TL 20,000,000, and that 1/4 of the nominal value of the shares promised in cash will be paid 
before the registration of the company, and the remaining part of the shares promised in cash 
will be paid within 24 months following the registration of the company. As per the decision, 
TL 5,000,000 of the promised amount has been paid, and Inveo Car Rental Services Anonim 
Şirketi has been registered in the Trade Registry as of 12 January 2023. 

The Company’s variable interest financing bonds issued on January 25, 2023 with a nominal 
value of TL 30,000,000, 364 days maturity, and single coupon payment, have been sold to 
domestic qualified investors within a total issuance ceiling of TL 500,000,000. 

Pursuant to the Board of Directors’ decision dated February 3, 2023, it was decided to transfer 
the Company’s entire shares in Aposto Teknoloji ve Medya AŞ (4.59% of the capital of which 
is owned by the Company) to Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (85% of 
which is owned by the Company) for a total price of TL 1,888,154. 

At the Company’s Board of Directors meeting dated February 14, 2023, it has been decided to 
initiate a buyback transaction at Borsa Istanbul with a maximum nominal value of TL 1,950,000 
(1,950,000 shares each with a nominal value of TL 1) and a maximum fund of TL 50,000,000 
to be used in order to stabilize the movements in INVEO shares depending on the market 
conjuncture, to prevent price fluctuations, contribute to a healthy pricing of the share and 
to safeguard the interests of our stakeholders, to set the length of the program as 3 years in 
accordance with the Capital Markets Board’s policy decision numbered i-SPK.22.7 (decision 
dated 14.02.2023 with number 9/177).

INVEO YATIRIM 
HOLDİNG ANONİM 

ŞİRKETİ  
CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO 

ENGLISH OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2022 

AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)

To the General Assembly of Inveo Yatırım Holding Anonim Şirketi

A) Audit of the Financial Statements

1) Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Inveo Yatırım Holding Anonim Şirketi, (the “Company”) which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss, statement of other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and the notes 
to the financial statements and a summary of significant accounting policies and financial statement notes.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Turkish 
Accounting Standards (“TAS”).
 
2) Basis for Opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are part of Turkish 
Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (the “POA”). Our 
responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements” section of our report. We hereby declare that we are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
Ethical Rules for Independent Auditors (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in 
regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

3) Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. Key audit matters were addressed in the context of our independent audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
Fair Value of Financial Investments
As of 31 December 2022, the Company has a financial 
investment amounting to TL 3.888.501.827, which is 
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
investments consist of companies that have the potential 
to develop domestically and abroad. Accounting principles 
for financial investments in the financial statements are 
explained in detail in Note 2 and 4. As of 31 December 
2022, 90% of the Company’s total assets constitute 
the financial investments of the Company. Financial 
investments are an important issue for our audit since the 
valuation methods used contain important estimates and 
assumptions.

When designing the audit procedures of financial 
investments, the existence of financial assets was checked 
with supporting documents and information received from 
the other party.

Arithmatic controls were made regarding the valuation 
of financial assets. The valuation amounts of the shares 
traded at the stock exchange were reconciled with the 
Borsa Istanbul bulletin. 

Financial statements related to non-public shares were 
obtained and possible changes in their fair value were 
examined. 

As a result of the audit procedures we performed, the fair 
value of financial investments was found to be reasonable.

4) Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Company management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordan-
ce with TAS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows:

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material miss-
tatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance expressed as a result of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA is a high level of assurance 
but does not guarantee that a material misstatement will always be detected. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. 
Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain pro-
fessional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the overri-
de of internal control.

•	 Assess the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circums-
tances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosu-
res are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our independent auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Finansal tabloların açıklamalar dâhil olmak üzere genel sunumu, yapısı ve içeriği ile bu tabloların temelini oluşturan işlem 
ve olayları, gerçeğe uygun sunumu sağlayacak şekilde yansıtıp yansıtmadığı değerlendirilmektedir.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements re-
garding independence. We also communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We desc-
ribe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.



Inveo Annual Report 2022 95

Financial Status and Risk Management

94

B) Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements

1) In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the TCC, the auditor’s report on the early risk identification system 
and committee was submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors on 
14 February 2023.

2) No matter has come to our attention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of Turkish Commer-
cial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and that causes us to believe that the Company’s bookkeeping activities concerning the period 
from 1 January to 31 December 2022 period are not in compliance with the TCC and provisions of the Company’s articles of 
association related to financial reporting.

3) In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted the necessary explanati-
ons to us and provided the documents required within the context of our audit.

The name of the engagement partner who supervised and concluded this audit is Nihat Yıldırım.
                         
RSM Turkey Arkan Ergin Uluslararası Bağımsız Denetim A.Ş.
Member of RSM International

Nihat Yıldırım, SMMM
Partner
İstanbul, 14.02.2023

CONTENT		 PAGE(S)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	 96-97

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	 98

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	 99

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	 100-101

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.	 102-161

NOTE 1	 COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES	 102-103
NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	 103-119
NOTE 3	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	 119
NOTE 4	 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS	 119-129
NOTE 5	 BORROWINGS	 130
NOTE 6	 TRADE PAYABLES	 131
NOTE 7	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES	 131-132
NOTE 8	 PREPAID EXPENSES	 132
NOTE 9	 OTHER CURRENT ASSTES	 132
NOTE 10 	 TANGIBLE ASSETS	 133-134
NOTE 11 	 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS	 135
NOTE 12 	 PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	 136-137
NOTE 13 	 SHARE CAPITAL	 137-140
NOTE 14 	 REVENUE AND COST OF SALES	 140-141
NOTE 15 	 EXPENSES BY NATURE	 141
NOTE 16 	 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	 142
NOTE 17 	 FINANCIAL INCOME / EXPENSES	 142
NOTE 18 	 PROVISIONS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES	 143
NOTE 19 	 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX)	 143-146
NOTE 20 	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES	 147-151
NOTE 21 	 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS	 151-157
NOTE 22 	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES AND
                 	 EXPLANATIONS ON HEDGE ACCOUNTING)	 157-159
NOTE 23 	 EARNINGS PER SHARE	 160
NOTE 24	 OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY AFFECT THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
                 	 SIGNIFICANTLY OR MUST BE EXPLAINED FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
                	 TO BE CLEAR, INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE	 161
NOTE 25 	 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE	 161



Inveo Annual Report 2022 97

Financial Status and Risk Management

96

AUDITED FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

AUDITED FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

ASSETS Notes  

Current period
31 December

2022

Prior period
31 December

2021
   
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents  3-20 1,096,928 22,294
Financial investments  4-20 76,146,400 6,598,098
Other receivables   333,653,574 13,304,319
- Other receivables from related parties  7-20 330,644,082 13,198,988
- Other receivables from non-related parties  7 3,009,492 105,331
Prepaid expenses   79,792 5,036,511
- Prepaid expenses to related parties  8-20 - 5,000,000
- Prepaid expenses to non-related parties  8 79,792 36,511
Other current assets  9 240,639 397,609

   
Total current assets   411,217,333 25,358,831
     
NON CURRENT ASSETS     
Financial investments  4 3,888,501,827 1,182,967,889
Other receivables   9,799,746 14,859,978
- Other receivables from related parties  7-20 9,799,746 14,859,978
Right of use assets  11 315,094 806,468
Tangible assets  10 250,911 347,094
    
Total non-current assets  3,898,867,578 1,198,981,429
    
TOTAL ASSETS  4,310,084,911 1,224,340,260

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Notes

Current period
31 December

2022

Prior period
31 December

2021
  
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Short term borrowings   660,724,827 17,144,701
-Liabilities from short term leases  5-20 296,642 309,878
-Other short term borrowings  5 660,428,185 16,834,823
Trade payables   414,888 180,813
- Trade payables to related parties  6-20 - 16,160
- Trade payables to non-related parties  6 414,888 164,653
Liabilities regarding employee benefits  12 781,624 427,007
Income tax liabilities  19 3,527,059 566,387
 Provisions   81,906 27,449
- Provisions related to employee benefits  12 81,906 27,449
Other payables   54,329,471 -
- Other payables to related parties  7-20 21,086,996 -
- Other payables to non-related parties  7 33,242,475 -
    
 Total current liabilities   719,859,775 18,346,357
     
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Long term borrowings  5-20 200,230 407,040
- Liabilities from long term leases   200,230 407,040
Other payables   243,882,572 -
- Other payables to related parties  7-20 134,556,745 -
- Other payables to non-related parties  7 109,325,827 -
Long term provisions   301,064 83,028
- Provisions related to employee benefits  12 301,064 83,028
Deferred tax liability  19 136,369,811 40,122,221
    
Total non-current liabilities   380,753,677 40,612,289
     
EQUITY     
Equity held by parent  3,209,471,459 1,165,381,614
Paid-in capital  13 240,000,000 96,000,000
Reacquired shares  13 (35,957) (16,000)
Share premiums  13 45,884,072 67,128,102
Accumulated other comprehensive income and expenses that will not be reclassified 
under profit or loss  13 7,081 12,236
 - Defined benefit plans remeasurement losses   7,081 12,236
Legal reserves  13 35,510,072 35,474,115
Retained earnings 13 916,645,649 639,652,689
Net profit of the period  1,971,460,542 327,130,472
    
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  4,310,084,911 1,224,340,260
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PROFIT AND LOSS Notes

Current Period
1 January -

31 December
2022

Prior Period
1 January -

31 December
2021

Revenue 14 98,657,439 166,062,685
Cost of sales (-) 14 (13,017,188) (68,130,825)
GROSS PROFIT 85,640,251 97,931,860

General administrative expenses (-) 15 (21,757,610) (9,421,080)
Marketing expenses (-) 15 (825,823) (202,829)
Other operating income 16 2,035,138,375 263,331,104
Other operating expenses (-) 16 (13,604,167) (6,704,750)
OPERATING PROFIT / LOSS 2,084,591,026 344,934,305

Financial income 17 42,398,204 52,059
Financial expenses (-) 17 (55,739,262) (1,495,134)
PROFIT/ LOSS BEFORE TAX 2,071,249,968 343,491,230

Tax income / (expense) 
Corporate tax expense (-) 19 (3,540,547) (9,211,374)
Deferred tax income / (expense) 19 (96,248,879) (7,149,384)

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 1,971,460,542 327,130,472

Earnings/loss per share 23 8.2144 1.3630

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified in profit or (loss)
Defined benefits plans remeasurument (losses) / gain 12 (6,444) 8,668
   Tax expense related to other comprehensive income 
not to be reclassified under profit or loss 19 1,289 (1,734)
OTHER COMPHERENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) (5,155) 6,934

TOTAL COMPHERENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) 1,971,455,387 327,137,406

Comprehensive income/expense per share 23 8.2144 1.3631

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUDITED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)
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AUDITED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2022 
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

Notes

Current Period
1 January -

31 December
2022

Prior Period
1 January -

31 December
2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 389,891,391 28,701,463
  
Net profit for the period  
Profit for the period from continuing operations  1,971,460,542 327,130,472

Adjustments to reconcile net profit (1,830,183,725) (315,537,877)
Adjustment for depreciation and amortization expenses 10-11 529,426 424,567
Adjustment for provisions 12 263,623 101,843
Adjustments for provisions/(reversals) regarding employee benefits 263,623 101,843
Adjustments for interest (income)/expenses 42,737,200 (14,724,114)
Adjustments for interest income 14 (12,926,605) (16,084,883)
Adjustments for interest expenses 17 55,663,805 1,360,769
Adjustment for gain/(loses) on fair value 16 (1,973,039,600) (254,185,025)
Adjustments related to fair value losses / (gains) on issued financial instruments 47,132,039 -
Adjustments for fair value increase/(decrease) of financial assets (2,020,171,639) (254,185,025)
Adjustment for tax expense 19 99,789,426 16,360,758
Adjustments related to losses / (gain) arising from disposal of associate, joint venture and 
financial investments or changes in their shares 14 (463,800) (63,515,906)

Changes in working capital 236,267,844 10,408,470
Decrease (increase) in financial investments (65,650,108) 15,244,493
Adjustments related to increase/(decrease) in other receivables (2,904,161) (94,931)
Decrease (increase) in other receivables from non-related parties (2,904,161) (94,931)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 4,956,719 (5,036,511)
Adjustments related to increase/(decrease) in trade payables 234,075 18,447
(Increase)/decrease in trade payables to related parties (16,160) (90)
(Increase)/decrease in trade payables to non-related parties 250,235 18,537
Increase (decrease) in payables regarding employee benefits 354,617 369,219
Adjustments related to increase/(decrease) in other payables 298,212,043 (56,505)
Decrease (increase) in other payables to related parties 155,643,741 -
Decrease (increase) in other payables to non related parties 142,568,302 (56,505)
Adjustments related to other decrease in working capital 1,064,659 (35,742)

Net cash generated from operations 12,346,730 6,700,398
Interest received 12,926,605 16,084,883
Tax returns/(payments) 19 (579,875) (9,384,485)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes

Current Period
1 January-

31 December
2022

Prior Period
1 January-

31 December
2021

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,001,177,361) (145,063,190)
Cash inflows from disposal that do result in loss of control of subsidiaries 7,462,188 -
Cash inflows from disposal that do not result in loss of control of subsidiaries 6,018,800 131,502,430
Cash outflows related to acquisitions that will aimed at gaining control of 
subsidiaries (65,250,000) -
Cash outflows related to additional share acquires of subsidiaries (460,465,344) -
Cash inflows due to Subsidiaries and/or Joint Ventures share disposal or capital 
decrease 4 - 144,301
Cash outflows due to subsidiaries and/or joint ventures share acquisition or capital 
increase (176,562,337) (250,202,853)
Cash outflows due to subsidiaries and/or joint ventures capital advance (301,104,792) -
Cash inflows from the sale of tangible and intangible assets 4,194 -
Cash inflows from sale at selling tangible assests 4,194 -
Cash outflows from purchases of tangible and intangible assets - (377,122)
Cash outflows from purchases of tangible assets 10 - (377,122)
Cash advances and payables given (11,280,070) (26,129,946)
Cash advances and payables given to related parties (11,280,070) (26,129,946)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 612,360,604 116,360,346
Cash inflows from capital advances - 133,090,995
Cash outflows related from the acquisition of the Entity's own shares and other 
equity-based instruments (44,042,010) -
Cash outflows arising from the acquisition of the Entity's own shares (44,042,010) -
Cash inflows related from the sale of the Entity's own shares and other equity-based 
insturments 116,676,468 -
Cash inflows arising from the sale of the Entity's own shares 116,676,468 -
Cash inflows from borrowings 612,455,900 16,702,000
Cash inflows from debt securities issued 612,455,900 16,702,000
Cash outflows related to repayments of debt (16,702,000) (31,870,000)
Cash outflows from repayment of debt securities issued (16,702,000) (31,870,000)
Cash outflows from lease contracts (366,375) (202,290)
Interest paid (55,661,379) (1,360,359)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,074,634 (1,381)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 3 22,294 23,675
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 3 1,096,928 22,294
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 1	 COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

Inveo Yatirim Holding A.Ş. (“the Company”) was established on 12 March 1998 under the title of “Gedik Yatırım Ortaklığı”. In 
accordance with the Extraordinary General Assembly dated 27 August 2014, it has been resolved to convert the Company 
from an investment trust status into an investment holding and amend its title as “Gedik Yatirim Holding A.Ş.” The decision 
taken in the Extraordinary General Assembly was registered on 11 September 2014 and published in the Trade Registry Ga-
zette dated 17 September 2014 and numbered 8655. This title change was announced in Public Disclosure Platform. In the 
General Assembly dated 10 September 2020, it was decided to change the title of the Company to “Inveo Yatırım Holding 
A.Ş”. Aforementioned change was registered on 15 September 2020 and published on the Public Disclosure Platform on 17 
September 2020.

The purpose of the Company’s incorporation is to provide financial services, in respect of non-tax financial issues, in par-
ticular with regard to the regulated domestic and foreign financial markets, provided any investment services and activi-
ties specified in the Capital Markets legislation are excluded; to invest and conduct research on issues such as technical 
planning, programming, budgeting, projecting, financial and organization, company values, investing the companies that 
ability to profit from its assets, and the share certificates in which the capital companies that have the potential, investing in 
other securities, cash, precious metals and commodities, to participate in the capital and management of the companies 
that established or will be established and evaluate their investment, finance, organization and management issues in a 
collective structure and increase the reliability of the investment against economic fluctuations investing and operating 
in all kinds of movable and immovable properties Turkey or out of Turkey with the aim of ensuring that these companies 
develop in a healthy manner and in accordance with the requirements of the national economy and ensure their continuity 
and the commercial, industrial and financial investment initiatives for these purposes. In addition, the Company may issue 
all kind of borrowing instruments with the permission of Capital Markets Board within the framework of the Capital Markets 
Law and related legislations. Board of Directors of the Company has the authority to issue bonds, financing bills and other 
debt securities for an indefinite period in accordance with Article 31 of the Capital Markets Law. In this case, the provision 
of Article 506 of the Turkish Commercial Code shall not apply. 

The Company’s address is at Esas Maltepe Ofis Park Altaycesme Mah Camlı Sok. No:21 Kat:12 Maltepe/İstanbul.

As of 31 December 2022, the issued and paid-in capital of the Company is TL 240,000,000 (31 December 2021: TL 
96,000,000). Erhan Topaç is the controlling shareholder.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 27 April 2022, it was decided to increase the issued capital 
of TL 96,000,000 to TL 240,000,000, TL 122,755,970 of which is covered from the profits from the sale of financial invest-
ments shares, which are classified under the retained earnings, and TL 21,244,030 from the share premiums. Based on the 
relevant decision, an application was made to the Capital Markets Board on 6 May 2022. The aforementioned application 
was approved by the Capital Markets Board on 21 June 2022 and registered in the Trade Registry on 28 June 2022.

With the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 13 January 2022, the registered capital ceiling of the 
Company was increased from TL 250,000,000 to TL 500,000,000 and the Capital Market Board was applied as of 13 Janu-
ary 2022 for the increase in the capital ceiling. The application was approved by the Capital Markets Board as of 2 February 
2022 and registered in the trade registry as of 1 April 2022.

NOTE 1	 COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES (Cont’d)

The Company’s shares were offered to public on 13-15 April 1999. As of 31 December 2022, 99.90% (31 December 2021: 
99.90%) of the shares representing the Company’s capital are open to the public, 18.42% (31 December 2021: 18.43%) of 
these shares are actually in circulation on the Borsa Istanbul (BIST). The Company’s shares are traded under the reference 
GYHOL in the Close Monitoring Market since 16 September 2014. In accordance with the Board of Directors Decision dated 
8 December 2016 and numbered 388, it was resolved to apply to BIST for the transfer from the Close Monitoring Market to 
the Main Trading Market. This application was received positively at the meeting of the Stock Exchange Executive Board on 
6 March 2017, and the Company’s shares were allowed to be traded in the B Group on 8 March 2017. As of 1 October 2020, 
the Company continued to trade in the BIST Main Trading Market with the code “INVEO”.

As of 31 December 2022 the number of personnel enrolled in the Company was 23 (31 December 2021: 19).

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation

Basis of accounting standards applied

The accompanying financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) Commu-
nique Series No. II/ 14.1 in respect of “ Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” dated 13 June 2013 and numbered 28676 
published in the Official Gazette, in line with the Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) published and enacted 
pursuant to the provisions of Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Board (“POA”). Financial statements and 
footnotes have been presented in accordance with the “Examples of Financial Statements and User Guide” published by 
POA on 4 October 2022.

Principles of preparation of financial statements

The Company bases its accounting records on the principles and conditions issued by the CMB, the Turkish Commercial 
Code (“TCC”) tax legislation and the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Finance in the 
preparation of its statutory financial statements. Financial statements have been prepared in Turkish Lira on the basis of 
historical cost.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial investments measured at fair 
values, and have been prepared by reflecting the necessary adjustments and classifications in order to present the legal 
records in accordance with TAS.

Consolidation Exemptions

According to TFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, investment entity: 

(a)	 Obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing investment management services,
(b)	 Its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and
(c)	 Measures and evaluates the performance of its investments on a fair value basis
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)

Consolidation Exemptions (cont’d)

While the entity evaluates whether it meets the mentioned definition, it also considers whether it has the significant features 
of the investment entities mentioned below:

(a)	 Has more than one investment,
(b)	Has more than one investor,
(c)	 Has investors who are not related parties, and
(d)	Has partnership shares in the form of equity and suchlike shares

Since the Company meets the above requirements, it does not consolidate its subsidiaries. Instead, it measures invest-
ments in its subsidiaries and associates according to TFRS 10 by recognizing the changes in the fair value to the profit or 
loss.

Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements

The Company complies with the principles and conditions issued by the CMB, in effect commercial and legislation and the 
communiqués of the CMB in keeping the accounting records and preparing the statutory financial statements.

The financial statements of the Company are prepared comparatively with the previous period in order to enable the deter-
mination of the financial situation and performance trends. The Company has prepared the statement of financial position 
(balance sheet) as of 31 December 2022 and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
cash flow and change in equity for the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 2022, has been prepared comparati-
vely with the accounting period of 1 January-31 December 2021. If necessary, comparative information is restated in order 
to comply with the presentation of the current period financial statements.

Netting/Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported in the net amount when there is a legally enforceable right or when 
there is an intention to settle the assets and liabilities on a net basis or realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultane-
ously.

Going concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared by the on a going concern basis.

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of the Company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the financial statements, the results and financial 
position of the Company are expressed in TL, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company.

Approval of financial statements

The financial statements have been approved by the board of directors and authorized for publication on 
14 February 2023.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Significant changes in accounting policies and major accounting errors detected are applied retrospectively and prior pe-
riod financial statements are restated. Company did not have any changes in its accounting policies in 2022.

In the announcement dated 20 January 2022 made by the Public Oversight Authority, it was stated that the Entities appl-
ying to TFRS do not necessary to make any adjustments within the scope of TAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies in their financial statements as at 31 December 2021. Since the Public Oversight Authority has not made a new 
announcement regarding the application of inflation accounting, no inflation adjustment has been made in accordance 
with TAS 29 while preparing the summary financial statements dated 31 December 2022. 

Accounting policy changes resulting from the first application of a new TFRS are applied retrospectively or prospectively 
in accordance with the transitional provisions of that TFRS. Significant accounting errors (if any) identified are applied ret-
rospectively and prior period financial statements are restated. Changes in accounting estimates are applied in the current 
period if the change is made for only one period, and if it is related to future periods, both in the period when the change 
is made and prospectively.
 
The Company has applied the new and revised standards and interpretations that are in compliance with TAS and TFRS and 
effective as of 31 December 2022, which are related to its field of activity.

The new standards in force as of 31 December 2022 and the amendments and interpretations to the existing 
previous standards:

Amendment to TFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – Covid-19 related rent concessions Extension of the practical expedient  (effective 
as of 1 April 2021)
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont’d)

The standarts, changes and comments  that have been published as of 31 December 2022 but have not yet entered 
into force (cont’d): 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, some concessions for rent payment have been granted to lessees. In May 2020, the 
IASB published an amendment to IFRS 16 that provided an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether 
a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. On 31 March 2021, the IASB published an additional amend-
ment to extend the date of the practical expedient from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022. Lessees can elect to account for 
such rent concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease  modifications. In many cases, this will result in 
accounting for the concession as variable lease payments in the period(s) in which the event or condition that triggers the 
reduced payment occurs.

Narrow-scope amendments to TFRS 3, TAS 16, TAS 37 and some annual improvements to TFRS 1, TFRS 9, TAS 41 and 
TFRS 16;

It’s valid in annual reporting period which is start in 1 January 2022 or starting after this date.

-	 Changes has been made a TFRS 3 “Business Combinations” The canges made in business mergers; this change update 
a referance that made to conceptual framework regarding to financial report that doesn’t change accounting statute 
for TFRS 3.

-	 Changes has been made TAS 16 “Tangible Assets”; It prohibits a company from deducting revenue from the sale of 
manufactured products until the asset is ready for use from the amount of tangible assets. Instead, the Company will 
recognize such sales proceeds and the associated cost in profit or loss.

-	 Changes has been made TAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; this change specifies what 
costs the company will include when deciding whether to incur losses from a contract.

Annual improvements make little changes in TFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of Turkish Financial Reporting Standards”, IFRS 9 
”Financial Instruments”, IAS 41 “Agriculture” and illustrative examples of TFRS 16.

The standarts, changes and amendments that have been published as of 31 December 2022 but have not yet 
entered into force:

-	 The changes made TAS 1 “Application Notification 2” and narrow scope changes in TAS 8; It’s valid in annual reporting 
period which is start in 1 January 2022 or starting after this date. These amendments are intend to improve accounting 
policy disclosures and to help financial statement users distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and 
changes in accounting policies.

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont’d)

The standarts, changes and comments  that have been published as of 31 December 2022 but have not yet entered 
into force (cont’d): 

-	 TAS 12, The changes made regarding deferred taxes regarding assets and liabilities due to one transaction; It’s valid in 
annual reporting period which is start in 1 January 2023 or starting after this date. These amendments require compa-
nies to account for deferred tax on transactions that cause taxable and deductible temporary differences to occur in 
equal amounts when they are entered into the financial statements for the first time.

 

-	 TFRS 16, Sale and lease back transactions; It’s valid in annual reporting period which is start in 1 January 2024 or starting 
after this date. This amendments contain which is explaining sale and lease back rules how accounting after transac-
tion date a sale and lease back transaction in TFRS 16. Sale and lease back transactions consisting of floating rent pay 
which is not depend to an index or rate are likely to be affected.

-	 TAS 1, The change regarding long term liabilities which has contract condition; It’s valid in annual reporting period which 
is start in 1 January 2024 or starting after this date. This amendments, conditions which should be comply within 12 
months after reporting period explaining how affect classification of a liability.

-	 TFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts”; as amended in December 2021; It’s valid in annual reporting period which is start in 
1 January 2023 or starting after this date. This standart, replaces TFRS 4 which currently allows for a wide variety of 
aplications. TFRS 17 will fundementally change insurance contracts with all accounting of businesses which is editing 
ınvestment contracts which has participation feuture.

2.3 Changes in accounting estimates and errors

If the application of changes in the accounting estimates affects the financial results of a specific period, the accounting 
estimate change is applied in that specific period, if they affect the financial results of current and following periods; the 
accounting policy estimate is applied prospectively in the period in which such change is made. 

There is no significant change in accounting estimates for the accounting period from 1 January to 31 December 2022.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

The important accounting policies followed in the preparation of the financial statements are summarized below.

Recognition of revenue and cost

Company recognizes revenue when the goods or services is transferred to the customer and when performance obligation 
is fulfilled. Goods is counted to be transferred when the control belongs to the customer. 
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Recognition of revenue and cost (cont’d)

Company recognizes revenue based on the following main principles:

-	 Identification of customer contracts 
-	 Identification of performance obligations 
-	 Determination of transaction price in the contract 
-	 Allocation of price to performance obligations 
-	 Recognition of revenue when the performance obligations are fulfilled

The company recognizes a contract with a customer as revenue if all of the following conditions are met:

-	 The parties to the contract have approved the contract (in writing, orally or in accordance with other customary busi-
ness practices) and are committed to perform their respective obligations, 

-	 Company can identify each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred, 
-	 Company can identify the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred; 
-	 The contract has commercial substance, 
-	 It is probable that Company will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods or 

services that will be transferred to the customer. In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of consideration is 
probable, an entity shall consider only the customer’s ability and intention to pay that amount of consideration when it 
is due,

-	 In merger and acquisition transactions, the Company has determined the agreement of the parties and signing a share 
transfer agreement within one week following the reporting date, as the criterion for recording the service income as 
revenue and is accounted for in this context.

At the beginning of the contract, the Company evaluates the goods or services it has committed in the contract with the 
customer and defines each commitment to transfer to the customer as a separate performance obligation. The company 
also determines at the beginning of the contract whether it has fulfilled each performance obligation over time or at a 
certain point in time.

When another party is involved in the provision of goods or services to the customer, the Company determines that the 
nature of its commitment is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services personally (principal) or to 
mediate (agent) for these goods or services provided by the other party. It is principal if the company controls the specified 
goods or services before transferring those goods or services to the customer. In that case, when (or as long as it fulfills) its 
performance obligation, it recognizes the revenue equal to the gross amount of the price it expects to be entitled in return 
for the transferred goods or services. If the company acts as an intermediary in the provision of goods or services for which 
a performance obligation is determined by another party, it is in the position of an agent and does not reflect the revenue 
for the said performance obligation in the financial statements.

Accordingly, security purchase and sale gains/losses are recognized in the income statement on the date of the related 
sales order, and the related purchases and sales are shown gross in the income statement. Commission income from tran-
sactions with customer assets based on customer orders are accounted for under service income.

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Income and costs from marketable securities transactions

The Company’s revenue includes the sales of equity instruments and the sales of interest-bearing securities. The related 
purchase or carried costs (discounted cost of the financial asset) are shown in the “Cost of sales” account. Interests recei-
ved from government debt securities, Settlement and Custody Money Market and deposits are shown in “Interest Income”.

The differences arising from the period-end valuation of the trading securities in the portfolio are presented in the “Income/
(expenses) from main operations” items. The accrual basis, including the commissions received, is valid in the determina-
tion of the revenue.

Securities trading incomes/costs are recognized in the income statement on the date the related purchase-sale order is 
given.
 
Tangible assets

Tangible assets are presented with at their net values after deducting accumulated depreciation over their book values.

Depreciation is allocated using the straight-line method over the book values of tangible assets, taking into account their 
useful lives. The estimated useful lives of these assets are as follows:

Useful life
Motor vehicles 5 Years
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 6 Years

Normal maintenance and repair expenses incurred on a property, plant and equipment are recognized as an expense. 
Investment expenditures, which increase the capacity of the tangible asset and increase the benefit to be obtained from it 
in the future, are added to the cost of the tangible asset. Investment expenditures consist of cost elements such as expen-
ses that extend the useful life of the asset, increase the service capacity of the asset, increase the quality of the goods or 
services produced or reduce the cost. 
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

In case the carrying value of the property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet is higher than the estimated recove-
rable value, the value of the said asset is reduced to its recoverable value and the provision for impairment is associated 
with expense accounts. Evaluate at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that the impairment 
loss recognized in previous periods may no longer exist or may have decreased, and in case of such an indication, the 
recoverable amount of the related asset is estimated and the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the recoverable 
amount determined by the new estimates. canceled by being associated with income accounts. The carrying amount inc-
reased due to the reversal of the impairment loss cannot exceed the carrying amount that it would have reached had the 
impairment loss not been recognized for the asset in question in previous periods.

Gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined in accordance with the can-
ying amount of the asset and is recognized to the profit or loss and other comprehensive income statement.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

The Company classifies and recognizes its financial assets as “financial assets whose fair value difference is reflected on 
profit / loss”, “financial assets whose fair value difference is reflected on other comprehensive income” and “financial assets 
measured at amortized cost”.

The purchase and sale transactions of these financial assets are recorded according to the delivery date and are removed 
from the records.

The classification of financial assets is determined by the management in accordance with the market risk policies determi-
ned by the management, based on the purpose of the acquisition, and at the date of acquisition.

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets that are recorded at fair value except for initially 
than the fair market value, if at cost, including acquisition charges associated with the investment are shown.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the Company are part of a portfolio that is 
obtained for the purpose of profit from the fluctuations in the short-term price and similar factors in the market.
 

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently remeasured at 
their fair value. In determining the fair value, the best buy order waiting as of the balance sheet date is taken into conside-
ration. If the price formation which is the basis for the fair value is not realized within the active market conditions, it is ac-
cepted that the fair value is not determined reliably and the discounted value calculated according to the effective interest 
method is taken into consideration as the fair value. Gains and losses resulting from the valuation are included in the profit 
and loss accounts..

Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets held for the purpose of collecting the contractual cash flows or selling the financial asset where the cash 
flows of the assets represent only the principal and interest payments and are not defined as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss; Fair value differences are classified as assets that are reflected in other comprehensive income.

Such assets are valued at their fair values in the following periods. If the price formation which is the basis for the fair value 
is not realized within the active market conditions, it is accepted that the fair value is not determined reliably and the içeri-
sinde discounted value calculated according to the effective interest method is taken into consideration as the fair value.

Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
not recognized in the statement of income until or any other comprehensive income or expense to be reclassified in the 
loss.

When these financial assets are collected or disposed of, the accumulated fair value differences reflected in the sharehol-
ders’ equity are reflected to the income statement.

Interest or profit shares of financial assets are accounted for as interest income and dividend income.
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if the financial asset is held under a business model that aims at collecting 
contractual cash flows and the contractual provisions on financial assets result in cash flows that include interest payments 
on principal and principal balances on certain dates. Such assets are initially recognized at cost including the transaction 
costs. Subsequent to the recognition, the effective interest rate method is used for valuation with the amortized cost.

Trade receivables are financial assets measured at amortized cost, other than those held for trading or short term sales, 
from those created by the borrower. Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments that are not quoted in an active market. The above mentioned trade receivables are initially recognized at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method, with acquisition costs calculated to the extent that their fair value reflects their 
fair value. The fees paid and other similar expenses related to the assets received as collateral are not accepted as part of 
the transaction cost and are reflected in the expense accounts.

Measurement of expected credit loss provision

The measurement of expected credit loss provision for financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss is an area that requires the use of advanced models and significant assumptions about the future economic situation. 
A number of important decisions need to be taken to implement the accounting requirements for measuring expected 
credit losses. They are listed below:

-	 Determination of criteria for significant increase in credit risk
-	 Selection of appropriate models and assumptions to measure expected credit losses
-	 Determine the expected credit loss and the number and probability of prospective scenarios for each type of product / 

market
-	 Identify a similar set of financial assets for the purposes of measuring expected credit losses

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Marketable securities sold as part of repurchase agreement commitments (“repo”) are accounted for in the financial sta-
tements and liabilities to counterparties are presented as payables to customers. Marketable securities held as part of 
commitments to resale (“reverse repo”) are accounted for as funds loaned under marketable securities reverse repurchase 
agreements and accounted for under cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet. The difference between purchase and 
resale prices is accounted for as interest and amortized during the period of the agreement.

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Commercial and other receivables and loans that have fixed and determinable payments and are not traded in the market 
are classified in this category. Loans and receivables are shown by deducting the impairment from their discounted cost 
by using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalent

The nominal and book values of cash in cash in TL and deposits in banks are considered to have fair value. Time deposits 
in banks can be in the form of current accounts, or they can be in the form of time deposits as a part of the investment 
portfolio for return purposes.

The part of the difference between the sales and repurchase price of the securities purchased on the condition of a resale, 
which corresponds to the period according to the internal discount rate method, is classified in the “sales revenues” ac-
count in the income statement.

Trade receivables /payables

Receivables generated through various reasons on behalf of the Company are reclassified as Trade Receivables even if it’s 
short term. These receivables are temporarily generated commission and marketable security costs rather than the recei-
vables arising through sales of goods and services. Book values are accepted as fair value as their terms are short.

Payables generated through purchases of goods and services from suppliers are accounted as Trade Payables. As these 
payables are not rediscounted as their terms are short and not subjected to interest, as they are not financial transactions 
essentially.

Receivables arising from forwarding money sales to Takas Bank Money Market and debts from forwarding money purcha-
ses are evaluated with their fair values in the balance sheet as a result of being subjected to income and expense rediscount 
using the effective interest method. These are shown in the Financial Investments item as they are part of the Company’s 
investment portfolio.
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial liabilities

The Company’s financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified based on contractual regulations, the definition of 
a financial liability and an equity instrument. The contract representing the right in the assets remaining after all the debts 
of the Company have been deducted is a financial instrument based on equity. The accounting policies applied for certain 
financial liabilities and equity instruments are stated below.

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities whose fair value differences are reflected in profit or loss or other 
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized initially at fair value and are revalued at fair value at each 
balance sheet date. The change in fair value is recognized in the income statement. Net gains or losses recognized in the 
income statement also include the amount of interest paid for that particular financial liability.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, net of transaction costs are accounted for at fair value. Other financial lia-
bilities are subsequently measured by the effective interest rate method, with interest expense using the effective interest 
method and carried at amortized cost.

Effects of exchange rates changes

Transactions in foreign currency, at the exchange rate valid on the date of the transaction; monetary assets and liabilities in 
foreign currency were converted into Turkish lira at the foreign exchange buying rate of the Central Bank of the Republic of 
Turkey at the end of the period. Income and expenses resulting from the translation of foreign currency items are included 
in the income statement of the relevant period.

Borrowing costs

In the case of assets that require significant time to be ready for use or sale, borrowing costs that are directly attributable 
to their acquisition, construction or production are included in the cost of the asset until it is ready for use or sale. Financial 
investment income obtained by temporarily investing the unspent portion of the investment loan in financial investments 
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recorded in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Company has legal and constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and an outf-
low of resources embodying economic benefits will probably be required to settle the obligation, a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. Liabilities and assets that are due to past events and whose existence is not fully 
under control are not included in the financial statements and are not considered as contingent liabilities and assets, and 
are not included in the financial statements. (Note 18).

If the probable probability of outflow of resources with economic benefits for the items treated as contingent liabilities 
becomes probable, this contingent liability is included in the financial statements in response to the financial statements of 
the period in which the probability change occurs, except in cases where a reliable estimate cannot be made.

Employee benefits / Retirement pay liability

Defined benefit plans

The Company accounts for its obligations regarding severance pay and leave rights in accordance with the provisions of 
the “Turkish Accounting Standard for Employee Benefits” (“TAS 19”) and classifies them in the “Provisions for employee be-
nefits” account in the balance sheet.

According to the current labor laws in Turkey, the company is obliged to make a certain lump sum payment to the employe-
es who are dismissed due to retirement or resignation and for reasons other than the behaviors specified in the Labor Law. 
The provision for severance pay is calculated over the present value of the probable obligation under the Labor Law using 
certain actuarial estimates and reflected in the financial statements.

Defined contribution plans

The Company has to pay contributions to the Social Security Institution (Institution) in the amounts determined by law on 
behalf of its employees. These contributions are expensed on the date they are accrued.

The Company records the bonus as a liability and expense based on a method that takes into account the Company’s pro-
fitability, budget realization and performance criteria.
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Income tax

Corporate tax

Corporate tax is calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Procedure Law, and tax expenses other than this 
tax are accounted for in operating expenses.

Turkish tax legislation does not allow the parent company to file a tax return on its subsidiaries and affiliates. Therefore, 
provisions for taxes reflected in these financial statements have been calculated separately for all companies included in 
the full consolidation.

It is deducted when there is a legal right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities or if such assets and liabi-
lities are associated with income tax collected by the same tax authority.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the recorded values of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and their tax values, using the liability method. Provided that they are subject to the tax legislation of 
the same country and there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets from current tax liabilities, deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities can be mutually offset.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized 
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

Statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank deposits, and short-term investments with high liquidity that can be ea-
sily converted to a specific amount of cash, with a maturity of 3 months or less. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents 
in the cash flow statement; It is shown by deducting blocked deposit balances and interest accruals from the total cash 
and cash equivalents.

Share capital and dividends

Common shares are classified as equity. Dividends on common shares are reclassified as dividend payables by netting off 
from the retained earnings in the period in which they are approved and disclosed.

 

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Events after the balance sheet date

Events after the reporting period comprise any event between the statement of financial position date and the date of aut-
horization of the financial statements for publication, even if any event after the balance sheet date occurred subsequent 
to an announcement on the Company’s profit or following any financial information disclosed to public.

If there is evidence of such events as at the statement of financial position or if such events occur after the statement of 
financial position date and if adjustments are necessary, Company’s financial statements are adjusted according to the new 
situation. The Company discloses the post-balance sheet events that are not adjusting events but material.

Related parties

The Company’s related parties include organizations that can directly or indirectly control or significantly influence the 
other party through shareholding, contractual rights, family relations or similar means. In the accompanying financial sta-
tements, the shareholders of the Company and the companies owned by these shareholders, their key management per-
sonnel and other companies known to be related are defined as related parties.

The party is deemed to be related to the Company if one of the following criteria exists:

i)	 Through one or more intermediaries of the said party, directly or indirectly:

-	 Controlling the Company, being controlled by the Company or
-	 Under common control with the Company (including parent companies, subsidiaries and subsidiaries in the same 

line of business);
-	 Having a stake in the company that will enable it to have significant influence; or has joint control over the Company;

ii) 	 The party is an affiliate of the Company;
iii)	 The party is a joint venture in which the Company is a venture;
iv) 	The part is member of the key management personnel of the Company as its parent;
v) 	 The party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);
vi) 	The party is an entity that is controlled or significantly influenced by, or foe which significant voting power in such 

entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or;
vii) 	The party, which is a related party of the group or a business entity’s employee benefit plans are post-employment 

should be provided in.

Related party transactions with related parties, regardless of resources, services or obligations, whether or not for a consi-
deration of transfers.
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NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

TFRS 16 Leases

The Company leases various offices and vehicles. Lease agreements are usually made for various fixed periods but may 
have extension options as described below. Rental terms can be negotiated individually and include a wide variety of 
different terms and conditions. Lease agreements are not subject to any contracts, but leased assets cannot be used as 
guarantees for borrowing purposes.

Until 2018, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as finance leases or operating leases. Payments made 
under the operational lease (net of any incentives received from the lessee) are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. As of January 1, 2019, leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a related liability on the 
date the leased asset is available for use by the Company. Each lease payment is split between the liability and the cost of 
financing. The cost of financing is recognized in profit or loss over the lease term to generate a fixed interest rate on the 
remaining balance of the loan for each period. A right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 
the asset’s useful life or the lease term.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net pre-
sent value of the following lease payments:

-	 Fixed payments (including in-item fixed payments), minus rent incentives receivables,
-	 Variable rental payments depending on index or rate,
-	 Amounts expected to be paid by the lessee under the residual value guarantee,
-	 The price of a put option if the lessee will exercise the option,
-	 If the rental agreement reflects the tenant using this option, the payment of penalties for terminating the rental agree-

ment.

Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate applied to the lease. If this rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s 
alternative borrowing rate is used as the rate at which the lessee would have to borrow the funds needed to acquire an 
asset of similar value under similar terms and conditions in a similar economic environment.

Right of use assets are measured at cost using:

-	 Initial measurement amount of the lease liability,
-	 Rent payments made on or before the start date, minus rental incentives received,
-	 Initial direct costs,
-	 Restoration costs.

Payments related to short-term finance leases and leases of low value assets are recognized as an expense recognized on 
a straight-line basis through profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low value 
assets consist of IT equipment and small office furniture.

NOTE 2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

2.5 Significant accounting judgements estimates and assumptions 

Preparation of financial statements requires the usage of estimations and assumptions which may affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and reported 
amounts of income and expenses during the financial period. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the 
best judgment and knowledge of management, actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. In addi-
tion, important accounting evaluations, estimates and assumptions that need to be specified are explained in the related 
notes.

NOTE 3	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the cash and cash equivalents of the Company are as follows:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Cash at banks 1,096,928 22,294
Demand deposits (*) 1,096,928 22,294

  
1,096,928 22,294

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the short term financial investments of the Company are as follows: 

Short term financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Private sector bills and bonds (*) 68,573,072 2,171,657
Investment funds (*) 7,573,328 4,426,441

  
76,146,400 6,598,098
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the long term financial investments of the Company are as follows: 

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Long term financial assets measured at fairvalue through 
profit or loss Rate (%) Amount Rate (%) Amount

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. (1) 84.87% 3,154,301,747 43.04% 867,767,452
Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (Formerly named Inveo  
Yatırım Bankası A.Ş.) (2) 76.999% 413,240,158 74.999% 224,997,000
Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (3) 85.00% 146,020,661 - -
Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. (4) 100.00% 37,883,372 100.00% 17,160,705
Inveo Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. (5) 100.00% 34,278,572 100.00% 21,848,997
Bv Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık ve Organizasyon 
Hizmetleri A.Ş. (7) 20.50% 28,652,409 20.00% 6,000,000
Detay Danışmanlık Bilgisayar Hizmetleri Sanayi Dış Ticaret A.Ş. (6) 5.50% 28,635,898 5.50% 11,792,631
Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. (8) 100.00% 18,998,065 100.00% 6,865,404
ICHAIN Yatırım Holding A.Ş. (9) 100.00% 10,000,000 - -
Hivc Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (10) 9.80% 6,539,341 9.80% 3,870,278
Novel Scala Basılı Yayın ve Tanıtım Ticaret Sanayi A.Ş. (11) 55.00% 3,721,492 55.00% 3,865,877
Hub Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (12) 0.45% 2,214,467 0.45% 1,227,150
Aposto Teknoloji ve Medya A.Ş. (13) 4.59% 1,888,154 4.59% 897,400
Devexperts Teknoloji Yazılım Geliştirme A.Ş. (14) 9.99% 841,295 9.99% 6,194,498
Albila Serum Biyolojik Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (15) 1.21% 818,741 1.94% 818,741
Devexperts Bilgi Dağıtım Hizmetleri A.Ş. (16) 9.99% 267,455 9.99% 1,999,568
Bodrum Girişimcilik A.Ş. (17) 10.00% 200,000 10.00% 200,000
Hop Teknoloji A.Ş. (3) - - 15.50% 7,367,746
Inveo Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. (18) - - 100.00% 94,442

3,888,501,827 1,182,967,889

(*) The details of cash and cash equivalents and securities belonging to related parties are explained in Note 20.
 

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

(1) At the Company’s Board of Directors meeting dated 28 January 2015 and numbered 335, it was decided to invest in company 
shares in the financial services, renewable energy, agriculture and food sectors by recourse to the report of the Company’s 
transformation from investment partnership to investment holding. The company acquires these financial assets within the fra-
mework of its investment policy in line with the Board of Directors decision dated 8 February 2016 and numbered 368, and has 
decided to evaluate it as a long-term investment. Following the completion of the conversion process, the Company used the 
market price of the relevant financial investment as “Level 1” for the fair value calculation of the relevant financial investment. As of 
31 December 2022, the related financial investment has been classified in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with the investment purpose and measurement basis.

The Company has reached an agreement with Hakkı Gedik to purchase the shares of Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş with 
a nominal value of TL 50,400,000 of the issued capital of TL 252,000,000 belonging to Hakkı Gedik, for a total price of TL 
235,000,000 (TL 4,663 per share) with deferred payments. An application was made to the Capital Markets Board regarding the 
purchase of shares as of 30 November 2021. The said application was positively received by the Capital Markets Board as of 6 
January 2022. Share transfer transactions were completed as of 11 January 2022, and the Company’s shareholding rate in Gedik 
Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş became 63.04% as of 11 January 2022.

The Company has reached an agreement with Erhan Topaç to purchase the shares of Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş 
with a nominal value of TL 54,991,547 of the issued capital of TL 252,000,000 belonging to Erhan Topaç, for a total price of TL 
225,465,344 (TL 4,10 per share) with deferred payments. An application was made to the Capital Markets Board regarding the 
purchase of shares as of 3 February 2022. The said application was positively received by the Capital Markets Board as of 10 Mar-
ch 2022. Share transfer transactions were completed as of 14 March 2022, and the Company’s shareholding rate in Gedik Yatırım 
Menkul Değerler A.Ş became 84.87% as of 14 March 2022.

The paid-in capital of Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., which was TL 252,000,000, was increased to TL 327,600,000, fully 
covered by previous year’s profits. As of 31 December 2022, the capital of Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. is TL 327,600,000.

Pursuant to the Board of Directors’ decision dated 30 September 2022, due to the extraordinary volatility-induced developments 
in the Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. Derivatives Market (VIOP), in order to continue its activities more vigorously and to ensure that the ne-
cessary working capital needs are met, pursuant to the authority given by Article 6 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the 
Company’s issued capital which was TL 327,600,000 was increased by TL 177,400,000 to TL 505,000,000 in fully covered by 
cash within the registered capital ceiling of TL 600,000,000, and that any restrictions were not placed on the right of the sha-
reholders to purchase new shares, and the shareholders were assured to use the right to purchase new shares at a price of TL 2 
for each share with a nominal value of TL 1 has been decided. Based on the aforementioned decision, an application was made 
to the Capital Markets Board on 17 October 2022.

Participation in the aforementioned capital increase and the increased capital amounting to TL 177,400,000, corresponding to 
the share of Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş., the controlling shareholder of the Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş., with a nominal value 
of TL 150,552,396, which currently corresponds to 84.87% of the capital is TL 301,104,792 was early paid by Company as capital 
advance (Note 20).

The Company received dividend income from Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. amounting to TL 64,158,744 in the accounting 
period from 1 January – 31 December 2022 (1 January - 31 December 2021: TL 12,913,207).
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

(2) At the Board of Directors dated 30 June 2021, it was decided to become a shareholder of 74.999 % and TL 224,997,000 
in the Investment Bank, which will be established with a capital of TL 300,000,000 of the Company. In this context, an 
application was made to the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency on 2 July 2021 to obtain the establishment permit 
of the investment bank, and the relevant application was approved by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency 
(“BRSA”) on 25 September 2021 and published in the Official Gazette. As of 14 December 2021, Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. has 
been registered by the Istanbul Trade Registry.and studies has begun to obtain an operating permit. As of 9 June 2022, the 
studies for the operating permit has been completed and an application has been made to the BRSA. The said application 
was welcomed with the decision of the BRSA, dated 15 December 2022 and numbered 10,437, which was published in the 
Official Gazette dated 16 December 2022 and numbered 32,045, and Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. was granted an operating 
license.

In order to further strengthen the capital structure of Inveo Yatırım Bankası AŞ before starting its banking activities, it 
has been decided by the Board of Directors of Inveo Yatırım Bankası AŞ to increase the capital of the Company by TL 
200,000,000 from TL 300,000,000 to TL 500,000,000. Based on the relevant decision, the necessary approvals for the 
completion of the capital increase process were obtained and then the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting of Inveo 
Yatırım Bankası A.Ş was held on 16 November 2022. The said General Assembly was registered in the Trade Registry on 18 
November 2022, and the Company’s capital reached TL 500,000,000. 

Pursuant to the decision of the Company’s Board of Directors dated 20 December 2022, 5,000,000 shares with a total 
nominal value of TL 5,000,000 which corresponds to 1% its shares of Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş., of which Company owns 
77,999% of the capital was decided to transfer to Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. with a price of TL 5,000,000. As a result 
of the related transfer, the Company’s share in Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. became 76.999%.

As a result of the negotiations between the Company, Papara Elektronik Para A.Ş. (“Papara”) and the other partners of Inveo 
Yatırım Bankası A.Ş., the shareholding agreement which Papara is planned to become a shareholder of Inveo Yatırım Ban-
kası A.Ş. with a partnership share of less than 10% was signed in 20 December 2022. According to the relevant contract, 
shares with a nominal value of TL 55,493,834 will be acquired by Papara for a price of TL 166,677,000 TL including emission 
premium, through participation in the capital increase and at the end of this transaction, Papara’s ownership rate in Inveo 
Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. will be 9.99%. When the said share issuance is completed and the necessary approvals are obtained and 
the capital increase process is completed, the paid-in capital of Inveo Yatırım Bankası AŞ will reach TL 555,493,834 and the 
share of the Company in Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. will be 69.31%.

It was decided to change the title of Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. to Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. with the decision of the board 
of directors dated 21 December 2022. Based on the relevant decision, all necessary approvals have been obtained from the 
BRSA. The relevant title change has been registered as of 26 December 2022.

The fair value of Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent institution 
using License valuation methods.

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

(3) At the Board of Directors dated 10 February 2022, it was decided that the Company would become a shareholder of 
85.00% and TL 55,250,000 in Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., which will be established with a capital 
of TL 65,000,000. In this context, an application was made to the Capital Markets Board on 18 February 2022 to obtain the 
establishment permission of Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., and the application was approved by 
the Capital Markets Board on 24 March 2022. As of 25 April 2022, Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. has 
been registered by the Istanbul Trade Registry.

Pursuant to the Board of Directors decision dated 18 May 2022, 523,125 shares of Hop Teknoloji A.Ş., of which the Company 
owns 15.50% of the capital was decided to transfer to Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. which of 
85.00% owned by the Company with a price of TL 7,367,746.

The fair value of Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an 
independent institution using Net asset value methods. 

(4) Shares of Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş.’s which held by Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş rate of 99.997% and other part-
ners rate of 0.002666% have been transferred to the Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. as of 4 February 2020 regarding permission 
of Capital Markets Board. At the Company’s 2020 ordinary general assembly meeting held on 12 April 2021, it was decided 
to change its trade name to “Inveo Portföy Yönetimi Anonim Şirketi”. The relevant trade name change was announced in the 
Turkish Trade Registry Gazette dated 22 April 2021 and numbered 10315. An application was made to the Capital Markets 
Board with the letter numbered 174 on 29 March 2022 with the request for the permission to increase the issued capital of 
Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş., which is TL 6,000,000 within the registered capital ceiling of TL 25,000,000, to TL 7,500,000 by 
increasing TL 1,500,000 by fully meeting from internal resources. The aforementioned application was positively received 
by the Capital Markets Board as of 13 April 2022, and the capital increase was registered by the Istanbul Trade Registry on 
25 May 2022.

The fair value of Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent institution 
using Multiplier analysis, Similar transactions and Book value method.

The Company received dividend income of TL 5,000,000 from Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. for the accounting period of 1 
January - 31 December 2022 (1 January - 30 September 2021:TL 2,500,000).

(5) Beta Investments AD, the subsidiary of the Company indirectly owned through Inveo Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme 
Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş, has updated its title as Finveo JSC as of 19 March 2021. In line with the board of directors’ decision 
taken on 25 March 2021 to be used in the capital increase of Finveo JSC, a capital advance of TL 5,670,665 was paid to Inveo 
Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. The aformentioned capital advance was made by Inveo Beta Ulusla-
rarası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. and the related capital increase has been registered in the trade registry gazette 
dated 8 June 2021 and numbered 10344.

The fair value of Inveo Beta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. as of 31 December 2022 has been determined 
by an independent institution using Net asset value methods.
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NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

(6) ) Based on the company’s decision on 24 February 2021, it has been decided to invest TL 10,200,774 to Detay Danışman-
lık Bilgisayar Hizmetleri Sanayi Dış Ticaret A.Ş. (“Detay Danışmanlık”). As a result of the related investment, the Company 
acquired a 5.50% stake in Detay Danışmanlık.

The fair value of Detay Danışmanlık as of 31 December 2021 has been determined by an independent institution using simi-
lar companies methods (31 December 2021: recent investment cost and similar companies methods).

(7) In line with the decision taken by the Board of Directors of the Company on 26 November 2020, it has been decided to 
invest TL 6,000,000 in BV Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri Anonim Şirketi (“BV Teknoloji”), 
and as of 6 January 2021, BV Teknoloji ‘s capital increase has been registered.

Pursuant to the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 5 August 2022, a total amount of TL 10,807,336 
has been participated in the capital increase of Bv Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“Bv 
Teknoloji”), of which TL 512,500 is deductible from the receivables. The related capital increase was registered as of 31 Au-
gust 2022. In addition, the Company made an additional investment of TL 575,000 in Bv Teknoloji.

The fair value of BV Teknoloji as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent institution using past tran-
sactions method (31 December 2021: recent investment cost method).

(8) Capital advance amounting to TL 5,600,000 was paid to Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. for 
to use capital increase of Finveo LTD (formerly named Gedik International Limited) which is owned by company indirectly 
via Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. regarding the Company’s Board of Directors decision taken 
on 22 September 2021. The aforementioned capital advance was used to capital increase which registered on 24 Septem-
ber 2021 of Finveo LTD.

Capital advance amounting to TL 9,200,000 was paid to Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. for to 
use capital increase of Finveo LTD which is owned by company indirectly via Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim 
ve Yatırım A.Ş.. The aforementioned capital advance was used to capital increase which registered on 28 January 2022 of 
Finveo LTD.

The fair value of Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. as of 31 December 2022 has been determined 
by an independent institution using Net asset value methods.

(9) At the Board of Directors dated 10 February 2022, it was decided to establish a company with a capital of TL 10,000,000 
with a capital of TL 10,000,000 in order to evaluate the opportunities that may arise in the field of crypto assets and decent-
ralized finance in the near future. In this context, the establishment procedures of ICHAIN Yatırım Holding Anonim Şirketi 
have been completed and it has been registered by the Istanbul Trade Registry Office as of 22 April 2022.

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

(10) At the company’s Board of Directors meeting dated 25 September 2020, it was decided to participate to Hivc Girişim 
Semayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“Hivc”) which will be established with TL 25,000,000 of capital with TL 3,712,500 with equals 
to 14.85% stake. Based on the relevant decision, an application was made to the Capital Markets Board of Turkey together with 
Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. for the establishment permission of Hivc as of 28 September 2020. The relevant applica-
tion was received positively by the Capital Markets Board on 12 November 2020. The establishment procedures of Hivc were 
completed as of 22 December 2020 and it was registered by the Istanbul Trade Registry Office.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company on 13 September 2021, it was decided to increase the issued capi-
tal of TL 25,000,000 to TL 37,878,790 by paying in cash, by an increase of TL 12,878,790. Based on the relevant decision, an 
application was made to the Capital Markets Board on 28 September 2021 with the request for the approval of the issuance 
document related to the decision. The request for the approval of the issuance document was found positive with the decisi-
on of the Capital Markets Board dated to 21 October 2021 and numbered 54/1559. The application regarding the fulfillment of 
the obligations to be fulfilled in accordance with the Board regulations was made on 4 November 2021, and this application 
was approved by the Capital Markets Board on 10 November 2021, and the capital increase was registered with the Istanbul 
Trade Registry on 18 November 2021. The Company did not participate in the related capital increase and its direct ownership 
of Hivc was 9.80%.

The fair value of Hivc as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent firm using the net asset value method 
(31 December 2021: adjusted net asset value method).

(11) Pursuant to the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 9 April 2020, it has been decided to take over 
5,000 number shares which one-quarter paid-up of Novel Scala Basılı Yayın ve Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. (“Novel Scala”). Based 
on the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 10 April 2020, it has been decided to pay Novel Scala’s capital 
commitment of TL 3,750 and to give Novel Scala a capital advance of TL 100,000. Pursuant to the decision of the Board of 
Directors of the Company dated 21 May 2020, based on the capital increase decision taken at the general assembly of Novel 
Scala on 21 May 2020, it was decided to acquire a participation in the increased capital of TL 50,000 by paying a nominal TL 
445,000 emission premium of TL 50,000. As a result of the aforementioned transactions, the Company invested a total of TL 
500,000 in Novel Scala.

The fair value of Novel Scala as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent firm using the similar compa-
nies method (31 December 2021: similar companies method).

The Company received dividend income of TL 679,012 from Novel Scala for the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 
2022 (1 January - 31 December 2021: None). 

(12) As of 21 March 2017, the Company sold 1,000,000 shares of Hub Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., at a price of TL 1.18, 
for TL 1,180,000. After this sale and other market making transactions, the total share of the Company in its subsidiary decreased 
from 28.81% to 23.57%. On 22 December 2017, the Company sold 2,000,000 of its shares to Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. for 
TL 2,340,000 at a price of 1.17 TL/share. From these sales transactions, the total share of the Company decreased from 23.57% to 
13.57%. Among these shares, there are also non-public shares with a nominal value of TL 90,000 and a cost value of TL 135,000. 
The Company sold 2,000,000 shares on 9 March 2018 at a price of 1.22 TL /share. From these sales transactions and market 
making transactions, the total share of the Company decreased from 13.57% to 3.77%. The Company sold the circulating shares 
of HUB Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. in 2019, and its share of 135,000 Group A shares fell to 0.45%.



Inveo Annual Report 2022 127

Financial Status and Risk Management

126

NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

It has been decided to increase the paid-in capital of Hub Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., which is TL 30,000,000, 
to TL 70,000,000 TL by increasing it by 133.33333% through a cash capital increase of TL 40,000,000. Based on the related 
decision, the Company participated in the aforementioned capital increase as TL 180,001.

(13) Pursuant to the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company on 10 June 2021, a participation in Aposto Teknoloji 
Medya A.Ş. (“Aposto”) with a share of TL 868,555 of 4.59%.

The fair value of Aposto as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent institution using past transacti-
ons methods (31 December 2021: recent investment cost and similar companies methods).

(14) In accordance with the Company’s Board of Directors Decision dated 18 January 2018 and numbered 425, participation 
in 4,995 registered shares corresponding to 9.99% of the total capital of Devexperts Teknoloji Yazılım Geliştirme A.Ş (“De-
vexperts Teknoloji”) decided. In this context, a payment of TL 4,995 was made for the purchase of shares and the capital of 
the subsidiary was registered.

The fair value of Devexperts Teknoloji as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent institution using 
similar companies methods (31 December 2021: recent investment cost and similar companies methods).

(15) With the Board of Directors Decision dated 26 January 2017 and numbered 393, the company has established the newly 
established Albila Serum Biyolojik Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (“Albila”), corresponding to 3% of its total capital, for a conside-
ration of TL 257,143. In this context, an advance payment of TL 77,143 was made to the affiliate for the purchase of shares, 
and the capital of the affiliate was registered. Albila operates in the production of serum. By participating in the capital 
increase realized on 22 March 2018, the company acquired 504,573 B group shares for a price of TL 138,231.5, and the total 
share in the company reached 513,640 (B group), and the participation rate was 2.57%. The Company did not participate in 
the capital increase decisions taken at the ordinary and extraordinary general assemblies of Albila held on 28 June 2021, 12 
January 2022 and 17 November 2022. As of 31 December 2022, the Company’s ownership of Albila was 1.21% (31 December 
2021: 1,94%).

(16) Pursuant to the Company’s Board of Directors Decision dated 19 January 2017 and numbered 391, it has been decided 
to purchase of Devexperts Bilgi Dağıtım Hizmetleri A.Ş.’s (“Devexperts Bilgi”) shares to be issued with a capital increase at a 
price of 500,000 USD at the exchange rate on the payment day, and to sign a contract with the company partners for the 
completion of the investment in three phases. Related payments were made on 26 January 2017 for USD 200,000 equi-
valent of TL 761,040, on 26 April 2017 for USD 200,000 for TL 717,860 and on 19 June 2017 for USD 100,000 for TL 351,240

The fair value of Devexperts Bilgi as of 31 December 2022 has been determined by an independent institution using similar 
companies methods (31 December 2021: recent investment cost and similar companies methods).

(17) Based on the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company on 8 June 2021, a 10% participation has been made in 
Bodrum Girişimcilik A.Ş. by investing TL 200,000. 

NOTE 4	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

(18) Inveo Delta was established with the title of GYHOL Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. in order to 
become a partner in international investment opportunities for capital markets and fin-tech in alternative geographies, to 
establish and invest. In the General Assembly dated 10 September 2020, the title of the Company was changed to “Inveo 
Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş.” and it was published in the Trade Registry Gazette dated 14 Septem-
ber 2020 and numbered 10159.

Pursuant to the Board of Directors decision dated 22 June 2022, 156,210 shares of Inveo Delta Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yö-
netim ve Yatırım A.Ş., of which the Company owns 100.00% of the capital was decided to transfer to ICHAIN Yatırım Holding 
A.Ş. which of 100% owned by the Company with a price of TL 156,210.
 
   



Inveo Annual Report 2022 129

Financial Status and Risk Management

128

N
O

TE
S 

TO
 T

H
E 

AU
D

IT
ED

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

 F
O

R 
TH

E 
YE

A
R 

EN
D

ED
 3

1 D
EC

EM
BE

R 
20

22
(A

ll 
am

ou
nt

s 
in

 T
ur

ki
sh

 L
ira

 (“
TL

”)
 u

nl
es

s 
in

di
ca

te
d 

ot
he

rw
is

e.
)

N
O

TE
S 

TO
 T

H
E 

AU
D

IT
ED

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

 F
O

R 
TH

E 
YE

A
R 

EN
D

ED
 3

1 D
EC

EM
BE

R 
20

22
(A

ll 
am

ou
nt

s 
in

 T
ur

ki
sh

 L
ira

 (“
TL

”)
 u

nl
es

s 
in

di
ca

te
d 

ot
he

rw
is

e.
)

IN
V

EO
 Y

A
TI

R
IM

 H
O

LD
İN

G
 A

N
O

N
İM

 Ş
İR

K
ET

İ

IN
V

EO
 Y

A
TI

R
IM

 H
O

LD
İN

G
 A

N
O

N
İM

 Ş
İR

K
ET

İ

N
O

TE
 4

	F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
IN

V
ES

TM
EN

TS
 (C

on
t’d

)

M
ov

em
en

ts
 o

f l
on

g-
te

rm
 fi

na
nc

ia
l i

nv
es

tm
en

ts
 b

y 
pe

rio
ds

 a
re

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

Lo
ng

 te
rm

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 fa
ir

 v
al

ue
 th

ro
ug

h 
pr

of
it 

or
 lo

ss
 

 1 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

22
 

 P
ur

ch
as

e 
of

 fi
na

nc
ia

l 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 

 P
ay

m
en

t o
f 

ca
pi

ta
l a

dv
an

ce
 

/ i
nc

re
as

e 
 S

al
e 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
fin

an
ci

al
 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
de

cr
ea

se
 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 
 3

1 D
ec

em
be

r 
20

22
 

G
ed

ik
 Y

at
ırı

m
 M

en
ku

l D
eğ

er
le

r A
.Ş

.
86

7,7
67

,4
52

46
0,

46
5,

34
4

-
-

1,8
26

,0
68

,9
51

-
3,

15
4,

30
1,7

47

M
is

yo
n 

Ya
tır

ım
 B

an
ka

sı
 A

.Ş
.(F

or
m

er
ly

 n
am

ed
 In

ve
o 

Ya
tır

ım
 B

an
ka

sı
 A

.Ş
.)

22
4,

99
7,0

0
0

-
16

5,
0

0
0,

0
0

0
(5

,0
0

0,
0

0
0

)
28

,2
43

,15
8

-
41

3,
24

0,
15

8

In
ve

o 
Ve

nt
ur

es
 G

iri
şi

m
 S

er
m

ay
es

i Y
at

ırı
m

 O
rt

ak
lığ

ı A
.Ş

.
-

55
,2

50
,0

0
0

-
-

90
,7

70
,6

61
-

14
6,

0
20

,6
61

In
ve

o 
Po

rt
fö

y 
Yö

ne
tim

i A
.Ş

.
17

,16
0,

70
5

-
-

-
20

,7
22

,6
67

-
37

,8
83

,3
72

In
ve

o 
Be

ta
 U

lu
sl

ar
ar

as
ı İ

ş 
G

el
iş

tir
m

e 
Yö

ne
tim

 v
e 

Ya
tır

ım
 A

.Ş
.

21
,8

48
,9

97
-

-
-

12
,4

29
,5

75
-

34
,2

78
,5

72

Bv
 T

ek
no

lo
ji 

İş
 G

el
iş

tir
m

e 
D

an
ış

m
an

lık
 v

e 
O

rg
an

iz
as

yo
n 

H
iz

m
et

le
ri 

A
.Ş

.
6,

0
0

0,
0

0
0

57
5,

0
0

0
10

,8
07

,3
36

-
11

,2
70

,0
73

-
28

,6
52

,4
0

9

D
et

ay
 D

an
ış

m
an

lık
 B

ilg
is

ay
ar

 H
iz

m
et

le
ri 

Sa
na

yi
 D

ış
 T

ic
ar

et
 A

.Ş
11

,7
92

,6
31

-
-

-
16

,8
43

,2
67

-
28

,6
35

,8
98

In
ve

o 
A

lfa
 U

lu
sl

ar
ar

as
ı İ

ş 
G

el
iş

tir
m

e 
Yö

ne
tim

 v
e 

Ya
tır

ım
 A

.Ş
.

6,
86

5,
40

4
-

-
-

12
,13

2,
66

1
-

18
,9

98
,0

65

IC
H

A
IN

 Y
at

ırı
m

 H
ol

di
ng

 A
.Ş

.
-

10
,0

0
0,

0
0

0
-

-
-

-
10

,0
0

0,
0

0
0

H
iv

c 
G

iri
şi

m
 S

er
m

ay
es

i Y
at

ırı
m

 O
rt

ak
lığ

ı A
.Ş

.
3,

87
0,

27
8

-
-

-
2,

66
9,

0
63

-
6,

53
9,

34
1

N
ov

el
 S

ca
la

 B
as

ılı
 Y

ay
ın

 v
e 

Ta
nı

tım
 T

ic
ar

et
 S

an
ay

i A
.Ş

.
3,

86
5,

87
7

-
-

-
-

(1
44

,3
85

)
3,

72
1,4

92

H
ub

 G
iri

şi
m

 S
er

m
ay

es
i Y

at
ırı

m
 O

rt
ak

lığ
ı A

.Ş
.

1,2
27

,15
0

18
0,

0
0

1
-

-
80

7,3
16

-
2,

21
4,

46
7

A
po

st
o 

Te
kn

ol
oj

i v
e 

M
ed

ya
 A

.Ş
.

89
7,4

0
0

-
-

-
99

0,
75

4
-

1,8
88

,15
4

D
ev

ex
pe

rt
s 

Te
kn

ol
oj

i Y
az

ılı
m

 G
el

iş
tir

m
e 

A
.Ş

.
6,

19
4,

49
8

-
-

-
-

(5
,3

53
,2

0
3)

84
1,2

95

A
lb

ila
 S

er
um

 B
iy

ol
oj

ik
 Ü

rü
nl

er
 S

an
. v

e 
Ti

c.
 A

.Ş
.

81
8,

74
1

-
-

-
-

-
81

8,
74

1

D
ev

ex
pe

rt
s 

Bi
lg

i D
ağ

ıtı
m

 H
iz

m
et

le
ri 

A
.Ş

.
1,9

99
,5

68
-

-
-

-
(1

,7
32

,11
3)

26
7,4

55

Bo
dr

um
 G

iri
şi

m
ci

lik
 A

.Ş
.

20
0,

0
0

0
-

-
-

-
-

20
0,

0
0

0

H
op

 T
ek

no
lo

ji 
A

.Ş
.

7,3
67

,74
6

-
-

(7
,3

67
,74

6)
-

-
-

In
ve

o 
D

el
ta

 U
lu

sl
ar

ar
as

ı İ
ş 

G
el

iş
tir

m
e 

Yö
ne

tim
 v

e 
Ya

tır
ım

 A
.Ş

.
94

,4
42

-
-

(9
4,

44
2)

-
-

-

1,1
82

,9
67

,8
89

52
6,

47
0,

34
5

17
5,

80
7,

33
6

(1
2,

46
2,

18
8)

2,
0

22
,9

48
,14

6
(7

,2
29

,7
0

1)
3,

88
8,

50
1,

82
7

  N
O

TE
 4

	F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
IN

V
ES

TM
EN

TS
 (C

on
t’d

)

Lo
ng

 te
rm

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 fa
ir

 v
al

ue
 th

ro
ug

h 
pr

of
it 

or
 lo

ss
 

 1 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

21
 

 P
ur

ch
as

e 
of

 fi
na

nc
ia

l 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 

 C
ap

ita
l 

ad
va

nc
e 

pa
ym

en
ts

 

 D
is

po
sa

l 
of

 fi
na

nc
ia

l 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
fin

an
ci

al
 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
de

cr
ea

se
 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 
 3

1 D
ec

em
be

r 
20

21
 

G
ed

ik
 Y

at
ırı

m
 M

en
ku

l D
eğ

er
le

r A
.Ş

.
71

8,
86

5,
59

0
-

-
(6

7,9
86

,0
0

0
)

21
6,

88
7,8

62
-

86
7,7

67
,4

52

M
is

yo
n 

Ya
tır

ım
 B

an
ka

sı
 A

.Ş
. (

Fo
rm

er
ly

 n
am

ed
 In

ve
o 

Ya
tır

ım
 B

an
ka

sı
 A

.Ş
.)

-
22

4,
99

7,0
0

0
-

-
-

-
22

4,
99

7,0
0

0

In
ve

o 
Be

ta
 U

lu
sl

ar
ar

as
ı İ

ş 
G

el
iş

tir
m

e 
Yö

ne
tim

 v
e 

Ya
tır

ım
 A

.Ş
.

87
4,

07
0

-
5,

67
0,

70
0

-
15

,3
04

,2
27

-
21

,8
48

,9
97

In
ve

o 
Po

rt
fö

y 
Yö

ne
tim

i A
.Ş

.
8,

97
7,

26
8

17
5,

34
4

-
-

8,
0

08
,0

93
-

17
,16

0,
70

5

D
et

ay
 D

an
ış

m
an

lık
 B

ilg
is

ay
ar

 H
iz

m
et

le
ri 

Sa
na

yi
 D

ış
 T

ic
ar

et
 A

.Ş
-

10
,2

0
0,

77
4

-
-

1,5
91

,8
57

-
11

,7
92

,6
31

H
op

 T
ek

no
lo

ji 
A

.Ş
.

-
2,

49
0,

48
0

-
-

4,
87

7,
26

6
-

7,3
67

,74
6

In
ve

o 
A

lfa
 U

lu
sl

ar
ar

as
ı İ

ş 
G

el
iş

tir
m

e 
Yö

ne
tim

 v
e 

Ya
tır

ım
 A

.Ş
.

5,
14

7,9
66

-
5,

60
0,

0
0

0
-

-
(3

,8
82

,5
62

)
6,

86
5,

40
4

D
ev

ex
pe

rt
s 

Te
kn

ol
oj

i Y
az

ılı
m

 G
el

iş
tir

m
e 

A
.Ş

.
30

4,
78

7
-

-
-

5,
88

9,
71

1
-

6,
19

4,
49

8

Bv
 T

ek
no

lo
ji 

İş
 G

el
iş

tir
m

e 
D

an
ış

m
an

lık
 v

e 
O

rg
an

iz
as

yo
n 

H
iz

m
et

le
ri 

A
.Ş

.
6,

0
0

0,
0

0
0

-
-

-
-

-
6,

0
0

0,
0

0
0

H
iv

c 
G

iri
şi

m
 S

er
m

ay
es

i Y
at

ırı
m

 O
rt

ak
lığ

ı A
.Ş

.
3,

71
2,

50
0

-
-

-
15

7,7
78

-
3,

87
0,

27
8

N
ov

el
 S

ca
la

 B
as

ılı
 Y

ay
ın

 v
e 

Ta
nı

tım
 T

ic
ar

et
 S

an
ay

i A
.Ş

.
50

0,
0

0
0

-
-

-
3,

36
5,

87
7

-
3,

86
5,

87
7

D
ev

ex
pe

rt
s 

Bi
lg

i D
ağ

ıtı
m

 H
iz

m
et

le
ri 

A
.Ş

.
39

,3
56

-
-

-
1,9

60
,2

12
-

1,9
99

,5
68

H
ub

 G
iri

şi
m

 S
er

m
ay

es
i Y

at
ırı

m
 O

rt
ak

lığ
ı A

.Ş
.

2,
45

7,0
0

0
-

-
-

-
(1

,2
29

,8
50

)
1,2

27
,15

0

A
po

st
o 

Te
kn

ol
oj

i v
e 

M
ed

ya
 A

.Ş
.

-
86

8,
55

5
-

-
28

,8
45

-
89

7,4
0

0

A
lb

ila
 S

er
um

 B
iy

ol
oj

ik
 Ü

rü
nl

er
 S

an
. v

e 
Ti

c.
 A

.Ş
.

81
8,

74
1

-
-

-
-

-
81

8,
74

1

Bo
dr

um
 G

iri
şi

m
ci

lik
 A

.Ş
.

-
20

0,
0

0
0

-
-

-
-

20
0,

0
0

0

In
ve

o 
D

el
ta

 U
lu

sl
ar

ar
as

ı İ
ş 

G
el

iş
tir

m
e 

Yö
ne

tim
 v

e 
Ya

tır
ım

 A
.Ş

.
94

,4
42

-
-

-
-

-
94

,4
42

74
7,

79
1,7

20
23

8,
93

2,
15

3
11

,2
70

,7
0

0
(6

7,
98

6,
0

0
0

)
25

8,
0

71
,7

28
(5

,11
2,

41
2)

1,1
82

,9
67

,8
89

 
 



Inveo Annual Report 2022 131

Financial Status and Risk Management

130

NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(All amounts in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless indicated otherwise.)

INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 5	 BORROWINGS

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the short term and long term borrowings of the Company are as follows: 

Current liabilities 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Liabilities from the issuance of debt instruments (*) 660,428,185 16,834,823
Liabilities from short term leases (**) 296,642 309,878

  
660,724,827 17,144,701

(*) Details of bonds issued as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

31 December 2022
Security code Nominal amount (TL) Issuance date Due date Interest  rate (%) Interest type

TRFGKYH92327 250,000,000 30 September 2022 28 September 2023 21.00% Fixed
TRFGKYHK2315 130,000,000 16 November 2022 15 November 2023 22.00% Fixed
TRFGKYH12325 118,000,000 26 January 2022 25 January 2023 18.00% Fixed
TRFGKYH12317 60,500,000 10 January 2022 9 January 2023 21.00% Fixed
TRFGKYH92319 50,000,000 13 September 2022 13 September 2023 18.00% Fixed
TRFGKYH72311 40,000,000 20 July 2022 19 July 2023 TL Ref Float

					   
31 December 2021
Security code Nominal amount (TL) Issuance date Due date Interest rate (%) Interest type

TRFGKYHA2218 20,000,000 15 December 2021 14 December 2022 19.80% Fixed

Long term borrowings 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Liabilities from long term leases (**) 200,230 407,040

200,230 407,040

(**) Details of liabilities from leases to related parties are explained in Note 20.

NOTE 6	 TRADE PAYABLES

Short term trade payables 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Trade payables 414,888 164,653
Trade payables to related parties (Note 20) - 16,160

414,888 180,813

NOTE 7	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the short term and long term other receivables of the Company are as follows:

Short term other receivables 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Other receivables from related parties (Note 20) 330,644,082 13,198,988
Other receivables 3,009,492 105,331

333,653,574 13,304,319

Long term other receivables 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Other receivables from related parties (Note 20) 9,799,746 14,859,978
  

9,799,746 14,859,978

Short term other liabilities 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Other receivables to non-related parties 33,242,475 -
Other receivables to related parties (Note 20) 21,086,996 -

  
54,329,471 -

Long term other liabilities 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Other receivables to related parties (Note 20) 134,556,745 -
Other receivables to non-related parties 109,325,827 -

243,882,572 -
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 7	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Cont’d)

Rediscount is applied to the Company’s other short-term and long-term payables to related and non-related parties. TRLI-
BOR interest rates announced on 31 December 2022 are used in the relevant rediscount calculation. The aforementioned 
interest rates are; 9.55% for debts with maturity up to 29 days, 9.55% for debts with maturity up to 59 days, 10.21% for debts 
with maturity up to 89 days, 10.78% for debts with maturity up to 179 days, 12.51% for debts with maturity up to 269 days, 
13.44% for debts with maturity up to 359 days and 14.04% for debts with a maturity of 360 and longer. As of 31 December 
2022, the total cash outflows that will occur until the end of maturity for the said debts of the Company; TL 180,000,000 for 
other payables to related parties and TL 160,000,000 for other payables to third parties.

NOTE 8	 PREPAID EXPENSES

Short term prepaid expenses 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Insurrance expense 79,792 36,511
Prepaid expenses to related parties (Note 20) - 5,000,000

79,792 5,036,511

NOTE 9	 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

VAT Receivables 166,454 348,706
Receivables from personnel 74,185 48,903

240,639 397,609

NOTE 10  TANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost value  Vehicles 
 Furniture and 

fixtures  Total 

Opening balance as of 1 January 2022 281,639 143,038 424,677
Disposals - (6,864) (6,864)

Closing balance as of 31 December 2022 281,639 136,174 417,813

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance as of 1 January 2022 (37,552) (40,031) (77,583)
Charge for the year (56,328) (35,661) (91,989)
Disposals - 2,670 2,670

   
Closing balance as of 31 December 2022 (93,880) (73,022) (166,902)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2022 187,759 63,152 250,911
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NOTE 11 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Cost Value Buildings Vehicles Total

Opening balance as of 1 January 2022 885,490 463,874 1,349,364
Changes based on contracts (62,016) (27,432) (89,448)
Disposals (138,467) - (138,467)

   
Closing balance as of 31 December 2022 685,007 436,442 1,121,449

Accumulated Amortization

Opening balance as of 1 January 2022 (429,726) (113,170) (542,896)
Charge for the year (183,157) (254,280) (437,437)
Changes based on contracts 29,162 6,349 35,511
Disposals 138,467 - 138,467

   
Closing balance as of 31 December 2022 (445,254) (361,101) (806,355)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2022 239,753 75,341 315,094

Cost Value Buildings Vehicles Total

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021 809,161 - 809,161
Additions 144,260 463,874 608,134
Changes based on contracts (67,931) - (67,931)

   
Closing balance as of 31 December 2021 885,490 463,874 1,349,364

Accumulated Amortization

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021 (202,290) - (202,290)
Charge for the year (244,418) (113,170) (357,588)
Changes based on contracts 16,982 - 16,982

   
Closing balance as of 31 December 2021 (429,726) (113,170) (542,896)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2021 455,764 350,704 806,468
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NOTE 12  PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term liabilities regarding employee benefits 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Tax payable 548,067 299,952
Social security premium payables 211,197 117,867
Payables to personnel 22,360 9,188

781,624 427,007

Short term provisions regarding employee benefits 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Provision for unused vacation 81,906 27,449

81,906 27,449

Long term provisions regarding employee benefits 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Provision for employee termination benefits 301,064 83,028

301,064 83,028

Provision for severance pay liability is set aside within the framework of the following explanations:

According to the Turkish Labor Law, the Company employs personnel who have completed one year and whose relati-
onship with the Company has been terminated or retired, who have completed 25 years of service (20 for women) and 
retired (aged 58 for women, 60 for men), called up for military service or passed away. liable to pay severance pay. After the 
legislative change on 23 May 2002, some transitional clauses regarding the length of service before retirement were issued.

Severance pay liability is not legally subject to any funding and there is no funding requirement.

The provision for severance pay is calculated by estimating the present value of the probable obligation to be paid in case 
of retirement of the employees.

TFRS requires actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the Company’s provision for severance pay. Accor-
dingly, the following actuarial assumptions were used in the calculation of the total liability:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Infulation rate 9.50% 17.22%
Interest rate 12.70% 21.25%
Discount rate 2.92% 3.44%

 

NOTE 12  PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Cont’d)

The basic assumption is that the ceiling provision for each year of service will increase in proportion to inflation. Thus, the 
discount rate applied represents the expected real rate after adjusting for the expected effects of inflation. The severance 
pay provision of the Company is calculated over TL 19,982.83 (1 January 2022: TL 10.848.59), which is effective as of 1 Janu-
ary 2023, since the severance pay ceiling is adjusted every six months.

The movements of provision for employment termination benefits during the period are as follows: 

2022 2021
Begining period, 1 January 83,028 11,929
Service cost 209,166 79,357
Interest cost 2,426 410
Actuarial gain / (loss) 6,444 (8,668)

Ending period, 31 December 301,064 83,028

The movements of provision for vacation pay liability during the period are as follows:

2022 2021
Begining period, 1 January 27,449 4,963
Provision expense during the period 54,457 27,449
Provision reversals during the period (-) - (4,963)

Ending period, 31 December   81,906   27,449 

NOTE 13 SHARE CAPITAL

Capital structure

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the issued and paid-in capital amounts with their book values are as follows:

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021
Shareholders Share rate (%) Share amount Share rate (%) Share amount

Erhan Topaç 0.10 240,000 0.10 96,000
Other Partners (Public Offering) 99.90 239,760,000 99.90 95,904,000

Total paid-in capital 100.00 240,000,000 100.00 96,000,000
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NOTE 13 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Capital structure (cont’d)

As of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the paid-in capital amounts after the distribution of the publicly held sha-
res belonging to the shareholders with their book values are as follows:

 31 December 2022   31 December 2021
Shareholders Share rate (%) Share amount Share rate (%) Share amount

Erhan Topaç (Group A) 0.10 240,000 0.10 96,000
Erhan Topaç (Group B) 81.42 195,417,602 81.42 78,167,041
Other Partners (Public Offering) 18.48 44,342,398 18.48 17,736,959

Total paid-in capital 100.00 240,000,000 100.00 96,000,000

In the election of the Members of the Board of Directors, each of the Group (A) shares has 15 (Fifteen) and each of the Group 
(B) shares has 1 (One) vote right.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 27 April 2022, it was decided to increase the issued capital 
of TL 96,000,000 to TL 240,000,000, TL 122,755,970 of which is covered from the profits from the sale of financial invest-
ments shares, which are classified under the retained earnings, and TL 21,244,030 from the share premiums. Based on the 
relevant decision, an application was made to the Capital Markets Board on 6 May 2022. The aforementioned application 
was approved by the Capital Markets Board on 21 June 2022 and registered in the Trade Registry on 28 June 2022.

With the decision of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 13 January 2022, the registered capital ceiling of the 
Company was increased from TL 250,000,000 to TL 500,000,000. As of 13 January 2022, an application has been made to 
the Capital Markets Board for the capital ceiling increase. The application was approved by the Capital Markets Board as of 
2 February 2022 and registered in the trade registry as of 1 April 2022.

Reacquired shares

With the buy-back program initiated on shares of Inveo Yatırım Holding A.Ş. (INVEO) with the Board of Directors Decision of 
the Company dated 4 February 2022, the maximum number of shares that can be subject to buy-back has been determi-
ned as 1,650,000 and the fund to be allocated for the buy-back has been determined as TL 50,000,000, also the General 
Directorate has been authorized to carry out buy-back procedures. Within the framework of the buy-back program carried 
out, TL 44,042,011 of funds were used for the buy-back of 1,618,979 INVEO shares. The total amount of shares, including 
the shares obtained by the Company through the free capital increase process realized at a rate of 150%, has reached to 
3,565,335.50 units. The Company has disposed of all the shares it has received under the aforementioned buy-back prog-
ram and TL 72,654,415 obtained from the sale transaction is classified in the financial statements as “Retained earnings”.

As of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the amount of reacquired shares is TL 35,957 and TL 16,000.
 

NOTE 13 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Share Premiums 

As of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the details of the premiums related to the shares are as follows:

Share premiums 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Share premiums   45,884,072   67,128,102 

  45,884,072   67,128,102 

Accumulated other comprehensive income and expenses that will not be reclassified in profit or loss

As of 31 December 2022, the cumulative actuarial income after tax effect arising from the Company’s employment termi-
nation benefits in accordance with TAS 19 is TL 7,081 (31 December 2021: TL 12,236). The mentioned amount is included in 
the “Defined benefit plans remeasurement losses” account under the equity of the Company.

Changes in other comprehensive income by periods are as follows:

2022 2021

Begining period, 1 January 12,236 5,302
Change during the period (5,155) 6,934

Ending period, 31 December 7,081 12,236

Restricted reserves appropriated from profits, retained earnings

The legal reserves consist of first and second legal reserves set aside out of profits in accordance with the Turkish Commer-
cial Code. The first legal reserve is appropriated out of the statutory profits at the rate of 5%, until the total reserve reaches 
a maximum of 20% of the Company’s share capital.

The second legal reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% of all distributions in excess of 5% of the Company’s share ca-
pital. The first and second legal reserves are not available for distribution unless they exceed 50% of the share capital, but 
may be used to absorb losses in the event that the general reserve is exhausted.
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NOTE 13 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Restricted reserves appropriated from profits, retained earnings (cont’d)

The details of restricted reserves and retained earnings as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

In accordance with Article 520 of the Law No. 6102, a reserve fund is set aside for the shares bought back, corresponding 
to the acquisition value. As of 31 December 2022, a reserve fund has been set aside for the repurchased shares amounting 
to TL 35,957 (31 December 2021: none) within the restricted reserves set aside from profit in the financial statements of the 
Company. The details of restricted reserves and retained earnings as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as 
follows:

Restricted reserves appropriated from profits 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Legal reserves 35,474,115 35,474,115
Reserves resulting from repurchases 35,957 -

35,510,072 35,474,115

Retained earnings 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Retained earnings 910,650,394 609,390,415
Other reserves 5,995,255 30,262,274

916,645,649 639,652,689

NOTE 14 REVENUE AND COST OF SALES

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the details of sales and cost of sales are as follows:

Revenue
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Sales 15,893,078 134,564,595
Dividend income 69,837,756 15,413,207
Interest income 12,926,605 16,084,883

98,657,439 166,062,685

NOTE 14 REVENUE AND COST OF SALES (Cont’d)

Cost of sales (-)
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Equity shares (13,017,188) (68,130,825)

(13,017,188) (68,130,825)
 
As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the details of sales within revenue are as follows:

Sales
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Equity shares 13,480,988 131,646,731
Private sector bills and bonds 2,412,088 2,885,307
Investment funds 2 32,557

15,893,078 134,564,595

NOTE 15 EXPENSES BY NATURE

General administration expenses
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Personnel expenses (11,059,936) (5,933,117)
Consulting expenses (4,895,556) (1,735,617)
Representation and hospitality expenses (3,018,798) -
Taxes, duties and fees expenses (665,035) (914,540)
Depreciation and amortization expenses (529,426) (424,567)
Other expenses (1,588,859) (413,239)

(21,757,610) (9,421,080)

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Stock commission expenses (533,186) (64,267)
Advertising and promotional expenses (229,365) (109,819)
Merkezi Kayıt Kuruluşu (‘MKK’) expenses (63,272) (28,743)

(825,823) (202,829)
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NOTE 16 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income from other operating activities
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Financial investments revaluation income 2,029,266,069 259,297,437
Reflection income related to data communication expenses 4,668,364 3,794,979
Reversal of provisions - 4,962
Other expenses 1,203,942 233,726

2,035,138,375 263,331,104

Expense from other operating activities
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Financial investments revaluation expenses (9,094,430) (5,112,412)
Data communication expenses (4,411,875) (1,557,971)
Other expenses (97,862) (34,367)

(13,604,167) (6,704,750)

NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INCOME / EXPENSE

Finance income
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Interest income (*) 41,787,957 -
Foreign exchange gain 610,247 52,059

42,398,204 52,059

Finance expense
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Interest expenses (55,663,805) (1,360,769)
Foreign exchange expenses (75,457) (134,365)

(55,739,262) (1,495,134)

(*) Related finance income consists of interest income from the rediscount process applied to the Company’s short and long-term debts to related 
and non-related parties (Note 7).
 

NOTE 18 PROVISIONS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company’s guarantees/pledge/mortgage (“GPM”) position as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Guarantees, pledges and mortgages given by the Company 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

A. Total Guarantees Pledges and Mortgages (“GPM”) given in the name of 
the Company - -
B. Total GPM given in the name of fully consolidated companies - -
C. Total GPM given to manage trading operations in the name of 3rd parties 111,728,500 31,978,500
D. Total - Other GPM given - -
i) Total GPM given in the name of the Parent - -
ii) Total GPM given in the name of other Group companies not included in 
B and C - -
iii) Total GPM given in the name of 3rd parties not included in C - -

Total 111,728,500 31,978,500

As of 31 December 2022 other GPMs which given by the company rate of to equity is %0. (as of 31 December 2021 %0).

NOTE 19 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX)

The Company is subject to the tax legislation and practices in force in Turkey. 

The Law on amending some Tax Laws was approved by the Turkish Grand National Assembly on 28 November 2017, and 
published in the Official Gazette dated 5 December 2017, and entered into force by increasing the corporate tax rate from 
20% to 22% for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020. With the temporary article 13 added to the KVK with the 11th article of the 
“Law on the Law on the Collection Procedure of Public Receivables and Some Laws dated 22 April 2021, and numbered 
7316”, the corporate tax rate was once again increased for a 2-year period. In accordance with the temporary article, the 
20% corporate tax rate will be applied as 25% for the corporate earnings of the corporations for the 2021 taxation period, 
and as 23% for the corporate earnings of the 2022 taxation period. Unless a new legal regulation is made, Article 32 of 
the KVK will come into effect and the corporate tax rate will fall back to the legal level of 20% from the beginning of 2023. 
Corporation income tax is declared until the evening of the twenty-fifth day of the fourth month following the end of the 
relevant accounting period and is paid in one installment until the end of the relevant month. In accordance with the tax 
legislation, 25% temporary tax is calculated and paid on quarterly earnings, and the amounts paid in this way are deducted 
from the tax calculated on the annual income.

In Turkey, the corporate tax rate is 23% for 2022 (2021: 25%). The corporate tax rate is applied to the tax base to be found 
as a result of adding the expenses that are not accepted as deductible in accordance with the tax laws to the commercial 
income of the corporations, and deducting the exceptions (association earnings exception, investment allowance excepti-
on, etc.) and deductions (such as R&D deduction) in tax laws. If the profit is not distributed, no further tax is payable (except 
withholding tax at the rate of 19.8%, which is calculated and paid over the investment incentive exemption used within the 
scope of the Income Tax Provisional Article 61).
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NOTE 19 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX) (Cont’d)

As of 1 January 2006, the new Corporate Tax Law No. 5520 (“CTL”) has brought changes to the old CTL application no. 5422 
regarding “Exemption of Real Estate and Participation Share Sales Earnings from Taxes”. With the amendment made, only 
75% of the incomes arising from the sale of immovables (real estates) and participation shares, founder’s shares, usufruct 
shares and pre-emption rights, which are in the assets of the institutions for at least two full years, are exempt from tax. 
However, the exemption amount in question must be kept in a special fund account under liability accounts for an uninter-
rupted 5 years from the period of benefiting from the exemption. The remainder is subject to corporate tax. There are many 
exceptions for corporations in the Corporate Tax Law. Therefore, the exceptional gains included in the commercial profit / 
loss figure are taken into account in the calculation of corporate tax.

There is no withholding tax on profit shares (dividends) paid to non-resident companies that generate income through a 
workplace or their permanent representative in Turkey and to companies residing in Turkey. Profit share payments made to 
individuals and institutions other than these are subject to 10% withholding within the scope of Article 94 of the Income Tax 
Law. Addition of profit to capital is not considered as profit distribution.

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the tax liability for the period profit for the accounting periods ended is as follows:

Current tax liabilities 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Corporate tax provision for the current year 3,540,547 9,211,374
Less:prepaid taxes (13,488) (8,644,987)

  
3,527,059 566,387

The tax expenses of the Company for the periods of 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 

Tax expense
1 January -

31 December 2022
1 January -

31 December 2021

Current period corporate tax expense (3,540,547) (9,211,374)
Deferred tax expense (96,248,879) (7,149,384)

(99,789,426) (16,360,758)

 

NOTE 19 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX) (Cont’d)

In Turkey, there is no confirmation formality with the tax authorities about the tax payable in Turkey. 

The authorities are authorized to review the accounting records within five years and the tax amounts may change due to 
the tax assessment if the wrong transaction is detected.

According to the Turkish tax legislation, the financial losses shown on the declaration can be deducted from the corporate 
income for the period provided that they do not exceed 5 years. However, financial losses cannot be offset from previous 
year’s profits.

In the determination of the corporate tax base, besides the exceptions mentioned above, the 8th, 9th and 10th articles of 
the Corporate Tax Law and the reductions specified in the 40th article of the Income Tax Law are also taken into account.

The reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit is given below:

1 January -
31 December 2022

1 January -
31 December 2021

Profit before tax 2,071,249,968 343,491,230
Effective tax rate 23% 25%
Tax expense calculated with tax rate (476,387,493) (85,872,808)
Non-deductible expenses and additions (175,822,025) (64,275)
Deductions and exemptions 572,103,363 69,565,075
Tax rate change effect (19,683,271) 11,250

(99,789,426) (16,360,758)

Deferred tax

The Company calculates its deferred tax assets and liabilities over the temporary differences between the recorded values 
of the assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and their tax values, using the tax rates enacted as of the balance sheet 
date.

With the temporary article 13 added to the KVK with the 11th article of the Law No. 7316 on the Law on Collection Procedure 
of Public Receivables and the Law on Amending Some Laws, the corporate tax rate has been increased once again for a 
2-year period. In accordance with the temporary article, the 20% corporate tax rate will be applied as 25% for the corporate 
earnings of the corporations for the 2021 taxation period, and as 23% for the corporate earnings of the 2022 taxation period. 

As of each balance sheet date, deferred tax assets or liabilities are reviewed. If it is probable that the financial profit to be 
obtained in the future will allow the deferred tax asset to be acquired, the deferred tax asset that was not recorded in the 
previous periods is reflected in the records.
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 19 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX) (Cont’d)

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021 accumulated temporary differences and deferred tax assets and liabilities calculated by 
using effective tax rates are summarized as below:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) bases
Adjustments related to cost and amortization on tangible assets (31,766) (36,248)
Valuation increase of financial investments (2,750,881,009) (799,137,732)
Adjustments related to leases 181,778 (89,550)
Adjustments related to provision for employee termination benefits 301,064 83,028
Provision for unused vaccation 81,906 27,449
Provision for estimated credit loses 50,483,567 (878,218)
Adjustments related to other borrowings (41,787,957) -

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) basis, net (2,741,652,417) (800,031,271)

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities), net
Adjustments related to cost and amortization on tangible assets (6,353) (7,250)
Valuation increase of financial investments (138,215,528) (39,944,886)
Adjustments related to leases 36,355 (17,910)
Adjustments related to provision for employee termination benefits 60,213 16,606
Provision for unused vaccation 16,381 6,862
Provision for estimated credit loses 10,096,713 (175,643)
Adjustments related to other borrowings (8,357,592) -

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities), net (136,369,811) (40,122,221)

The movement of deferred tax assets is as follows:

2022 2021

Begining period, 1 January (40,122,221) (32,971,103)
Period tax expense (96,248,879) (7,149,384)
Deferred tax written to the comprehensive income statement 1,289 (1,734)

Ending period, 31 December (136,369,811) (40,122,221)

NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Related parties balances

Cash and cash equivalents from related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. 775 18,426

775 18,426

Short term financial assets from related parties measured at fair 
value through profit or loss 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Funds managed by Inveo Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. 7,573,328 4,426,441
Bills issued by Gedik Yatırım Menkul değerler A.Ş. 4,448,347 2,171,657

12,021,675 6,598,098

Short term other receivables from related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. (*) 301,104,769 156,694
Inveo Alfa Uluslararası İş Geliştirme Yönetim ve Yatırım A.Ş. 17,300,000 100,000
Hop Teknoloji A.Ş. 10,310,174 8,545,677
Novel Scala Basılı Yayın ve Tanıtım Tic. A.Ş. 1,644,214 1,644,216
Finveo MN 211,625 82,445
Marbaş Menkul Değerler A.Ş. 66,274 41,223
Misyon Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (Formerly named Inveo Yatırım Bankası A.Ş.) 7,026 2,628,733

330,644,082 13,198,988

Long term other receivables from related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Hop Teknoloji A.Ş. 7,412,700 13,210,432
Bv Teknoloji İş Geliştirme Danışmanlık ve Organizasyon Hizmetleri A.Ş. 2,387,046 1,649,546

9,799,746 14,859,978
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INVEO YATIRIM HOLDİNG ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

Related parties balances (cont’d)

Advances given to related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Hakkı Gedik - 5,000,000

- 5,000,000

(*) The related amount consists of the capital advance sent to Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değer A.Ş.
 
Trade payables to related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. - 16,160

- 16,160

Short term other payables to related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Erhan Topaç 21,086,996 -

21,086,996 -

Long term other payables to related parties 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Erhan Topaç 134,556,745 -

134,556,745 -

All short-term liabilities of TL 228,045  (31 December 2021: TL 155,767) and long term liabilities of TL 200,230 (31 December 
2021: TL 337,118) arising from leasing transactions consists of liabilities to Gedik Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş.
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

Benefits provided to top management

1 January -
31 December 2022

1 January -
31 December 2021

Short term benefits provided to top management 3,808,518 4,379,601

3,808,518 4,379,601

NOTE 21 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Capital risk management

The Company manages its capital to ensure its operations will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing its 
profit through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The Company’s capital structure consists of also debts including financing bills disclosed in note 5, cash and cash equiva-
lents disclosed in note 3, short and long-term financial investments disclosed in note 4 and equity items disclosed in note 15 
such as paid-in capital, reacquired shares, share premiums, restricted reserves appropriated from profits, retained earnings 
and net profit of the period.

The management of the Company considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The 
management of the Company aims to balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share 
issues and the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The management of the Company reviews capital by leverage ratio to be consistent with other firms in the industry. The 
aforementioned ratio is calculated by dividing the net debt by the total capital. Net debt is calculated by deducting cash 
and cash equivalents from the total debt amount. The Company also monitors the effect of TFRS 16 in net debt calculation. 
Total capital is calculated as equity plus net debt as shown in the balance sheet.
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NOTE 21 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)

Credit risk management

The credit risks to which the financial assets of the Company are exposed are as follows:

 Receivables Other receivables

31 December 2022 Related party Other parties Bank deposits
Financial 

investments
Maximum credit risk as of the balance sheet date 
(A+B+C+D+E) 340,443,828 3,009,492 1,096,928 3,964,648,227
- Part of the maximum risk take under guarantee 
through collaterals - - - -
A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither 
overdue nor impaired 340,443,828 3,009,492 1,096,928 3,964,648,227
B. Net book value of financial assets that are 
renegotiated, if not that will be accepted as past due or 
impaired. - - - -
C. Carrying value of financial assets that are past due 
but not impaired - - - -
- The part under guarantee with collateral etc. - - - -
D. Net book value of impaired assets - - - -
- Past due (gross carrying amount) - - - -
- Impairment (-) - - - -
- Part of the net value taken under guarantee through 
collateral etc. - - - -
- Not past due (gross carrying value) - - - -
- Impairment (-) - - - -
- Part of the net value taken under guarantee through 
collateral etc. - - - -
E. Off-balance sheet items with credit risk - - - -
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NOTE 21 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)

 Receivables Other receivables

31 December 2021 Related party Other parties Bank deposits
Financial 

investments
Maximum credit risk as of the balance sheet 
date (A+B+C+D+E) 28,058,966 105,331 22,294 1,189,565,987
- Part of the maximum risk take under guarantee 
through collaterals - - - -
A. Net book value of financial assets that are 
neither overdue nor impaired 28,058,966 105,331 22,294 1,189,565,987
B. Net book value of financial assets that are 
renegotiated, if not that will be accepted as past 
due or impaired. - - - -
C. Carrying value of financial assets that are past 
due but not impaired - - - -
- The part under guarantee with collateral etc. - - - -
D. Net book value of impaired assets - - - -
- Past due (gross carrying amount) - - - -
- Impairment (-) - - - -
- Part of the net value taken under guarantee 
through collateral etc. - - - -
- Not past due (gross carrying value) - - - -
- Impairment (-) - - - -
- Part of the net value taken under guarantee 
through collateral etc. - - - -
E. Off-balance sheet items with credit risk - - - -

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. The occurrence of events that 
result in a decrease in fund resources, such as deterioration in the markets or a decrease in the credit score, causes the 
formation of liquidity risk. The Company management manages the liquidity risk by allocating funds and keeping sufficient 
cash and similar resources to fulfill its current and potential liabilities.

NOTE 21 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

The distribution of the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities according to their remaining maturities according to 
their undiscounted cash flows as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

31 December 2022

Maturities per contract Carrying value

Total cash 
outflows per 

contract
Less than 
3 months 3-12 months 1-5 Years

Issued debt instruments 660,428,185 737,156,524 182,389,315 554,767,209 -
Liabilities from leases 496,872 581,296 111,899 236,895 232,502
Trade payables 414,888 414,888 414,888 - -
Other short term liabilities 298,212,043 340,000,000 - 57,500,000 282,500,000

Total 959,551,988 1,078,152,708 182,916,102 612,504,104 282,732,502

31 December 2021

Maturities per contract Carrying value

Total cash 
outflows per 

contract
Less than 3 

months 3-12 months 1-5 Years

Issued debt instruments 16,834,823 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 -
Liabilities from leases 716,918 1,017,836 176,480 370,885 470,471
Trade payables 180,813 180,813 180,813 - -

Total 17,732,554 21,198,649 357,293 20,370,885 470,471
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NOTE 21 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)

Market risk management

Due to its activities, the Company is exposed to financial risks related to changes in foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates. Market risks encountered at the Company level are measured on the basis of sensitivity analysis. Compared to the 
previous year, there has been no change in the market risk the Company is exposed to in the current period, or in the met-
hod of handling the risks encountered or in the method used to measure these risks. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the 
Company has no foreign currency assets and liabilities.

Interest risk management

The Company’s borrowing at fixed and variable interest rates exposes the Company to interest rate risk. The aforementio-
ned risk is managed by the Company by making an appropriate distribution between fixed and variable rate debts through 
interest rate swap agreements. Hedging strategies are evaluated regularly to ensure that they are consistent with the inte-
rest rate expectation and defined risk. Thus, it is aimed to review the balance sheet position and to keep interest expendi-
tures under control at different interest rates by establishing an optimal hedging strategy.

The distribution of the Company’s interest rate sensitive financial assets and liabilities is as follows:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Fixed interest rate financial instruments
Financial assets Cash and cash equivalents 1,096,928 22,294

Other receivables 343,453,320 28,164,297

Financial liabilities Issued debt instruments 660,428,185 16,834,823
Liabilities from leases 496,872 716,918

Price risk management 

Most of the shares in the company’s balance sheet are traded on the BIST. According to the analysis made by the Company, 
if there is a 10% increase/decrease in the prices of the stocks in the Company’s portfolio, assuming that all other variables 
remain constant, the carrying value of the stocks in the portfolio traded on BIST, value increase funds, net profit for the 
period and equities are calculated. The effects are presented below.

NOTE 21 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVED FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management (cont’d)

Price risk management (cont’d)

31 December 2022
Balance sheet item Change rate Change type Effect to profit Effect to equity

Marketable securities
Financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

10.00% Increase 315,651,621 315,651,621
10.00% Decrease (315,651,621) (315,651,621)

31 December 2021

Balance sheet item Change rate Change type Effect to profit Effect to equity

Marketable securities

Financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

10.00% Increase 86,899,596 86,899,596
10.00% Decrease (86,899,596) (86,899,596)

NOTE 22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES AND EXPLANATIONS ON HEDGE 
ACCOUNTING)

Categories and fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 
parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best determined by an established market price, if any. The esti-
mated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Company using available market information and 
appropriate valuation methods. However, judgment is used in interpreting market data for fair value estimation purposes. 
Accordingly, the estimates presented here may not be indicative of the values that the Company could obtain in a current 
market transaction.
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NOTE 22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES AND EXPLANATIONS ON HEDGE 
ACCOUNTING) (Cont’d)

Categories and fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial instrument which it is practicable 
to estimate a fair value:

Financial assets

It is accepted that the fair values of the balances denominated in foreign currency, which are translated at year-end rates, 
approximate their book values. Cash and cash equivalents are presented at their fair values. Trade receivables and recei-
vables from related parties are recorded with their discounted values and it is assumed that their fair values approximate 
their book values.

Market prices are taken as a basis in determining the fair values of financial assets.

Financial liabilities

Trade payables, payables to related parties, financial liabilities and other monetary liabilities are estimated to be approxi-
mated to their fair values with their discounted book values, and the fair values of the balances based on foreign currency 
translated with year-end rates are considered to approximate their book values. Due to the fact that most of the bank loans 
used by the Company are variable-rate and the fixed-rate bank loans are not long-term, it is accepted that the carrying 
values of the bank loans shown with the amortized cost method approach their fair values.

The fair values and book values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
 Fair value Book value Fair value Book value

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,096,928 1,096,928 22,294 22,294
Financial assets 3,964,648,227 3,964,648,227 1,189,565,987 1,189,565,987
Other receivables 343,453,320 343,453,320 28,164,297 28,164,297

Financial liabilities
Short term borrowings 660,428,185 660,428,185 16,834,823 16,834,823
Short term liabilities from leases 296,642 296,642 309,878 309,878
Long term liabilities from leases 200,230 200,230 407,040 407,040
Trade payables 414,888 414,888 180,813 180,813
Other payables 298,212,043 298,212,043 - -

 

NOTE 22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES AND EXPLANATIONS ON HEDGE 
ACCOUNTING) (Cont’d)

Categories and fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d)

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is determined as follows:

-	 Level 1: Financial assets and liabilities are valued at stock market prices traded on the active market for identical assets 
and liabilities.

-	 Level 2: Financial assets and liabilities are valued at the inputs used to find the price of the related asset or liability that 
can be observed in the market directly or indirectly other than the stock market price specified in the first level.

-	 Level 3: Financial assets and liabilities are valued from inputs that are not based on marketable data used to find the fair 
value of the asset or liability.

The level classifications of financial assets and liabilities shown at their fair values are as follows:

31 December 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Marketable securities traded at BİST 3,156,516,214 - -
Private sector bills and bonds 68,573,072 - -
Investment funds 7,573,328 - -

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Other marketable securities - 721,166,872 10,818,741

31 December 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Marketable securities traded at BİST 868,994,602 - -
Private sector bills and bonds 2,171,657 - -
Investment funds 4,426,441 - -

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Other marketable securities - 41,987,998 271,985,289
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NOTE 23  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share disclosed in the accompanying statement of income are determined by net income divided by the we-
ighted average number of shares circulating during the year.

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by distributing “Bonus Shares” to shareholders from retained earnings. 
In computing earnings per share, such “bonus share” distributions are assessed as issued shares. Accordingly, the retrospe-
ctive effect for those share distributions is taken into consideration in determining the weighted-average number of shares 
outstanding used in this computation.

In case of preference shares, profit per share is calculated by deducting the after-tax amounts related to the preferred sha-
res from the profit or loss of the Company for the period.

For the period of 31 December 2022 and 2021, earning per share of the Company’s shares are as follows:

1 January -
31 December 2022

1 January -
31 December 2021

Net profit from continuing operations for the period 1,971,460,542 327,130,472
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (*) 240,000,000 240,000,000

Profit per share 8.2144 1.3630

Total comprehensive income 1,971,455,387 327,137,406
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (*) 240,000,000 240,000,000

Comprehensive income per share 8.2144 1.3631

(*) Due to TAS 33 requirements regarding capital increase through bonus issue, earnings per share for the interim accounting period of 1 January - 31 
December 2021 has been recalculated. 

NOTE 24 OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY AFFECT THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SIGNIFICANTLY. OR MUST BE 
EXPLAINED FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO BE CLEAR, INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE

24.1 Independent auditor / Fees for services received from an independent audit firm

In the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 2022, the amount paid by the Company for the independent audit 
service received from the independent audit firm is TL 125,000 + VAT (1 January 2021 - 31 December 2021: TL 32,000 + VAT).

NOTE 25 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

At the Company’s Board of Directors dated 9 January 2023, it was decided to establish a corporate lease service company 
with a capital of TL 20,000,000, 1/4 of the nominal value of the shares committed in cash will be paid before registration 
and the remaining part of the shares committed in cash will be paid within 24 months after the registration. Based on the 
aforementioned decision, promised amount of TL 5,000,000 was paid and Inveo Araç Kiralama Hizmetleri A.Ş. was registe-
red in the Trade Registry as of 12 January 2023.

The Company’s domestic variable interest financing bills with a nominal value of TL 30,000,000, with a maturity of 364 days 
and a single coupon payment, dated 25 January 2023, were sold to qualified investors within a total issuance ceiling of TL 
500,000,000.

Pursuant to the Board of Directors decision dated 3 February 2023, all shares of Aposto Teknoloji ve Medya A.Ş., of which 
the Company owns 4.59% of the capital was decided to transfer to Inveo Ventures Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 
which of 85.00% owned by the Company with a price of TL 1,888,154.
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